cisco

FlexPod for Hybrid Cloud using Cisco Intersight Service and Cloud Volumes ONTAP Replication

Design and Deployment Guide for extending FlexPod to the Hybrid Cloud for Disaster Recover and Data Replication powered by Automation and Observability with Cisco Intersight

Published February 2022



In partnership with:



About the Cisco Validated Design Program

The Cisco Validated Design (CVD) program consists of systems and solutions designed, tested, and documented to facilitate faster, more reliable, and more predictable customer deployments. For more information, go to:

http://www.cisco.com/go/designzone.

ALL DESIGNS, SPECIFICATIONS, STATEMENTS, INFORMATION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS (COL-LECTIVELY, "DESIGNS") IN THIS MANUAL ARE PRESENTED "AS IS," WITH ALL FAULTS. CISCO AND ITS SUPPLIERS DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE AND NONINFRINGEMENT OR ARIS-ING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE. IN NO EVENT SHALL CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS BE LIABLE FOR ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAM-AGES, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OR DAMAGE TO DATA ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THE DESIGNS, EVEN IF CISCO OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES.

THE DESIGNS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE. USERS ARE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE FOR THEIR APPLICATION OF THE DESIGNS. THE DESIGNS DO NOT CONSTITUTE THE TECHNICAL OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL ADVICE OF CISCO, ITS SUPPLIERS OR PARTNERS. USERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TECHNICAL ADVISORS BEFORE IMPLEMENTING THE DESIGNS. RESULTS MAY VARY DEPENDING ON FACTORS NOT TESTED BY CISCO.

CCDE, CCENT, Cisco Eos, Cisco Lumin, Cisco Nexus, Cisco StadiumVision, Cisco TelePresence, Cisco WebEx, the Cisco logo, DCE, and Welcome to the Human Network are trademarks; Changing the Way We Work, Live, Play, and Learn and Cisco Store are service marks; and Access Registrar, Aironet, AsyncOS, Bringing the Meeting To You, Catalyst, CCDA, CCDP, CCIE, CCIP, CCNA, CCNP, CCSP, CCVP, Cisco, the Cisco Certified Internetwork Expert logo, Cisco IOS, Cisco Press, Cisco Systems, Cisco Systems Capital, the Cisco Systems logo, Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS), Cisco UCS B-Series Blade Servers, Cisco UCS C-Series Rack Servers, Cisco UCS S-Series Storage Servers, Cisco UCS Manager, Cisco UCS Management Software, Cisco Unified Fabric, Cisco Application Centric Infrastructure, Cisco Nexus 9000 Series, Cisco Nexus 7000 Series. Cisco Prime Data Center Network Manager, Cisco NX-OS Software, Cisco MDS Series, Cisco Unity, Collaboration Without Limitation, EtherFast, EtherSwitch, Event Center, Fast Step, Follow Me Browsing, FormShare, GigaDrive, HomeLink, Internet Quotient, IOS, iPhone, iQuick Study, LightStream, Linksys, MediaTone, MeetingPlace, MeetingPlace Chime Sound, MGX, Networkers, Networking Academy, Network Registrar, PCNow, PIX, PowerPanels, ProConnect, ScriptShare, SenderBase, SMARTnet, Spectrum Expert, StackWise, The Fastest Way to Increase Your Internet Quotient, TransPath, WebEx, and the WebEx logo are registered trademarks of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the United States and certain other countries. (LDW_P2)

All other trademarks mentioned in this document or website are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (0809R)

© 2022 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.

Contents

Executive Summary	4
Solution Overview	5
Requirements and Specification	15
Design and Architecture	21
Solution Deployment	32
Solution Validation - Test Methodology and Success Criteria	222
Conclusion	231
Appendix	232
References	251
About the Authors	254
Feedback	256

Executive Summary

Cisco[®] Validated Designs include systems and solutions that are designed, tested, and documented to facilitate and improve customer deployments. These designs incorporate a wide range of technologies and products into a portfolio of solutions that have been developed to address the business needs of customers. Cisco and NetApp have partnered to deliver this document, which serves as a specific step-by-step guide for implementing this solution.

This document provides reference architecture and deployment details for disaster recovery of onpremises FlexPod Datacenter to NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployed on Amazon AWS using Cisco Intersight services.

The solution provides a comprehensive disaster recovery service to streamline data accessibility in the event of an on-premises outage to Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployed in Amazon AWS. This solution enables a secure transport and data protection, enables automated failover and failback to any destination across hybrid cloud in a cost-effective way powered by automation and observability using Cisco Intersight.

Solution Overview

Cisco Intersight is a cloud operations platform that delivers intelligent visualization, optimization, and orchestration for applications and infrastructure across public cloud and on-premises environments. Cisco Intersight provides an essential control point for customers to get more value from hybrid IT investments by simplifying operations across on-prem and their public clouds, continuously optimizing their multi cloud environments and accelerating service delivery to address business needs.

With Cisco Intersight services, you can manage FlexPod Datacenter on-premises as well as easily orchestrate and automate data replication and disaster recovery solution for FlexPod Storage to Cloud Volumes ONTAP across hybrid cloud.

Introduction

Protecting data and disaster recovery are important goals for businesses continuity. Disaster recovery allows organizations to failover the business operations to a secondary location and later recover and failback to the primary site efficiently and reliably. Multiple concerns like natural disaster, network failures, software vulnerabilities, human error etc. make developing a disaster recovery strategy the top IT priority for every business today. Disaster recovery requires all the workload running on the primary site be reproduced fully on the DR site. It also requires having an up-to-date copy of all enterprise data, including database, file services, NFS and iSCSI storage, and so on. As data in the production environment will be constantly updated, these data changes must be transferred to the DR site on a regular basis.

Deploying disaster recovery environments is challenging for most organizations due to the requirement for infrastructure and site independence. The amount of resources needed, costs of setting up, testing, and maintaining a secondary data center are very high almost the same cost as the entire production environment, especially considering organizations rarely use it. It is challenging to keep a minimal data footprint with adequate protection, continuously synchronizing the data and establishing seamless failover and failback. After building out all DR site, the challenge then becomes to replicate data from the production environment, and to keep it in synchronized going forward.

NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP delivers a solution for enterprise data management where data can be efficiently replicated from FlexPod Datacenter to Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployed on a public cloud like AWS. By leveraging cost-effective and secure public cloud resources, Cloud Volumes ONTAP enhances cloud-based DR with highly efficient data replication, built-in storage efficiencies, and simple DR testing, managed with unified control, drag-and-drop simplicity, providing cost-effective, bullet-proof protection against any kind of error, failure, or disaster. Cloud Volumes ONTAP provides SnapMirror as a solution for block-level data replication that keeps the destination up to date through incremental updates. Users can specify a synchronization schedule, for example, of every minute or every hour, at which time data changes from the source will be transferred over.

Cisco Intersight provides powerful services and easy-to-use GUI interface for management of infrastructure and workloads across hybrid cloud. We will examine in detail how we can orchestrate and automate the data replication and disaster recovery solution between FlexPod Datacenter and Cloud Volumes ONTAP using Cisco Intersight services like Intersight Cloud orchestrator and Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform.





There are multiple advantages of this solution, such as:

Orchestration and Automation

Cisco Intersight simplifies the day-to-day operations of the industry trusted FlexPod hybrid cloud infrastructure by providing consistent orchestration frameworks that are delivered via automation.

Customized Protection

Cloud Volumes ONTAP provides block-level data replication from ONTAP to the cloud that keeps the destination up to data through incremental updates. Users can specify a synchronization schedule such as every minute or every hour, based on which any changes at the source will be transferred over.

Seamless Failover and Failback

When a disaster occurs, storage administrators can quickly set the failover to the cloud volumes. When the primary site is recovered, the new data created in the DR environment is synchronized back to the source volumes enabling the secondary data replication to be re-established.

• Efficiency

The storage space and costs for the secondary cloud copy are optimized through the usage of data compression, thin provisioning, and deduplication. The data is transferred on the block-level in their compressed and deduplicated form, improving the speed of the transfers. Data is

also automatically tiered to low-cost object storage and only brought back to high-performance storage when accesses, such as in a DR scenario. This significantly reduces ongoing storage costs.

• Increase IT Productivity

Using Intersight as the single enterprise-grade, secure platform for infrastructure and application lifecycle management, simplify configuration management and automate of manual tasks at scale for the solution.

Solution Components

This section describes the components used in the solution outlined in this study.

FlexPod Datacenter

FlexPod is a defined set of hardware and software that serves as an integrated foundation for both virtualized and non-virtualized solutions. VMware vSphere[®] built on FlexPod includes NetApp AFF storage, Cisco Nexus[®] networking, Cisco MDS storage networking, the Cisco Unified Computing System (Cisco UCS[®]), and VMware vSphere software in a single package. The design is flexible enough that the networking, computing, and storage can fit in one data center rack or be deployed according to a customer's data center design. Port density enables the networking components to accommodate multiple configurations of this kind.

One benefit of the FlexPod architecture is the ability to customize or "flex" the environment to suit a customer's requirements. A FlexPod can easily be scaled as requirements and demand change. The unit can be scaled both up (adding resources to a FlexPod unit) and out (adding more FlexPod units). The reference architecture detailed in this document highlights the resiliency, cost benefit, and ease of deployment of a Fibre Channel and IP-based storage solution. A storage system capable of serving multiple protocols across a single interface allows for customer choice and investment protection because it truly is a wire-once architecture.

FlexPod Components

FlexPod architecture includes the following core components:

- Cisco UCS
- Cisco Nexus® Family switches
- Cisco MDS Family switches
- NetApp AFF/FAS storage systems



Figure 2. FlexPod Component Families

These components are connected and configured according to the best practices of both Cisco and NetApp to provide an ideal platform for running a variety of enterprise workloads with confidence. FlexPod can scale up for greater performance and capacity (adding compute, network, or storage resources individually as needed), or it can scale out for environments that require multiple consistent deployments (such as rolling out of additional FlexPod stacks). The reference architecture covered in this document leverages Cisco Nexus 9000 for the network switching element and pulls in the Cisco MDS 9000 for the SAN switching component.

One of the key benefits of FlexPod is its ability to maintain consistency during scale. Each of the component families shown (Cisco UCS, Cisco Nexus, and NetApp AFF) offers platform and resource options to scale the infrastructure up or down, while supporting the same features and functionality that are required under the configuration and connectivity best practices of FlexPod.

Why FlexPod?

The following are some of the benefits of FlexPod:

- Consistent Performance and Scalability
 - Consistent sub-millisecond latency with 100% flash storage
 - · Consolidate 100's of enterprise-class applications in a single rack
 - Scales easily, without disruption

- Continuous growth through multiple FlexPod CI deployments
- Operational Simplicity
 - · Fully tested, validated, and documented for rapid deployment
 - Reduced management complexity
 - Auto-aligned 512B architecture removes storage alignment issues
 - No storage tuning or tiers necessary
- Lowest TCO
 - Dramatic savings in power, cooling, and space with 100 percent Flash
 - Industry leading data reduction
- Enterprise-Grade Resiliency
 - · Highly available architecture with no single point of failure
 - Nondisruptive operations with no downtime
 - Upgrade and expand without downtime or performance loss
 - Native data protection: snapshots and replication
 - Suitable for even large resource-intensive workloads such as real-time analytics or heavy transactional databases

Cisco Intersight

Cisco Intersight is a SaaS platform which delivers intelligent automation, observability and optimization for traditional and cloud-native applications and infrastructure. The platform helps drive change with IT teams and delivers an operating model designed for hybrid cloud.

Cisco Intersight provides the following:

• Faster Delivery

Delivered "as a Service", from the cloud or in the customers data center, with frequent updates and continued innovation, due to an agile-based software development model. This way, customer can just focus on accelerating delivery for line-of-business.

Simplified operations

Simplify operations by using a single secure SaaS-delivered tool, with common inventory, authentication and APIs to work across full stack and all locations, eliminating silos across teams. From managing physical servers and hypervisors on-prem, to VMs, K8s, serverless, automation, optimization, and cost control across both on-prem and public clouds.

Continuous optimization

Continuously optimize environment using intelligence provided by Intersight across every layer, as well as Cisco TAC. That intelligence is converted into recommended and automatable actions so you can adapt real-time to every change: from moving workloads and monitoring health of

physical servers, to auto sizing K8s clusters, to cost reduction recommendations the public clouds you work with.

Cisco Intersight Management

There are two modes of management operations possible with Cisco Intersight. UCSM Managed Mode (UMM) and Intersight Managed Mode (IMM). You can select the native UCSM Managed Mode (UMM) or Intersight Managed Mode (IMM) for the Fabric attached Cisco UCS Systems during initial setup of the Fabric Interconnects.

UCSM Managed Mode allow to connect existing Cisco UCS infrastructure managed with Cisco UCS Manager (UCSM) to Cisco Intersight. In addition, Intersight integrates with third-party storage, cloud services, virtualization, and container platforms.

Intersight Managed Mode (IMM) is a new architecture that manages the Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnected systems through a Redfish-based standard model. Intersight Managed Mode unifies the capabilities of the Cisco UCS Systems and the cloud-based flexibility of Intersight, thus unifying the management experience for the standalone and Fabric Interconnect attached systems. Intersight Management Model standardizes policy and operation management for UCS-FI-6454, UCS-FI-64108, and Cisco UCS M5, M6, and X-Series servers.

Cisco Intersight Managed Mode (IMM) transition tool helps bootstrap new IMM deployments by replicating the configuration attributes of the existing Cisco UCS Mana infrastructure and by converting the existing Service Profile Templates to IMM Server Profile Templates to accelerate deployment of new servers in IMM. Download image and user guides are available at: <u>https://ucstools.cloudapps.cisco.com/</u>

Cisco Intersight Connected Virtual Appliance and Private Virtual Appliance

In addition to the SaaS deployment model running on Intersight.com, on-premises options can be purchased separately. The Cisco Intersight Connected Virtual Appliance and Cisco Intersight Private Virtual Appliance are available for organizations that have additional data locality or security requirements for managing systems. The Cisco Intersight Connected Virtual Appliance delivers the management features of the Cisco Intersight platform in an easy-to-deploy VMware Open Virtualization Appliance (OVA) or Microsoft Hyper-V Server virtual machine that allows you to control the system details that leave your premises. The Cisco Intersight Private Virtual Appliance is provided in a form factor specifically designed for users who operate in disconnected (air gap) environments. The Private Virtual Appliance requires no connection to public networks or back to Cisco to operate. At this time, Cisco Intersight managed mode configuration is available only through the Cisco Intersight SaaS platform and Connected Virtual Appliance.

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator is a powerful automation tool that enables IT operations teams not just to move at the speed of the business and standardize while reducing risk across all domains but also to provide a consistent cloud-like experience for users.

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator simplifies orchestration and automation for infrastructure and workloads across hybrid cloud by providing an easy-to-use workflow designer. Based on a library of curated, multi-domain tasks (custom or provided by Cisco), it enables users to create workflows, quickly and easily, without being coding experts! This enables quick and easy automation and de-ployment of any infrastructure resource, from servers, to VMs and the network, taking away some of the complexity of operating your hybrid IT environment.

The ICO workflow designer provides:

- Low/no-code workflow creation with a modern, drag-and-drop user experience with control flow support. The workflow designer includes policy-based, built-in tasks for Cisco UCS, virtualization, and other Cisco devices. A Software Development Kit (SDK) enables Cisco technology partners to build their own ICO tasks to develop custom solutions.
- Rollback capabilities to selectively undo a workflow's tasks in the event of failure, or to deprovision infrastructure, which when done manually can often take longer and be more error prone than straight provisioning.
- Extensibility with a task designer that expands the functionality of currently supported targets or can be used to create new ones. ICO currently supports Web API with more integration options to come.

With Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator you can truly evolve your automation strategy to provide consistent experience across on-premises resources and public clouds.

The following are some key benefits:

- Bring your public cloud and on-premises resources together with a solution that extends orchestration across any infrastructure and workload and integrates with the tools of your choice
- Save time and streamline automation with a user-friendly GUI-based designer that makes it easy to create and execute complex workflows without being a coding expert
- Standardize your deployment process with self-service delivery and boost productivity with a selection of validated blueprints
- Reduce risks by enforcing policy using rules for what can be orchestrated and who can access workflows and tasks

Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform

Infrastructure as Code (IaC) is the method of defining and provisioning infrastructure using definition files containing code. IaC adoption in public clouds allow application agility in the following ways:

- Address the problem of environment drift in the release pipeline IaC manages infrastructure using source code version in Git as the single source of truth.
- CICD toolchains automatically test, deploy, and track pull requests and configuration changes to your infrastructure.
- Regardless of an environment's starting state, deployments always use the same configuration.

• Enables users to transition from mutable workloads (take existing infrastructure and try and upgrade in place) to immutable workloads (take existing infrastructure, create new infrastructure, and destroy the existing device).

Infrastructure as Code (IaC) enables IT and development teams to automate and scale the provisioning and management of IT resources aligned with application source-code releases in a descriptive manner. HashiCorp Terraform is the industry-leading IaC platform. Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform (IST) addresses the challenge of securely connecting and configuring on-premises environments to work with Terraform Cloud Business. Rather than spending time on firewall configurations or manually deploying and maintaining local runtime environments for Terraform Cloud Agents, IST removes the discomfort of DIY approaches by making the integration quick and easy.

Leveraging Intersight Assist users can integrate Terraform Cloud Business with Cisco Intersight, enabling secure communication between on-premises data centers and edge locations with the IaC platform. This means users can spend less time managing the end-to-end lifecycle of Terraform Cloud Agents, benefiting from native integration directly within Intersight, including upgrades and the ability to scale as demand grows. In addition, with common Single Sign-On (SSO), users can cross launch directly from Intersight into Terraform Cloud.

With Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform, seamlessly and securely extend modern, public cloud automation tools and best-practices to any on-premises environments, delivering consistent agility and flexibility for your DevOps teams while reducing operational overhead for ITOps.

Key benefits include:

- Reduce operational complexity and increase productivity using Infrastructure as Code to provision and manage your hybrid cloud environment
- Give your DevOps teams what they need with a ready-to-be-consumed on-premises infrastructure, securely integrated with their IaC tools
- Reduce risk with enterprise-grade capabilities to manage infrastructure in private environments, such as Single Sign-on (SSO) and audit logging
- Automate across all your hybrid cloud resources without having to manage more tools to integrate with Terraform Cloud Business
- Benefit from a hybrid cloud partnership between industry-leaders with a rich catalog of Terraform providers and a single point of contact for support and enablement
- Simplify usability with quality-of-life features such as common APIs and cross-launching through Cisco Intersight.

NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP

NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP is a software-defined storage offering that delivers advanced data management for file and block workloads. With Cloud Volumes ONTAP, you can optimize your cloud storage costs and increase application performance while enhancing data protection, security, and compliance.

Key benefits include:

- Leverage built-in data deduplication, data compression, thin provisioning, and cloning to minimize storage costs.
- Ensure enterprise reliability and continuous operations in case of failures in your cloud environment.
- Cloud Volumes ONTAP leverages SnapMirror, NetApp's industry-leading replication technology, to replicate on-premises data to the cloud so it's easy to have secondary copies available for multiple use cases.
- Cloud Volumes ONTAP also integrates with Cloud Backup service to deliver backup and restore capabilities for protection, and long-term archive of your cloud data.
- Switch between high and low-performance storage pools on-demand without taking applications offline.
- Ensure consistency of NetApp Snapshot copies using NetApp SnapCenter.
- Cloud Volumes ONTAP supports data encryption and provides protection against viruses and ransomware.
- Integration with Cloud Data Sense helps you understand data context and identify sensitive data.

Cloud Central

Cloud Central provides a centralized location to access and manage NetApp cloud data services. These services enable you to run critical applications in the cloud, create automated DR sites, back up your SaaS data, and effectively migrate and control data across multiple clouds. For more information, refer to <u>Cloud Central</u>.

Cloud Manager

Cloud Manager is an enterprise-class, SaaS-based management platform that enables IT experts and cloud architects to centrally manage their hybrid multi-cloud infrastructure using NetApp's cloud solutions. It provides a centralized system for viewing and managing your on-premises and cloud storage, supporting hybrid, multiple cloud providers and accounts. To find more info, refer to <u>Cloud Manager</u>.

Connector

Connector is an instance which enables Cloud Manager to manage resources and process within public cloud environment. A Connector is required to use many features which Cloud manager provides. A Connector can be deployed in the cloud or on-premises network.

Connector is supported in the following locations:

- Amazon Web Services
- Microsoft Azure
- Google Cloud

• On your premises

When you create your first Cloud Volumes ONTAP working environment, Cloud Manager will prompt you to create a Connector if you don't have one yet. The user who creates a Connector from Cloud Manager needs specific permissions to deploy the instance in your cloud provider of choice. Cloud Manager will remind you of the permissions requirements when you create a Connector.

The Connector needs specific cloud provider permissions to perform operations on your behalf. For example, to deploy and manage Cloud Volumes ONTAP. When you create a Connector directly from Cloud Manager, Cloud Manager creates the Connector with the permissions that it needs. To learn more about Connectors, refer to <u>Connectors</u>.

Solution Objectives

It is essential for businesses to have a feasible, robust, and sustainable Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery (BCDR) plan in case of an outage. While there are several options that businesses can evaluate and explore, it all comes down to the cost of implementation, the Recovery Point Objective and the Recovery Time Objective that the plan can deliver.

For most businesses, the fundamental requirement in a BCDR plan is to have a failover site to sustain their operations while they take the necessary steps to recover the primary production environment. In such situations, the public cloud can serve as a DR environment which provides the required fault tolerance, on-demand resource provisioning and elasticity leading to a consumption-based billing that helps in lowering the overall cost of the BCDR implementation.

The implementation of the BCDR plan in a public cloud is not a straightforward approach especially when dealing with a high volume of mission critical data. The need for a secure, scalable, reliable, cost-optimized, and unified data management service that integrates seamlessly with the on-premises environment is an absolute requirement.

NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP when clubbed with an on-premises FlexPod running ONTAP, provides a secure data pathway for the mission critical data to be replicated to the cloud at a desired cadence driven by the RPO objectives and when there is a need to flip operations to the cloud in case of a disaster the replicated data in the cloud can be promoted to production at the click of a button. The **entire data replication relationship between FlexPod and the Cloud Volumes ONTAP instance in the public cloud can be managed from the single control plane of Cisco Intersight.**

Audience

The audience for this document includes, but is not limited to; sales engineers, field consultants, professional services, IT managers, partner engineers, Site Reliability Engineers, Cloud Architects, Cloud Engineers and customers who want to take advantage of an infrastructure built to deliver IT efficiency and enable IT innovation.

Requirements and Specification

Licensing

Cisco Intersight Licensing

Cisco Intersight uses a subscription-based license with multiple tiers. Each Cisco endpoint (Cisco UCS server, Cisco HyperFlex system, or Cisco UCS Director software) automatically includes a Cisco Intersight Base when you access the Cisco Intersight portal and claim a device.

Cisco Intersight license tiers

The following are the Cisco Intersight license tiers:

- Cisco Intersight Essentials–Essentials includes ALL functionality of Base with the additional features including Cisco UCS Central and Cisco IMC Supervisor entitlement, policy-based configuration with Server Profiles, firmware management, and evaluation of compatibility with the Hardware Compatibility List (HCL).
- Cisco Intersight Advantage–Advantage offers all features and functionality of the Base and Essentials tiers.
- Cisco Intersight Premier–In addition to the functionality provided in the Advantage tier, Intersight Premier includes full subscription entitlement for Cisco UCS Director at no additional cost.

More information about Intersight Licensing and features supported in each licensing can be found at: <u>https://intersight.com/help/saas/getting_started/licensing_requirements#intersight_licensing</u>

View current Cisco Intersight Infrastructure Service licensing.

Note: In our solution, we will use Intersight Cloud Orchestrator and Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform. These features are available for users with the Intersight Premier license so this licensing tier must be enabled.

Procedure 1. Activate a Cisco Intersight License

Follow these steps to register your license in Cisco Intersight:

- **Step 1.** Log into Intersight with Account Administrator privileges.
- **Step 2.** From Settings icon > Settings > License, click Register.
- Step 3. In the Set Token page, enter the Product Instance Registration Token. Click Cisco Smart Software Manager to obtain your Intersight Registration token. If you do not have a Smart Account, create one from link: <u>https://software.cisco.com/#SmartLicensing-Alerts</u>. You can purchase the subscription and select the required Cisco UCS Server volume tier for the selected subscription duration from the same Smart Account. Click Next.
- Step 4. In the Set Product page, select the required default license tier for Intersight and/or Workload Optimizer. Enabling Move all Servers To Default Tier, tags and moves all the existing servers to the default tier.

The available license tiers are:

- Intersight–Choose Essentials, Advantage, or Premier. For more information on the Intersight licensing tiers, see the Intersight Licensing section.
- Workload Optimizer–Toggle ON Activate Workload Optimizer and click Essentials, Advantage, or Premier. For more information on the Workload Optimizer licensing tiers, see the Workload Optimizer Licensing section.

License Status

The Cisco Intersight account license state could be one of the following depending on your subscription status:

- Not Used-This status is displayed when the server count in a license tier is 0.
- In Compliance–The account licensing state is in compliance and all the supported features are available to the users.
- Out of Compliance–The account license status displays Out of Compliance in the following cases:
 - When not enough valid licenses are available because the subscription has reached the end of term, or you have more servers in the license tier than available licenses.
 - $\,\circ\,$ When the grace period of 90 days is active or expired
 - The servers are added to the account but not registered in the Smart Licensing account

When an account license status moves to Out of Compliance, a grace period of 90 days is triggered. In this period, you can continue to use the premium features, but the account license status remains Out of Compliance. To get back in compliance, you must purchase additional licenses or remove a server from the existing tier or move it to a lower tier. If you do not renew your license within the 90 days, the license state moves to Grace Expired and the license is downgraded to Base-level functionality and the premium features become unavailable. You must register a valid license again to resume using the features.

For example, if an account has a valid license for 20 servers and if you claim another server into the account, the status moves to Out of Compliance and the grace period is initiated. However, you can continue to access the features as before. To restore the In Compliance status, you can move one of the servers to a lower tier (Base/ Essentials/Advantage, as required) from the Actions Menu in the Server Details page, or from the Server /Bulk Actions in the Table view.

Note: After you purchase and activate additional licenses from the Cisco Smart Licensing portal, click the Refresh icon in the Subscription pane to sync the licensing status with that in the portal.

Cloud Volumes ONTAP Licensing

A few licensing options are available for Cloud Volumes ONTAP. Each of these licensing options enables you to select a configuration that meets your needs.

Table 1 lists the licensing options for Cloud Volumes ONTAP.

Charging method	Highlights	Support	Max system capacity	
Capacity-based license: Essentials package	Pay per TiB of capacity for one or more Cloud Volumes ONTAP systems Provides a la carte licensing for Cloud Volumes ONTAP Available by bringing your own license (BYOL) purchased from NetApp	Included	2 PiB	
Capacity-based license: Professional package	Pay per TiB of capacity for one or more Cloud Volumes ONTAP systems Provides licensing for any Cloud Volumes ONTAP configuration Includes volume backups using Cloud Backup (for volumes charged against this license) Available through an AWS Marketplace annual contract or by purchasing a license from NetApp (BYOL)	Included	2 PiB	
Keystone Flex Subscription	Pay-as-you-grow by TiB through a NetApp subscription Charging is based on the size of committed capacity The committed capacity is shared between the Cloud Volumes ONTAP systems deployed with the subscription Available for HA pairs only	Included	2 PiB	
PAYGO by node	Pay-as-you-go by the hour through a marketplace subscription from your cloud provider Charging is per Cloud Volumes	Included, but you must <u>activate</u> <u>support</u> .	Explore: 2 TiB Standard: 10 TiB Premium: 368 TiB	

Table 1. Licensing options

Charging method	Highlights	Support	Max system capacity
	ONTAP node Available in three licensing options: Explore, Standard, and Premium		
Node-based license	The previous generation BYOL for Cloud Volumes ONTAP A node-based license is available for license renewals only	Included	368 TiB per license

Freemium offering

A new offering from NetApp that provides all Cloud Volumes ONTAP features free of charge from NetApp (cloud provider charges still apply):

- No license or contract is needed.
- Support is not included.
- You're limited to 500 GiB of provisioned capacity per Cloud Volumes ONTAP system.
- You can use up to 10 Cloud Volumes ONTAP systems with the Freemium offering per NetApp account.
- If the provisioned capacity for a Cloud Volumes ONTAP system exceeds 500 GiB, Cloud Manager converts the system to the Essentials package (which is a capacity-based license) and charging starts.

Any other systems that have less than 500 GiB of provisioned capacity stay on the Freemium offering (if they were deployed using the Freemium offering).

To know more about how to obtain and apply license, refer to licensing overview.

Hardware and Software Revisions

This hybrid cloud solution can be extended to any FlexPod Datacenter environment that is running supported versions of software, firmware and hardware as defined in the NetApp Interoperability Matrix Tool and Cisco UCS Hardware Compatibility List.

The FlexPod solution used as the baseline platform in the on-premises environment has been deployed as per the guidelines and specifications described in the <u>FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS</u> <u>4.2(1) in UCS Managed Mode, VMware vSphere 7.0 U2, and NetApp ONTAP 9.9 Design Guide</u>.

Note: The workload running in the FlexPod Datacenter can be virtualized, non-virtualized and containerized applications.

Click the following links for more information:

- <u>NetApp Interoperability Matrix Tool</u>
- <u>Cisco UCS Hardware and Software Interoperability Tool</u>
- VMware Compatibility Guide

Table 2. FlexPod Hardware and Software Revisions

Component	Product	Version
Compute	Cisco UCS B200 M5 Blades	4.2(1f)
	Cisco UCS B200 M6 Servers	4.2(1f)
	Cisco UCS X210C	5.0(1b)
	Cisco UCS Fabric Interconnects 6454	4.2(1f)
Network	Cisco Nexus 93180YC-FX NX-OS	9.3(8)
	Cisco MDS 9132T	8.4(2c)
Storage	NetApp AFF A400	9.9.1P2
	NetApp ONTAP Tools for VMware	9.8
	NetApp NFS Plugin for VMware VAAI	2.0-15
	NetApp Active IQ Unified Manage	9.9P1
	NetApp SnapCenter Plugin for VMware	4.5
Software	VMware ESXi nenic Ethernet Driver	1.0.35.0
	VMware ESXi nfnic FC Driver	5.0.0.12
	vSphere ESXi	7.0(U2)
	VMware vCenter Appliance	7.0 U2b
	Cisco Intersight Assist Virtual Appliance	1.0.9-342

The execution of Terraform configurations happens on the Terraform Cloud for Business account. Terraform configuration uses the Terraform provider for NetApp Cloud Manager.

Table 3. Vendors, products, and versions

Vendor	Product	Version

Vendor	Product	Version
NetApp	netapp-cloudmanager	21.12.0
HashiCorp	Terraform	1.0.0

Table 4. Cloud Manager and Cloud Volumes ONTAP versions

Vendor	Product	Version
NetApp	Cloud Volumes ONTAP	9.10.1RC1
	Cloud Manager	3.9.13 Build:1
	Mediator	9-10-1rc1-mediator

Design and Architecture

This section describes the design and architecture of the solution.

Solution Architecture

Figure 3 illustrates the architecture of this solution.



Figure 3. Solution architecture

<u>Figure 3</u> represents the solution architecture comprised of the FlexPod Datacenter on-premises environment, NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP (CVO) running on Amazon Web Services, and the Cisco Intersight and NetApp Cloud Manager SaaS control planes.

The control planes and data planes are clearly indicated between the endpoints. The Data Plane runs between the ONTAP instance running on All Flash FAS in the FlexPod and the NetApp CVO instance in AWS by leveraging a secure site-to-site VPN connection.

The replication of the workload data from FlexPod Datacenter to NetApp CVO is handled by NetApp SnapMirror and the overall process is orchestrated using Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator for both the on-premises and cloud environments.

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator consumes the Terraform Resource Providers for NetApp Cloud Manager to carry out the operations related to NetApp CVO Deployment and establishing the data replication relationships.

An optional backup and tiering of the cold data residing in the NetApp CVO instance to AWS S3 is also supported with this solution.

Hybrid Cloud Networking

This section details the requirements for the hybrid cloud networking elements that form a core part of this solution.

AWS Virtual Private Cloud

You can create dedicated VPC in any region to deploy Connector and CVO. <u>View the full list of supported regions</u>. Also define the subnet per availability zone, route table and internet gateway.

VPC Endpoints

A VPC endpoint is required to establish the connectivity between the VPC, and AWS supported services without requiring internet gateway, NAT device, VPN connection or direct connect. The VPC is not exposed to public internet and the communication will happen over AWS private network. There are three types of VPC endpoints: Interface endpoints, Gateway Load Balancer endpoints, and Gateway endpoints.

AWS Virtual Private Network

AWS VPN is used in the solution to establish secure connection between on-prem FlexPod network and the AWS global network. AWS Site-to-Site VPN creates encrypted tunnels between your network and your Amazon Virtual Private Clouds or AWS Transit Gateways.

AWS Direct Connect

The VPN connectivity utilizes the public internet, which can have unpredictable performance and can possess some security concerns. AWS direct connect bypass the public internet and establishes a secure dedicated connection from op-prem to AWS. AWS direct connect is a great option for customers that are seeking secure, low latency connectivity into AWS. If the customer already has AWS direct connect then the same connection can be used to establish communication between on-prem FlexPod and CVO instance.

Cloud Volumes ONTAP for Disaster Recovery

NetApp CVO can be deployed in various deployment modes; this section covers in detail all the modes of deployment and their associated pre-requisites. You can select any of the modes of deployment that match your business specific requirements.

CVO Deployment Modes and Architecture

Cloud Volumes ONTAP is available in AWS as a single node system and as a high-availability (HA) pair of nodes. Based on the requirement, you can select CVO deployment modes. Upgrading a single node system to an HA pair is not supported. If you want to switch between a single node system and an HA pair, then you need to deploy a new system and replicate data from the existing system to the new system.

Cloud Volumes ONTAP Single Node

Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployment mode in AWS as a single node system that is ideal for disaster recovery, backups, and workloads that do not require high availability. In this mode all the LIFs will be assigned IP from same subnet.





High Availability Pair Node

A Cloud Volumes ONTAP high availability (HA) configuration provides nondisruptive operations and fault tolerance. In AWS, data is synchronously mirrored between the two nodes.

In AWS, Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA configurations include the following components:

- Two Cloud Volumes ONTAP nodes whose data is synchronously mirrored between each other.
- A mediator instance that provides a communication channel between the nodes to assist in storage takeover and giveback processes.

Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA Single Availability Zone

Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployment mode in AWS as a single AZ HA pair that is ideal for fault tolerance and nondisruptive operations as it protects against failures within a single AZ. This HA configuration ensures high availability of your data if an instance that runs a Cloud Volumes ONTAP node fails. All data is natively accessible from outside of the VPC. In this mode there will be two nodes and a mediator instance that will be deployed in single AZ. Because this configuration is in a single AZ it does not require floating IP address and you can use same set of IP addresses for NFS and CIFS data access from within the VPC and from outside the VPC. These IP addresses automatically migrate between HA nodes if failures occur.





Unlike an ONTAP cluster, storage in a Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA pair is not shared between nodes. Instead, data is synchronously mirrored between the nodes so that the data is available in the event of failure. You can use an HA pair as an active-active configuration, in which both nodes serve data to clients, or as an active-passive configuration, in which the passive node responds to data requests only if it has taken over storage for the active node:

- For iSCSI, Cloud Volumes ONTAP uses multipath I/O (MPIO) and Asymmetric Logical Unit Access (ALUA) to manage path failover between the active-optimized and non-optimized paths.
- For NAS configurations, the data IP addresses can migrate between HA nodes if failures occur. This ensures client access to storage.

Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA Multi Availability Zones

Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployment mode in AWS as a HA pair multi-AZ that is ideal for fault tolerance and nondisruptive operations for business continuity as it provides maximum protection against AZ failures. This HA configuration ensures high availability of your data if a failure occurs with an Availability Zones or an instance that runs a Cloud Volumes ONTAP node. Both Cloud Volumes ONTAP nodes must be deployed in different Availability Zones. A third Availability Zone is recommended for the HA mediator.

When an HA configuration is spread across multiple Availability Zones, floating IP addresses enable NAS client access. The floating IP addresses, which must be outside of the CIDR blocks for all VPCs in the region, can migrate between nodes when failures occur. They aren't natively accessible to clients that are outside of the VPC, unless <u>an AWS transit gateway</u> is set up.

If there is no transit gateway, private IP addresses are available for NAS clients that are outside the VPC. However, these IP addresses are static—they can't failover between nodes. The floating IP needs to be specified during the CVO deployment. The private IP addresses are automatically created by Cloud Manager.



Figure 6. CVO HA Multi-AZ architecture

Takeover and giveback:

- For iSCSI, Cloud Volumes ONTAP uses multipath I/O (MPIO) and Asymmetric Logical Unit Access (ALUA) to manage path failover between the active-optimized and non-optimized paths.
- For NAS, the takeover occurs using floating IP. The node's floating IP address that clients use to access data moves to the other node.



Figure 7. Takeover and Giveback

Networking Requirements for Cloud Volumes ONTAP in AWS

Cloud Manager handles the setup of networking components for Cloud Volumes ONTAP, such as IP addresses, netmasks, and routes and so on.

The following sections describe the requirements that must be met in AWS.

Outbound internet access for Cloud Volumes ONTAP nodes

Cloud Volumes ONTAP nodes require outbound internet access to send messages to NetApp Auto-Support, which proactively monitors the health of your storage. By default, AutoSupport is enabled on each node to send messages to technical support using the HTTPS transport protocol.

Note: If you have a NAT instance, you must define an inbound security group rule that allows HTTPS traffic from the private subnet to the internet.

Outbound internet access for the HA mediator

The HA mediator instance must have an outbound connection to the AWS EC2 service so it can assist with storage failover. To provide the connection, you can add a public IP address, specify a proxy server, or use a manual option.

The manual option can be a NAT gateway or an interface VPC endpoint from the target subnet to the AWS EC2 service. For details about VPC endpoints, refer to <u>AWS Documentation: Interface VPC Endpoints (AWS PrivateLink)</u>.

Security groups

Cloud Manager creates a security group but if you want to use your own then refer to <u>Security group</u> rules.

Connections to ONTAP systems

To replicate data between a Cloud Volumes ONTAP system in AWS and ONTAP systems in other networks, you must have a VPN connection between the AWS VPC and the other network.

Private IP addresses

Cloud Manager automatically allocates the required number of private IP addresses to Cloud Volumes ONTAP. You need to ensure that your networking has enough private IP addresses available.

The number of LIFs that Cloud Manager allocates for Cloud Volumes ONTAP depends on whether you deploy a single node system or an HA pair. A LIF is an IP address associated with a physical port.

IP addresses for a single node system

Table 5 lists the Cloud Manager IP addresses to a single node system.

LIF name	Assigned Interface	Purpose
Cluster management LIF	eth0	Administrative management of cluster
Node management LIF	eth0	Administrative management of a node
Intercluster LIF	eth0	Replication
NAS data LIF	eth0	Client access over NAS protocol
iSCSI data LIF	eth0	Client access over iSCSI protocol
SVM management LIF	eth0	SVM management

Table 5. Cloud Manager IP addresses

IP addresses for a HA pairs

HA pairs require more IP addresses than a single node system does. These IP addresses are spread across different ethernet interfaces, as shown in <u>Figure 8</u>.



Figure 8. CVO HA LIFs and Interfaces overview

Note: An HA pair deployed in a single AWS Availability Zone (AZ) requires 15 private IP addresses.

Table 6 lists the details about LIFs that are associated with each private IP address.

LIF name	Assigned Interface	Node	Purpose
Cluster management	eth0	node 1	Administrative management of the entire cluster (HA pair)
Node management	eth0	node 1 and node 2	Administrative management of a node
Intercluster	eth0	node 1 and node 2	Cross-cluster communication, backup, and replication
NAS data	eth0	node1	Client access over NAS protocol

Table 6. LIFs for HA pairs in a single AZ

LIF name	Assigned Interface	Node	Purpose
iSCSI data	eth0	node 1 and node 2	Client access over the iSCSI protocol
Cluster connectivity	eth1	node 1 and node 2	Enables the nodes to communicate with each other and to move data within the cluster
HA connectivity	eth2	node 1 and node 2	Communication between the two nodes in case of failover
RSM iSCSI traffic	eth3	node 1 and node 2	RAID SyncMirror iSCSI traffic, as well as communication between the two Cloud Volumes ONTAP nodes and the mediator
Mediator	eth0	Mediator	A communication channel between the nodes and the mediator to assist in storage takeover and giveback processes

Note: An HA pair deployed in a multiple AWS Availability Zone (AZ) requires 13 private IP addresses.

<u>Table 7</u> lists the details about LIFs that are associated with each private IP address.

Table 7. LIFS for HA pairs in a multiple AZS	Table 7.	LIFs for HA	pairs in a	multiple AZs
----------------------------------------------	----------	-------------	------------	--------------

LIF name	Assigned Interface	Node	Purpose
Node management	eth0	node 1 and node 2	Administrative management of a node
Intercluster	eth0	node 1 and node 2	Cross-cluster communication, backup, and replication
iSCSI data	eth0	node 1 and node 2	Client access over the iSCSI protocol. This LIF also manages the migration of floating IP addresses between nodes
Cluster connectivity	eth1	node 1 and node 2	Enables the nodes to communicate with each other and to move data within the cluster
HA connectivity	eth2	node 1 and node 2	Communication between the two nodes in case of failover
RSM iSCSI traffic	eth3	node 1 and node 2	RAID SyncMirror iSCSI traffic, as well as communication between the two Cloud Volumes ONTAP nodes and the mediator
Mediator	eth0	Mediator	A communication channel between the nodes and the mediator to assist in storage takeover and giveback processes

Requirements for HA pairs in multiple Availability Zones

Additional AWS networking requirements apply to Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA configurations that use multiple Availability Zones (Azs). This HA deployment model uses multiple Availability Zones to ensure high availability of the data. It's recommended to use a dedicated AZ for each Cloud Volumes ONTAP instance and the mediator instance, which provides a communication channel between the HA pair. A subnet should be available in each Availability Zone.

HA configurations in multiple Azs use floating IP addresses that migrate between nodes if failures occur. They are not natively accessible from outside the VPC. To make floating IP accessible a Transit Gateway is required. You need to enter the floating IP addresses in Cloud Manager when you create a Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA working environment. Cloud Manager allocates the IP addresses to the HA pair when it launches the system.

The floating IP addresses must be outside of the CIDR blocks for all VPCs in the AWS region in which you deploy the HA configuration.

The floating IP addresses is a logical subnet that's outside of the VPCs in your region. Cloud Manager will automatically add the static route to the route table of the VPC which will be selected during Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployment.





Connect to NetApp management tools

To use NetApp management tools with HA configurations that are in multiple Azs, there are two connection options:

- Deploy the NetApp management tools in a different VPC and set up an AWS transit gateway. The gateway enables access to the floating IP address for the cluster management interface from outside the VPC.
- Deploy the NetApp management tools in the same VPC with a similar routing configuration as NAS clients.

Cloud Volumes ONTAP Deployment Specifications

Supported Regions

Cloud Volumes ONTAP is supported in most AWS <u>regions</u>. Newer AWS regions must be enabled before you can create and manage resources in those regions. <u>Learn how to enable a region</u>.

Compute Instances for running CVO

Cloud Volumes ONTAP supports several instance types, depending on the license type that you select. <u>Supported configurations for Cloud Volumes ONTAP in AWS</u>

Sizing

Sizing your Cloud Volumes ONTAP system can help you meet requirements for performance and capacity. <u>Cloud Volumes ONTAP sizer</u> is a tool that will help you to size your CVO environment to decide the best architecture and resources to leverage for your specific needs.

TCO Calculator

Easily calculate your storage costs on AWS, Azure or Google Cloud with Cloud Volumes ONTAP using this free, simplified, and easy to navigate calculator. Learn more about the <u>TCO calculator</u>.

Solution Deployment

This section describes the details of deployment. At a high level, deploying a disaster recovery solution across hybrid cloud consists of the steps shown below. The details of these steps are presented in the following sections.

- 1. Deploy FlexPod Datacenter in UCS Managed Mode or Intersight Managed Mode
- 2. Cisco Intersight Configuration
 - · Create and configure Cisco Intersight account
 - Install Cisco Intersight Assist
 - Add all FlexPod components to Intersight account
 - Configure Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform
- 3. Hybrid Cloud Infrastructure preparation
 - Hyper scalar configuration
 - Access NetApp Cloud Manager
 - Deploy connector
- 4. Hybrid Cloud Storage configuration using Intersight services
 - NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP deployment
 - Set up environment prerequisites
 - Develop Intersight Orchestrator Workflows
 - Create Volumes in NetApp AFF and map to datastore
 - Add on-premises FlexPod storage
 - Deploy CVO
 - Configure SnapMirror replication between on-premises ONTAP and CVO
 - · Optionally, import Cisco built workflow
 - Execution and Verification
 - Sample Use case

Deploy FlexPod Datacenter

Note: Skip this step if you already have FlexPod Datacenter deployed.

To understand the FlexPod design and deployment details, including the configuration of various elements of design and associated best practices, refer to Cisco Validated Designs for FlexPod found at: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/design-zone/data-center-design-guides/flexpod-design-guides.html</u> FlexPod can be deployed on both UCS Managed Mode and Cisco Intersight Managed Mode. If you are deploying FlexPod in UCS Managed Mode, latest Cisco Validated Design can be found at: https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/UCS_CVDs/flexpod_m6_esxi7u2_design.html

Cisco Unified Compute System (Cisco UCS) X-Series is a brand-new modular compute system, configured and managed from the cloud. It is designed to meet the needs of modern applications and to improve operational efficiency, agility, and scale through an adaptable, future-ready, modular design. The design guidance around incorporating the Cisco Intersight–managed UCS X-Series platform within FlexPod Datacenter infrastructure can be found at:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/UCS_CVDs/flexpod_xseries_esxi7u2_ _____design.html

FlexPod deployment can automated with Infrastructure as code using Ansible. Details are available at: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified computing/ucs/UCS CVDs/flexpod m6 esxi7u2.ht</u> <u>ml#AnsibleAutomationWorkflowandSolutionDeployment</u>

Cisco Intersight Configuration

Procedure 1. Create an account in Cisco Intersight

Note: Skip this step if you already have an Intersight account.

A quick summary of the procedure to create an account in Cisco Intersight is outlined below. For more details, refer to: <u>https://intersight.com/help/saas/getting_started/create_cisco_intersight_account</u>

To get started with Cisco Intersight, create a Cisco Intersight account:

Step 1. Visit <u>https://intersight.com/</u> to create your Intersight account. You must have a valid Cisco ID to create a Cisco Intersight account.

Step 2. Click Create an account.

	ahaha cisco
INT	TERSIGHT
Cisco ID	Single Sign-On (SSO) 🔿
If you do not have a Cisco ID, create one here	Email
Don't have an im	tersight Account? Crexite on account
	(Alton -
Earn more ab	out Clisco Intersight at Help Center
Systemating, poddar ita a Temis & Card	

Step 3. Sign-In with your Cisco ID.

Step 4. Read the End User License Agreement and select I accept and click Next.



Step 5. Provide a name for the account and click Create.



Procedure 2. Set up a Cisco Intersight organization

Optionally, you can define all Cisco Intersight resources under an organization. Note that a default organization already exists. To define a new organization, follow these steps:

Step 1. Log in to the Cisco Intersight portal.

Step 2. Click Settings (the gear icon) and click Settings.

	ilialia Intersight		MONITOR	¢ ⊵ ¢			💿 🛛 Paniraja Koppa 🔬			
<u>080</u>	MONITOR		Storage Fabric Interconnects Servers Workload Optimizer	FlexPod +						
	OPERATE		V Add Filter							
×			Fabric Interconnect Health Summary	Fabric Interconnect Inventory	Licensing					
	OPTIMIZE		•	MODELS		Gettings		VERSIONS		
	ADMIN CUBBENT COVERAGE 2 Devices		2 HEALTHY Fabric Interconnect Contract Status CURRENT COVERAGE 1	2 TOTAL * 6454 2 * 6454 2 108 PORTS USED * 6454 2 * 6454 2 * 6454 2	(2 TOFAL		e 9.3(5)42(1e) 2		
			• Hot Covered 2 0 Now Jan Mar May Jul Sep Nov	Custom Metric 🖇 encoded	<u>ن</u>					

Step 3. Click Organizations in the middle panel.

Step 4.	Click Create	Organization	in the	top-right	corner.
---------	--------------	--------------	--------	-----------	---------

=	disco Intersight	Settings													
ه ۲	 OFNERAL Account Details Access Details 		Organi	cations								ĺ	+ Cree	te Organiza	ition
		Use organizations to manage access to your infrastructure. Learn more about Organizations at Heip Center. x										<			
	Single Sign-On Cisco ID				Q ₄ Add Filter							99 R C			
	Access & PERMISSIONS														
											User is	n a Default O	rganization a		
	Security & Privacy												<u>s</u> c_	of 1 🛛	
	Users														
	Groups Roles														
	Organizations														
	E **														
	API Keys														
	OAuth2 Tokens														

Step 5. Provide a name for the organization (for example, FlexPod).

≡	cisco Intersight	Create									æ
≗ ⊛ ×			` }	Create Organizatio Create an organization to m logical and physical resourc	on Ianage access to your ies.						æ
(ĝ)		General									
		Name * FlexPod ©	Description								
		Memberships									
		Custom									
		 Select targets to create a Cus targets in the same Organizat 	stom Organization. Profile tion.	es and Policies that are create	ed within a Custom Organiz	ation are applicable	only to				Ţ
					nd 10 ∨ perpage [
		AA04-6454		UCSFIISM			D023310PL				
	Cancel									Create	

Procedure 3. Licensing

In this solution, you will use Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator and Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform. These features are available for users who have the Cisco Intersight Premier license and therefore this licensing tier must be enabled.

Step 1. Log in to the Cisco Intersight portal.

Step 2. Click Settings (the gear icon) and click Licensing.
Audit Logs	
Sessions	Vidaet
Licensing	
FlexPod Server Settings Licensing	

Note: If this is a new account, all servers connected to the UCS Domain will appear under the Base license Tier. If you have purchased Cisco Intersight licenses and have them in your Cisco Smart Account, click Register and follow the prompts to register this Cisco Intersight account to your Cisco Smart Account. Cisco Intersight also offers a one-time 90-day trial of Premier licensing for new accounts. Click Start Trial and then Start to begin this evaluation. The remainder of this section will assume Premier licensing.

- **Step 3.** From the Licensing Window, click Actions > Set Products.
- **Step 4.** From the drop-down list click Premier for Default Tier in the Intersight licensing section and click Set.

≡	lı.ılı. cısco	Intersig	ht	Licensing	۵	\$ 3			
<u>00o</u>				Set Products					
Ŷ	OPERATE			Select the required license tier.					
×	CONFIGUR								
2	OPTIMIZE			Intersight					
ē	ADMIN			New servers which are claimed to this account will be part of the selected license tier by def	fault.				
				Default Tier * Premier v					
				Move All Servers to Default Tier O					
				Workload Optimizer			Enable		
				Tier* Premier ∽					
				Intersight Kubernetes Service		•	Enable		
									Set

Install Cisco Intersight Assist

Note: Skip this step if you already have an Intersight assist deployed. One Intersight Assist would be enough in the datacenter for all the FlexPod components to communicate with Cisco Intersight.

Cisco Intersight Assist helps you add endpoint devices to Cisco Intersight. Your datacenter could have multiple targets that do not connect directly with Cisco Intersight. Any device that is supported by Cisco Intersight but does not connect directly with it, will need a connection mechanism. Cisco Intersight Assist provides that connection mechanism, and helps you add these targets into Cisco Intersight. It is deployable virtual machine contained within an Open Virtual Appliance (OVA) file format. You can install the appliance on ESXi 6.0 or higher.

A quick summary of requirements and deployment procedure is outlined below. For more information and a detailed deployment procedure, go to:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/Intersight/cisco-intersight-assistgetting-started-guide/m-overview-of-cisco-intersight-assist.html

System Requirements

Table 8 lists the resource requirements for Cisco Intersight Assist.

Resource Requirements	Systems Requ	uirements		
	Tiny	Small	Medium	Large
vCPU	8	16	24	48
RAM(GiB)	16	32	64	96
Storage (GB)	500GB	500GB	500	500
Number of servers			2000	5000
Supported Hypervisors		VMware ESXi 6.5 and higher		
		VMware vSphere Web Client 6.5 and higher		

Table 8. Cisco Intersight Assist Resource requirements

Note: Port 443 need to be open for TCP/UDP traffic and port 80 for TCP.

Note: Tiny is viable for Cisco Intersight Assist used with Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator only. It is recommended to select either, Small, Medium, or Large deployment configuration.

DNS

You access the Cisco Intersight Assist using the <https://fqdn-of-your-appliance> URL. You must have a PTR record in the DNS entry. Configure DNS with A/PTR and CNAME Alias records as shown below:

Sample A/PTR record:

intersightassist (ip.address)

Sample CNAME Alias record: dc-FQDN hostname

Procedure 4. Install Cisco Intersight Assist

Note: If you already have Cisco Intersight Assist deployed, skip the Installation procedure, and navigate to the <u>Upgrade existing Cisco Intersight Assist</u> section.

Step 1. Download the Intersight virtual appliance for VMware from Cisco Software Download portal: <u>https://software.cisco.com/download/home</u>

- **Step 2.** Navigate to Downloads Home > Servers Unified Computing > Intersight and download the ova file.
- **Step 3.** Log in to VMware vSphere Web Client with administrator credentials. Right-click the Cluster/host and select Deploy OVF Template.
- **Step 4.** On the Deploy OVF Template wizard, in the Source page, specify the source location, and click Next.
- **Step 5.** On the OVF Template Details page, verify the OVF template details and click Next.
- **Note:** No input is necessary.
- **Step 6.** On the Name and Location page, add or edit the Name and Location for the Intersight Assist and click Next.
- **Step 7.** On the Deployment Configuration page, select a configuration from the drop-down list and click Next.
- **Step 8.** Choose either Small, Medium or Large deployment configuration since Tiny is only viable for Cisco Intersight Assist used with Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator.

Deploy OVF Template	Configuration Select a deployment configuration			×
1 Select an OVF template	O Tiny		Description	
2 Select a name and folder	O Small		24 VCPU, 64GIB Memory, 500GB Storage.	
3 Select a compute resource	 Medium 			
	O Large			
4 Review details				
5 Configuration				
6 Select storage				
7 Select networks				
8 Customize template				
9 Ready to complete				
		4 Items		
			CANCEL BACK NEX	кт

- **Step 9.** On the Storage page, select a destination storage (hard drives) for the VM files in the selected host (ESX station) and click Next. Select the Disk Format for the virtual machine virtual disks. Select Thin Provision to optimize disk usage.
- **Step 10.** On the Network Mapping page, for each network that is specified in the OVF template, select a source network and map it to a destination network and click Next.

Deploy OVF Template	Select networks Select a destination network for each	source network.			×
1 Select an OVF template					
2 Select a name and folder	Source Network VM Network	Destination Network			
3 Select a compute resource					1 item
4 Review details	IP Allocation Settings				
5 Configuration	IP allocation:	Static - Manual			
6 Select storage	IP protocol:	IPv4			
7 Select networks					
8 Customize template					
9 Ready to complete					
					_
			CANCEL	BACK	NEXT

Step 11. On the Properties page, customize the deployment properties of the OVF template and click Next.

Deploy OVF Template	Customize template	s of this software solution.
1 Select an OVF template	✓ Uncategorized	1 settings
2 Select a name and folder	Enable DHCP	Use DHCP for networking. All static params will be ignored.
3 Select a compute resource		
4. Poviou details	✓ Uncategorized	1 settings
4 Review details	IP Address IPv4 address (Must have PTR record in your DNS)	
5 Configuration		10.1.166.50
6. Salact storage	✓ Uncategorized	1 settings
o select storage	Net Mask	IPv4 Network Mask
7 Select networks		255.255.255.0
8 Customize template	✓ Uncategorized	1 settings
0. Desdute complete	Default Gateway	IPv4 Default Gateway
9 Ready to complete		10.1.166.254
	✓ Uncategorized	1 settings
	DNS Domain	DNS Search Domain
		flexpod.cisco.com
	✓ Uncategorized	1 settings
	DNS Servers	Comma-separated list of DNS servers
		10.1.166.250
		CANCEL BACK NEXT

Step 12. On the Ready to complete page, click Finish.

Deploy OVF Template	Ready to com Click Finish to start crea	nplete ation.		×
1 Select an OVF template	Name	flexpod-dc-assist		
2 Select a name and folder	Template name	intersight-appliance-installer-vsphere-1.0.9-342_SHA256		
3 Select a compute resource	Download size	1.7 GB		
4 Review details	Size on disk	500.0 GB		
	Folder	BB09-DC		
5 Configuration	Resource	BB09-FlexPod-MGMT		
6 Select storage	Storage mapping	1		
7 Select networks	All disks	Datastore: infra_datastore; Format: Thick provision lazy zeroed		
/ Select networks	Network mapping	1		
8 Customize template	VM Network	10_1_166_Net		
9 Ready to complete	IP allocation settings			
	IP protocol	IPV4		
	IP allocation	Static - Manual		
	Properties	Enable DHCP = False IP Address = 10.1.166.50 Net Mask = 255.255.255.0 Default Gateway = 10.1.166.254 DNS Domain = flexpod.cisco.com DNS Servers = 10.1.166.250 NTP Server = 10.1.166.254		
		CAN	ВАСК	FINISH

- **Step 13.** After the OVA deployment is complete, and the VM is powered on, wait for a few seconds and then access your VM using the <https://fqdn-of-your-appliance> URL to complete setting up Cisco Intersight Assist.
- **Step 14.** Click Cisco Intersight Assist and click Proceed.

Intersight Connected Virtual Appliance	0
Intersight Private Virtual Appliance	0
Intersight Assist	0

Step 15. You will see Connect Intersight Virtual Appliance Wizard, make sure you get the Device ID and Claim Code.

cisco Intersight		
Progress Connect Intersight Virtual Appliance	Step 1/2 Connect Intersight Virtual Appliance Use the Clarco To to connect to Intersight cloud	114 1
Software Download	No connection to cloud. Horn Settings, you can change the appliance configuration and troubleshoot the connection issues.	
	The Device Connector is an embedded management controller that enables the capabilities of Cisco Intersight, a cloud based management platform. For detailed information about configuring the device connector, please visit Help Center	
	Device Connector ③ Settings 😳 Refresh	
	ACCESS MORE ALLOW CONTROL	ſ
	aa373d6d-9c5c-4220-95d5-aab9ac5622a8 😰	l
	Ciaim Code	ſ
	Denice Connector Internet Intersignt 0	l
	Not Caimed	
		l
	1.5.9420	ſ
		l
		l
	رکې . Connect Internapti Without Applianea	l
	Activate Windows Go to Settings to activate Windows	
	Continue	

- **Step 16.** Login to Cisco Intersight and click ADMIN > Target > Claim a New Target.
- **Step 17.** Search for Intersight Assist. Select it and click Start.
- **Step 18.** Enter the Device ID and Claim code from Assist. Click Claim. Make sure claim is successful.
- **Step 19.** Return to the Assist Initial Setup Wizard and click Continue.

The software download is initiated, and the software packages are installed. The installation process could take up to an hour to complete, depending on the network connection to Cisco Intersight. After the installation is complete, the Cisco Intersight Assist user interface appears.

diada intersight			
🕾 Progress	1 mg	STep 2/2	20
Connect Intersight Virtual Appliance		Software Download View progress of the Download and Install software packages	
BOLINAR LUMIDA	O Installation is	in progress	
	 Initializing the 	a download	

Step 20. Log in to the Cisco Intersight Assist user interface using its FQDN. Enter the username – admin and the password you set at installation.

IN-	TERSIGHT	ASSIST
	Username *	<u>0</u>
	Password *	<u></u>

Procedure 5. Upgrade existing Cisco Intersight Assist

If Cisco Intersight Assist is already deployed for Orchestration, make sure Intersight Assist is always upgraded to latest.

- Step 1. Login to Intersight Assist.
- **Step 2.** From the left navigation pane, click Software.
- **Step 3.** Make sure Software Schedule is set to "Automatic" or set a Weekly Maintenance Window. This will ensure that the upgraded packages are received.

ریانیاں۔ دیدہ Intersight Assist	Software		admin <u>"Q</u>
Cloud Connection Assist Software			
Audi Logs		Set Update Schedule Automatic Weekly Maintenance Window	

Add FlexPod components to a Cisco Intersight account

Note: Skip this step if all FlexPod components are already added as targets within your Intersight account.

Target

A target is a service that performs management in your environment. Target Configuration specifies the ports Intersight uses to connect with these services. For each target, Intersight communicates with the service via the management protocol that it exposes – The REST API, SMI-S, XML, or some other management transport. Intersight uses this communication to discover the managed entities, monitor resource utilization, and execute actions.

Note: It is required to add all FlexPod components as a Target within Cisco Intersight.

Procedure 6. Claim a target

For more information about claiming target go to: https://intersight.com/help/saas/getting_started/claim_targets#target_claim

FAQs about account setup and claiming a target can be found here: <u>https://intersight.com/help/saas/fags#general_account_setup_claim_target</u>

Step 1. Log in to Intersight with the Account Administrator, Device Administrator, or Device Technician privileges.

Step 2. Navigate to ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target.

Step 3. Click Available for Claiming and select the target type you want to claim. Click Start.

Step 4. Enter the required details and click Claim to complete the claiming process.

Procedure 7. Target Claim for Compute/Fabric

- **Step 1.** Navigate to ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target.
- Step 2. In Categories, select Compute/Fabric.
- **Step 3.** Click the relevant target and click Start.
- **Step 4.** Enter the applicable Device ID. Endpoint targets connect to the Cisco Intersight portal through a Device Connector that is embedded in the management controller (Management VM for Cisco UCS Director) of each system. The Device Connector provides a secure way for connected targets to send information and receive control instructions from the Cisco Intersight portal, using a secure Internet connection. <u>Table 9</u> lists the format of the device ID and the device connector location.

Note: Before you gather the Claim Code, ensure that the Device Connector has outbound network access to Cisco Intersight, and is in the "Not Claimed" state.

- **Step 5.** Claim Code–Enter the device claim code and click Claim. You can find this code in the Device Connector.
- **Step 6.** Resource Groups–Select the Resource Group from the list to add it to the Organization.
- **Note:** The Resource Group selection is enabled for the supported targets.
- Step 7. Click Claim.

Note: After the targets are claimed, you can view the managed targets in the Targets table view.

Targets	Device ID Format	Device Connector Location
Cisco UCS Server	Serial Number	From Admin > Device Connector in Cisco IMC
Cisco UCS Domain (UCS Managed)	Device serial ID of the primary and subordinate Fabric Interconnects	From Admin > Device Connector in Cisco UCS Manager
Cisco UCS Domain (Intersight Managed)	Device serial ID of the primary and subordinate Fabric Interconnects	Device Connector in Device Console

Table 9.	Device ID	Format a	nd Device	Connector	location

Procedure 8. Target Claim for vCenter

- **Step 1.** Navigate to ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target.
- Step 2. In Categories, select Hypervisor.
- Step 3. Click VMware vCenter and click Start.
- Step 4. Claim VMWare vCenter Target.



Step 5. Select the Intersight assist deployed. Provide vCenter details. If Intersight Workflow Optimizer (IWO) is enabled, turn on Datastore Browsing Enabled and Guest Metrics Enabled.

	cisco Intersight	ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target				
<u>⊪</u> ⊜ ×	MONITOR OPERATE CONFIGURE	Claim VMware vCent To claim any on provinces trans Appliance if needed before clai	ter Target et an Intersight Assist and claim an Assist iming the target			
		Intersight Assist * Hostname/IP	Address *			
Ţ	ADMIN	assist-prod.flexpod.cisco.com vo	cpod.cisco.com			
	Targets Software Repository	Port 443 © © 0-65535				
		administrator@vsphere.local O			@ 0	
		C Secure Ø				
		Datastore Browsing Enabled				
		● Guest Metrics Enabled ©				
						Claim

Step 6. Click Claim.

Step 7. After a few minutes, the VMware vCenter will appear in the Targets list. It also can be viewed by clicking Intersight Assist in the Targets list.

=	cisco Intersight	ADMIN > Targets > assist-prod flexpod.cisco.com		0 D	¢\$ 9,	💿 🕜 Paniraja Koppa 🔔
<u>01o</u>		Details	Targets			
ø		Status Connected	🖉 🕅 🔍 Add Filter		s found 10 ∽ per pag	ge 편은 1 of 1 3 년 📀
×		Name assist-prod.flexpod.cisco.com				
1.4	00714/75	Type Intersight Assist	L Name	Status	rype -	IP Address - Cit y
12	OF TIMIZE 0	External IP Address 10.0.169.80		Connected	NetApp Active IQ Unifi	10.1.166.27 Oc •••
P	ADMIN ^	IP Address 10.1.166.23			VMware vCenter	10.1.166.100 No ····
	Targets	Target ID 865b1a86-43c8-42b0-994a-3de4f1a1b8be				
		Last Update Dec 1, 2021 12:29 PM		Connected	Netapp ONTAP	NO ***
	Software Repository	Claimed Time Sep 29, 2021 3:47 PM		Claimed	HTTP Endpoint	
		Claimed By pkoppa@cisco.com				
		Connector Version 1.0.9-1708				
		Product ID DC-MGT-ONPREM-EST				
		Access Mode Allow Control				
		Organizations BB09-FilexPod default				
		Resource Groups default BB09-FlexPod-rg				

Step 8. Detailed information obtained from the vCenter can now be viewed by navigating to OPER-ATE > Virtualization.

≡	cisco Intersight	OPERATE > Virtualization >		8809-DC						ppa 🕰
<u>00</u> 0		General Clusters Hosts			Virtual Machine Templates					
ø	OPERATE ^	Details		Summary						
		Name Hypervisor Manager vc.fler	BB09-DC bb09- xpod.cisco.com 10.1.166.100	Hosts 5 • Powered On S	Virtual Machines 33 Powered On 28 Powered Off 5	Clusters 2	Datastores No.	etworks Virtu 20	al Mach	
	Networking HyperFlex Clusters	Location /BB09-DC								
	Virtualization	Tags Ø No Tags								
	Solutions									
	Kubernetes									
= 03r	diada cisco Intersight MONITOR	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N	> Datastores > Aachines Virtu	Software al Machine Templates			0 B 43	` ` ○	Paniraja Koj	opa <u>Q</u>
= @	Aubernetes Abulti Intersight MONITOR OPERATE A	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N	> Datastores > Aachines Virtu	Software al Machine Templates			0 B 44	Q 0	⑦ Paniraja Koj	ppa <u>R</u>
= @	shuhr cuco MONITOR OPERATE Servers	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N	Patastores > Aschines Virtu	Software al Machine Templates		G1	Q I	Q. ⊙ 10 ~ per page €	O Paniraja Koy Image: Contract of the second sec	рра <u>–</u>
= \$	clucio MONITOR OPERATE Chassis	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual A O Q Q Add Filter	Datastores > Aachines Virtui Datacenter	Software Hachine Templates Cluster	CPU Capacity : CPU	U Utilization A	C C 43	Q ③ 10 ~ per page C Aemory Utilization	Pannaja Kop C 1 of 1 2 30 CPUs :	ара <u>4</u> © Ş
= @	Holden Intersight MONITOR OPERATE ^ Servers Chassis Fabric Interconnects	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N 0 Q Add Filter Name : 0 bb09-essi3.feepo	Datastores > Acchines Virtue Datacenter BB09-DC	Software Il Machine Templates Cluster BB09 FlexPod MGMT	CPU Capacity : CPU 73.60 GHz +	U Utilization A	C C 42 Export 5 items found Aemory Capacity : A 190 66 GB -	Q ② 10 ∼ per page ₪ Aemory Utilization 67.5%	 Paniraja Koj 1 of 1 2 M CPUs : 32 	рра Д. О Я
= 00	Kubernetes Kubernetes Kubernetes MONITOR OPERATE OPERATE Chassis Fabric Interconnects Networking	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N Q Q Add Filter Name : O tb09-essi-3.feepo O tb09-essi-3.feepo	Datastores > Aachines Virtua Datacenter BB09-DC B09-DC	Software al Machine Templates Cluster BB09-FlexPod-MOMT BB09-Flex	CPU Capacity : CPU 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz -	U Utilization A 	Corport Silterns found Aermony Capacity X 190.66 G4B 382.66 G4B	Q ③ 10 ~ per page C Aemory Utilization 67.5% 12.9%	Paniraja Ko 1 of 1 2 10 CPUs 32 32	рра <u>Q</u> Ф
	Kubernetes	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual A C Add Filter Name = O bb09-essi-3 flexpo bb09-essi-4 flexpo O bb09-essi-5 flexpo	Datastores Aachines Virtue Datacenter BB09-DC BB09-DC	Software I Machine Templates I Machine Bengarata BB09-FlexPod-MOMT BB09-Test	CPU Capacity : CPU 73.60 GHz 73.60 GHz 44.00 GHz =	UUtilization A 9.5% 9.5%	C P P3 Diport1 Sitems found A Aemory Capacity I I 190.66 GrB - 382.66 GrB - 190.66 GrB - 190.66 GrB -	Q. ⊙ 10 ∼ per page 12 Aemory Utilization 67.5% 12.9% 18.9%	 Parsicaja Koj 1 of 1 2 3 CPUa : 32 32 20 	рра Д Э У
= &	Kubernetes	OFERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual A Q Q Add Filter Name : O bb09-essi-5.flexpo O bb09-essi-5.flexpo O bb09-essi-5.flexpo	Datastores > Atachines Virtue Datacenter B809-DC B809-DC B809-DC	Software I Machine Templates I Machine Templates I B00-FlexPod-MOMT I B00-Test B00-FlexPod MOMT I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	CPU Capacity : CPU 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz - 44.00 GHz - 73.60 GHz -	U Utilization 8 5.8% 9.5% 15.2% 18.3%	C R2 R3 Export 5 rems found M 190 66 GB 382 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB	Q ② 10 ∼ per page ⊮ Aemory Utilization 67.5% 12.9% 18.9% 00.1%	Pansraja Kop 1 of 1 2 2 CPUs 2 32 20 32	рра Д. Э Я
≡ \$	Kubernetes	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N Name = O bb09-essi-1 filespo O bb09-essi-1 filespo O bb09-essi-1 filespo O bb09-essi-1 filespo O bb09-essi-1 filespo	Datastores > Aachines Virtus B809-DC 8809-DC B809-DC 8809-DC B809-DC 8809-DC B809-DC 8809-DC	Software II Machine Templates II Machine Templates II B00º FlexPod MOMT II B00º Test II B00º FlexPod MOMT II B00 FlexPOd MOMT II B00 FlexPOd MOMT II B00 Fle	CPU Cispacity CPU 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz - 44.00 GHz - 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz -	U Utilization A 5.8% 9.5% 15.2% 18.3% 2.4%	C R R Export 5 items found M Aemory Capacity M M 190 66 GB 382 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 190 66 GB 6	Q ③ 10 ~ per page ₪ Aemory Utilization 67.5% 12.9% 18.9% 60.1% 63.7%	 Paneraja Koj cPUs 22 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 32 	рра Д. Э 5
≡ ©	Kubernetes	OPERATE > Virtualization > General Hosts Virtual N Virtual N Name : O bb09-essi-3 filepo O bb09-essi-3 filepo O bb09-essi-3 filepo O bb09-essi-3 filepo O bb09-essi-3 filepo O bb09-essi-3 filepo O bb09-essi-3 filepo	Datastores > Auchines Virtue Datacenter BB09-0C BB09-0C BB09-0C BB09-0C BB09-0C BB09-0C	Software al Machine Templates	CPU Gapacity : CPU 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz - 73.60 GHz -	U Utilization A 5.9% 9.5% 15.2% 18.3% 2.4%	C P Capacity 5 items found Aemory Capacity 1 382.66 GB 382.66 GB 190.66 GB 190.66 GB 190.66 GB 190.66 GB	Q ③ 10 ∼ per page € Aemory Utilization 67.5% 12.9% 18.9% 60.1% 63.7%	 Paniraja Koj c 1 of 1 > 2 CPUs 32 32	ррра <u>Д</u> Ф 7

Procedure 9. Target Claim for NetApp

- **Step 1.** Navigate to ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target.
- **Step 2.** In Categories, click Storage.
- **Step 3.** Click NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager and click Start.



Step 4. Select the Intersight assist deployed. Provide details.

≡	cisco Intersigh	t	ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target				₽				
<u>01o</u>											
ø			{õ	2	Manager	app Active IQ Unified Target					
×			~	ŝ	To claim any or Appliance is re	premises target an Intersight Assist quired. Deploy and claim an Assist					
Ľ					Appliance if ne	eded before claiming the target			_		
P	ADMIN		This target is intended for the functionality of Int	ntersight Orch	hestrator						
	Targets		Intersight Assist *								
	Software Repository		assist-prod.flexpod.cisco.com			bb09-aiqum.flexpod.cisco.com					
			admin					٩			
			Secure O								

Step 5. Click Claim.

After a few minutes, the NetApp ONTAP Storage will appear in the Storage tab.

	cisco Intersight	OPERATE > Storage			٥	B 4 0	🕘 💿 Paniraja Koppa 🔔
<u>olo</u>		★ All Storage ⊕ +					
ø	OPERATE ^	I 9. Add Filter					v perpage K € 1 of 1 5 5
				Model :			
			NetApp	AFF-A300	NetApp ONTAP 9.9 1P1	174.99 TiB	
	Fabric Interconnects		NetApp	FDvM300	NetApp ONTAP 9.9.1	4.01 TiB	
	Networking						
	HyperFlex Clusters						
	Storage						
	Virtualization						
	Solutions						
	Kubernetes						
×							
Ľ							
P	ADMIN 🗸						



The storage dashboard widgets can also be viewed from Monitoring tab.



Configure Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform

Procedure 1. Connect Cisco Intersight and Terraform Cloud

Step 1. Claim/create a Terraform cloud target by providing relevant Terraform Cloud account details.

Step 2. Create Terraform Cloud Agent target for private clouds so customers install the agent in the datacenter and allow communication with Terraform Cloud.

More information, go to: https://intersight.com/help/saas/features/terraform_cloud/admin

Procedure 2. Generate User Token

As part of adding a target for Terraform Cloud, you must provide the username and API token from the Terraform Cloud settings page.

Step 1. Login to Terraform Cloud and go to User Tokens: <u>https://app.terraform.io/app/settings/tokens</u>

Step 2. Click Create a new API token.

Choose an organization 🗸		0 📃
Settings / Tokens		
USER SETTINGS	Tokens	
Profile Sessions	Your API tokens can be used to access the Terraform Cloud API and perform all the actions your user account is entitled to. For more information, see the user API tokens documentation (2).	
Organizations	Create an API token	
Password		
Two Factor Authentication		
Tokens		

Step 3. Assign a name to remember and save the Token in a secure place.

Create API token	×
Your new API token is displayed below. Treat this token like a password, as it can be used to access your account without a username, password, or two-factor authentication.	
Kitaset de verke, an fan eil, age kanly stigte stadinge begetste finnendet, fingespie eile geseket tergepekkele;	ළු
Warning This token will not be displayed again, so make sure to save it to a safe place.	
Done	

Procedure 3. Claim Terraform Cloud Target

Step 1. Log in to Intersight with the Account Administrator, Device Administrator, or Device Technician privileges.

Step 2. Navigate to ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target.

Step 3. In Categories, click Cloud.

Step 4. Click Terraform Cloud and click Start.



- **Step 5.** Enter a name for the target, your username for the Terraform Cloud, the API token, and a default organization in Terraform Cloud as displayed in the following image.
- **Step 6.** In the Default Managed Hosts, make sure below links are added along with other managed hosts:
 - github.com
 - github-releases.githubusercontent.com

≡	cisco Intersigi	ADMIN > Targets > Claim a New Target				
<u>00</u> 0						
ø		ξÕ.	Claim Te To claim you	r rarget, you must have the proper		
×		~ ~ ¢	credentials fo	or your target type		
Ŀ		Name *				
ē	ADMIN	TFCB				
	Targets	Terraform Cloud Username *		Terraform Cloud API Token *		
	Software Repository	panirajkoppa			<u>0 0</u>	
		Default Terratorm Cloud Organization * cisco-intersight-tme	0	Default Managed Hosts github.com,github-releases.githubusercontent.com	٥	

Table 10. Property details for Terraform Cloud Target

Property	Essential Information
Name	The name you wish to assign to this Intersight Terraform Cloud integration. You can update this field, if required.
Terraform Cloud	The user API token from a Terraform user who is in the owners team in

Property	Essential Information
API Token	Terraform. This is the API token that will be used for the other features.
	The Intersight platform validates if you have the required license for Terraform Cloud on creation. Based on the validation result, the target status is updated in the dashboard (from Claim in progress to Connected). If any validation does not succeed, you will see the Not Connected state. If you see the Not Connected state at. any time, you can see the detail error message when you hover your mouse over the state.
	You can update this field, if required.
Terraform Cloud Username	The User ID in Terraform Cloud whose token was provided in the API Token field.
	You can update this field, if required.
Default Terraform Cloud Organization Name	In Terraform Cloud, a Terraform user can have access to more than one organization. Enter the organization with which Intersight will integrate using SSO. And this will be the default organization that will be used when user doesn't specify one for the other features - Terraform API reverse proxy.
	Validated by the Intersight platform on creation. Based on the validation result, the target status is updated in the dashboard. If you provide a wrong organization name, the target will display the Not Connected state.
	You can update this field, if required.
Default Managed Hosts	Optional. A comma separated list of IP addresses, subnets, or CIDRs that is used by the agent to communicate and execute IaC. Whenever a user creates a new agent, values provided in this list will be used to pre-populate the Managed Host field in the Claim Terraform Cloud Agent wizard.
	Note:
	Updating Default Managed Hosts will not impact existing agents.

If successfully implemented, you will see your Terraform Cloud Target displayed in Intersight as displayed in the following image:

=	cisco Intersight	ADMIN > Targets		٥	<mark>▲</mark> 1 🕜 🕫	9 💮 🎯 Paniraja Kop	pa &
<u>08o</u>	MONITOR					Claim a New Tai	nget
유 ※ 년 •	OPERATE ~ CONFIGURE ~ OPTIMIZE ~ ADMIN ^ Targets	All Targets ● + Add Filter Connection % Connected 7 Claimed 1				found <u>10 ∨</u> perpage ⓒ < <u>1</u> of 1 ≥	Ø
	Software Repository	Name :	Status :	Туре	Claimed Time	Resource Groups	
			Connected	NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager	Oct 22, 2021 12:38		
				VMware vCenter	Nov 1, 2021 2:20 P		
				Intersight Assist	Sep 29, 2021 3:47		
				NetApp ONTAP	Nov 1, 2021 2:21 P		
			O Connected	Cisco DCNM	Jan 7, 2021 6:49 A		
				Terraform Cloud	Dec 4, 2021 1:41 P		
				Intersight Managed Domain	Jul 13, 2021 9.02		
		0 •**	Claimed	HTTP Endpoint	Sep 30, 2021 6:59		
		/ 1				K K 1 of 1 2]]]

Terraform Cloud Agent

To run Terraform configurations in private datacenters that may or may not have direct ingress internet connectivity, Intersight users can enable Terraform Cloud Agent (also referred to as TFC Agent or agent) on Cisco Intersight Assist in the datacenter. The agent is considered to be a global resource within an organization.

You can then invoke deployments on workspaces that are configured in agent mode in Terraform Cloud and the Terraform agents reach the endpoints in private datacenters to perform the required actions.

Terraform Cloud provides a solution for running terraform code in environments which are isolated, on-premises, and/or private. This is done by provisioning an agent called the Terraform Cloud Agent (agent) in the users private environment. The agents are pull based and hence no inbound ports need to be exposed by the private infrastructure.

The Docker image used by the agent is available at the https://hub.docker.com/r/hashicorp/tfcagent/tags. Intersight maintains and updates the agent images as required in an internal Docker registry. The agent is instantiated as Kubernetes pods in an Intersight Assist Appliance.

Note: Once you install Terraform Cloud Agent through Intersight, it becomes the child target of a Terraform Cloud Target. You will not be able to delete the Terraform Cloud Target till all the child Terraform Cloud Agents are deleted.

You can use the Terraform Cloud Agent to run the plans in a private datacenter. By selecting the Claim Terraform Cloud Agent in the Action dropdown for the Terraform Cloud target, you can deploy a Terraform Cloud Agent.

Procedure 4. Add Terraform Cloud Agents

Prerequisites

- Terraform Cloud target.
- Claimed Intersight Assist into Intersight before deploying the Terraform Cloud Agent.

Note: You can only claim 5 agents for each Assist.

Note: After creating the connection to Terraform it is time to spin up a Terraform Agent to execute the Terraform code.

Step 1. Click Claim Terraform Cloud Agent from the drop-down list of your Terraform Cloud Target as displayed in the following image:

=	-ili-ili- cisco Intersight	ADMIN > Targets		٩	▲1 🖸 📢		⑦ Paniraja Koppa	
<u>08o</u>	MONITOR						Claim a New Targ	yet
କ * ଜ୍	OPERATE V CONFIGURE V OPTIMIZE V ADMIN A Targets	* All Targets ● + Add Filter Connection % Claimed 1 Connected 7 One Claimed 1 B One Connected 7				s found 10 🗸 per pa	ge 문 <u>1</u> ef1 [2]	Ø
	Software Repository							
		Name -	Status	Type	Claimed Time	Resource Groups		
				NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager	Oct 22, 2021 12:38			
			Connected	VMware vCenter	Nov 1, 2021 2:20 P			
			 Connected 	Intersight Assist	Sep 29, 2021 3:47			
				NetApp ONTAP	Nov 1, 2021 2:21 P			
				Cisco DCNM	Jan 7, 2021 6:49 A			
				Terraform Cloud	Dec 4, 2021 1:41 P			
			Connected	Intersight Managed Domain	Jul 13, 2021 9:02		Edit	
			O Claimed	HTTP Endpoint	Sep 30, 2021 6:59		Unclaim	
							Launch Terraform Cloud	
							Claim Terraform Cloud Age	ent

Step 2. Enter the details for the Terraform Cloud Agent.

Table 11. Property Details for Terraform	Agent
------------------------------------------	-------

Property	Essential Information
Name	The name you wish to assign to this Intersight Terraform Cloud Agent.
Intersight	Cisco Intersight Assist in the datacenter where the Terraform Cloud Agent will be

Property	Essential Information
Assist	deployed. Before claiming an agent target, you must ensure that you have an Assist to claim the agent target.
Terraform Cloud Organization	The organization where the Terraform Cloud Agent will be deployed. The default organization of the Terraform Cloud target is pre-populated for the Agent as well. If not specified, the default TF cloud organization specified in the parent target will be used.
Managed Hosts	This is a list of endpoints that the agent uses to communicate and execute the IaC. This endpoint can either be an IP address, subnet, or a CIDR. The list of endpoints are pre-populated based on the Terraform Cloud Integration's Default Managed Hosts settings. Users can edit the list before saving.
	Recommendation: For specific Terraform Providers (for example, Cisco ACI), you may need to configure Managed Hosts with <u>github.com</u> and <u>githubusercontent.com</u> . You can modify the list of Managed Hosts at any time.
Terraform Cloud Agent Pool Name	The agent pool to use for agent deployment. Each Agent is associated with a pool. You can use an existing pool.
	You can also have the Intersight platform create a new pool for you.

≡	رابیان Intersigi داده	nt	ADMIN > Targets > TFCB				Q 🔺 1	ß	₽	٩,	٢	0	Paniraja Koppa 🗕
<u>00o</u>					Claim To	erraform Agent	Tarnet						
0	OPERATE			{Õ <u>k</u>	Intersight As	ssist must be selected to	o claim a						
×				~ ~ ~	Terraform C created by Ir Terraform C	loud Agent. An agent to ntersight using the crede loud target	ken will be entials from the						
⊵	OPTIMIZE			Nama t	Tenuloini o	ious targes							
þ	ADMIN			ucs-solutions-agent	o								
	Targets												
	Software Repository			Intersight Assist * assist-prod.flexpod.cisco.com									
				Terraform Cloud Organization *		Terraform Cloud Ag	gent Pool Name *						
				cisco-intersight-tme	©	ucs-solutions-age	ent-pool						
				Managed Hosts									
				Hostname / IP Address / Subnets *									
				github.com	<u></u>								
				United and the Address (Schedult									
				github-releases.githubusercontent.com	∍ †î +								
													Claim

Figure 10. Configuration details for Terraform Agent

Note: You can update any Terraform Agent property, if the target is in the Not Connected state and has never gone to the Connected state, prior to this state – this scenario is indicative of a to-ken that has not been generated for the Terraform Agent.

Once the agent validation succeeds and an agent token is generated, you are unable to reconfigure the Organization and/or Agent Pool. Successful deployment of a Terraform Agent is indicated with a status of Connected.

After you have enabled and claimed the Terraform Cloud integration, you can deploy one or more Terraform Cloud Agents in Cisco Intersight Assist. The Terraform Cloud Agent is modeled as a child target of the Terraform Cloud target. When you claim the agent target, you will see a message to indicate that the target claim is in progress.

After a few seconds, the target is moved to the Connected state, the Intersight platform routes HTTPS packets from the agent to the Terraform Cloud gateway.

Your Terraform Agent should be correctly claimed and should show up under targets as Connected.

=	المانية، Intersight	ADMI	IIN > Targets		۵ 🔺	1 🛛 🕫	9, 😚 🕜 Paniraja K	oppa 🔬
<u>00o</u>	MONITOR						Claim a New	Target
⊛ × ⊵	OPERATE ~ CONFIGURE ~ OPTIMIZE ~	* / / Cor	All Targets (0) + Add Filter nnection % Top Targets by Types %				s found $10 \rightarrow$ per page $\mathbb{K} \subset 1$ of 1	N D D
ģ	ADMIN ^	10	Claimed 1 Connected 8 Connected 8 Connected 1 Connec					
	Software Repository		Name	Status	Туре	Claimed Time	Resource Groups	
				Connected	Terraform Agent	2 minutes ago		
				Connected	NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager	Oct 22, 2021 12:38		
					VMware vCenter	Nov 1, 2021 2:20 P		
					Intersight Assist	Sep 29, 2021 3:47		
					NetApp ONTAP	Nov 1, 2021 2:21 P		
					Cisco DCNM	Jan 7, 2021 6:49 A		
					Terraform Cloud	Dec 4, 2021 1:41 P		
					Intersight Managed Domain	Jul 13, 2021 9:02		
		0	ec2	Claimed	HTTP Endpoint	Sep 30, 2021 6:59	*	
		1	ũ.				底 <u>1</u> of 1	2 X

Figure 11. Terraform Agent listed under Targets

Configure Public Cloud Service Provider

Public Cloud Service Provider environment preparation

The following tables can be used to capture the environment details of your Public Cloud service provider. These parameters will be used for the solution configuration.

Table 12. General information sheet

AWS information	Your value
AWS access key	
AWS secret key	

Table 13. Network information sheet for Connector and CVO deployment as a Single Node or HA in Single Availability Zone

AWS information	Your value
Region	
VPC	
Subnet	
Security group (if using your own)	

AWS information	Your value
Region	
VPC	
Subnet	
Security group (if using your own)	
Node 1 availability zone	
Node 1 subnet	
Node 2 availability zone	
Node 2 subnet	
Mediator availability zone	
Mediator subnet	
Key pair for the mediator	
Floating IP address for cluster management port	
Floating IP address for data on node 1	
Floating IP address for data on node 2	
Floating IP address for data for SVM management	
Route tables for floating IP addresses	

Table 14. Network information sheet for CVO deployment as a HA in Multi Availability Zone

Procedure 5. VPC endpoint gateway

A VPC endpoint gateway is required to enable the connection between the VPC and the AWS S3 service. This is used to enable the backup on CVO, an endpoint with the Gateway type.

- Step 1. Login to AWS management console and go to VPC.
- Step 2. Under Virtual Private Cloud, click Endpoints and Create Endpoint.
- Step 3. Select AWS services under Service category and search for 's3'.

Service category	0	AWS services							
	0	Find service by name							
	0	Your AWS Marketplace services							
Service Name com.amazonaws.us-east-1.s3 🚯									
	-								
		Q search : s3 O Add filter							
		Service Name Owner Type							
		 com.amazonaws.s3-global.accesspoint 	amazon	Interface					
		 com.amazonaws.us-east-1.s3 	amazon	Gateway					
		com.amazonaws.us-east-1.s3	amazon	Interface					

Step 4. Select the Type Gateway, your VPC, and the associated route table.

Step 5. Leave the Policy section to default Full Access, then click Create endpoint. A message stating, "Endpoint created successfully" will be displayed and the status will be marked as "Available."

Procedure 6. Access the NetApp Cloud Manager

To access the NetApp Cloud Manager and other cloud services you need to sign up on <u>NetApp Cloud</u> <u>Central</u>.

Note: You need an account that has permission to deploy the Connector in your cloud provider directly from Cloud Manager. You can download the Cloud Manager policy from <u>here</u>.

Step 1. Sign up on NetApp Cloud Central to access NetApp's cloud services.

Step 2. Launch <u>NetApp Cloud Central</u> from your web browser and click Sign Up.

Log In to NetApp Cloud Central	
Already signed up? Login	
Email	
Password	
Company	
Full Name	
Phone	*optional
SIGN UP	
I accept the terms and conditions.	

Step 3. Wait for an email from NetApp Cloud Central and click the link to verify the email address.

Step 4. Launch <u>Cloud Manager</u> on the same web browser.

Step 5. Log in using your NetApp Cloud Central credentials.

Continue to Cloud Manager
Log In to NetApp Cloud Central
Don't have an account yet? Sign Up
Email
Password
LOGIN
Forgot your password?

Step 6. On the Fabric View click Go to Cloud Manager.

					Pani 🛩
	Fabr	ic View			
		aws	۵	=	
	Microsoft Azure	Amazon Web Services	Google Cloud Platform	On-Premises	
CVS-AWS/GCP & ANF Get Started	The industry's leadin	g Network File System (NFS/S	SMB) service in the cloud		
Cloud Volumes ONTAP Go to Cloud Manager	Simple & Fast Enterp	orise Cloud Storage			
Cloud Backup Service Go to Cloud Backup	Fully integrated servi protection and long-	ice for Cloud Volumes ONTAF term archive of your cloud da	e that delivers backup and resto ata. Available automatically via (ore capabilities for Cloud Manager	
Cloud Insights Start Free Trial	Innovate faster with	insights across your applicati	on infrastructure stack		
Go to Cloud Data Sense	Hybrid cloud and on	-premises data discovery, ma	pping, and classification.		

Step 7. When you first access Cloud Manager, you're prompted to select or create a Cloud Central account. This account provides multi-tenancy and enables you to organize users and resources in isolation workspaces. Provide the account name and click Create Account.

Hi Admin, Welcome to Cloud Manager	Let's get started by creating an account for your organization. If your organization already has an existing account, it's best to ask the account admin to add
	Account Name
2 m - 1 m	Create Account

Note: For setting up workspaces and users in the Cloud Central account click here.

Procedure 7. Deploy Connector

Before adding a Cloud Volume ONTAP working environment a Connector needs to be deployed. Cloud Manager will prompt you if you try to create your first CVO working environment without a connector in place.

Note: If you don't want Cloud Manager to automatically create an IAM role for the Connector, then you'll need to create your own using this <u>policy</u>

Step 1. Click Add Working Environment.

 Cloud Man	ager			Account UCS_Solu		Workspace ∽ CVO-DR	Connect N/A	or ~		¢	ŵ	0	8
Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Ser	rvices (+	+7) ~			
Canva	IS												
				(⊕)								
		Let's	Add Yo	our First Wor	king Env	ironment							
		This (Cloud Volumes ONT	is how you	deploy, allocate or di	scover your clo	oud storage.	uckets)						
		(cloud volumes on).	nr, ciddd vi	ordines betvice, Fax i	or oreiter, one	premonitive of 35 u	ookees)						
				Add Working Envi	ronment								

Step 2. Select Amazon Web Services and click Cloud Volume ONTAP, then click Next.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) ~
Add Worki	ng Environme	nt						
				9	•			
		Microsoft Azure	Amazon W	eb Services	Google Cloud Platform	On-	Premises	
-				Choose T	ype			
	0	T.	0					
	0		0		Core			A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
	Cloud Volumes	ONTAP Clou	d Volumes O	NTAP HA	Amazon FSx for C	ONTAP	Kubern	etes Cluster
	Single Nod		High Availabi	lity	High Availabili	SY .	×	anaged
	\sim							
				Next				

Step 3. On the Add Connector page click Let's Start.



Step 4. Click Next and provide the details.

Add Connector - AWS	Need Help?	×
Get Ready (2) AWS Credentials (3) Details (4) Network (5) Security Group (6) Review		
Get Ready		
To deploy a Connector, you'll need the following: • An AWS access key and secret key for an IAM user who has the required permissions • VPC, subnet, and keypair in your AWS region of choice. Need help? Check out our step-by-step documentation. Want to run the Connector in your own network? ✓		
Previous Next		

- **Step 5.** Enter AWS Access Key, Secret Key and select the region where you want to deploy the Connector.
- **Step 6.** Provide the Instance name and click the Create role option to let Cloud Manager to create new role.
- **Step 7.** Specify the VPC, subnet, key pair and select Use subnet settings (Disable).
- Note: The subnet should have internet connectivity through NAT device or proxy server

- **Step 8.** On the Security Group page create a new security group or can use an existing security group which allow inbound HTTP, HTTPs and SSH access.
- **Step 9.** Review the configuration and click Add. The entire deployment process should take about 5 minutes to complete.
- Note: During Connector deployment no other Cloud Manager features will be available

A message stating "Connector deployed successfully" will be displayed on the screen.

Automated Deployment of Hybrid Cloud NetApp Storage

Set up environment prerequisites

The automation of creating CVO clusters, SnapMirror configurations between on-premises volume and Cloud volume, creating a cloud volume etc. are performed using Terraform configuration. These Terraform configurations will be hosted on Terraform Cloud for Business account. Using Intersight Cloud Orchestrator, you will orchestrate tasks like creating workspace in Terraform Cloud for Business account, add all required variables to workspace, execute Terraform Plan and Apply and so on.

For these automation and orchestration tasks, there are few requirements and input data which are described below:

GitHub Repository

You need a GitHub account to host your Terraform code. Intersight Orchestrator will create a new Workspace in the Terraform Cloud for Business account. This workspace will be configured with Version control workflow. For this purpose, we need to keep the Terraform configuration in a GitHub repository and provide it as an input while creating the workspace.

GitHub link below provides the Terraform configuration with various resources. You can fork this repository and make a copy in your GitHub account.

Link: https://github.com/ucs-compute-solutions/cvo_snapmirror

In this repository, provider.tf has definition for the required Terraform provider. Terraform provider for NetApp Cloud Manager is used.

```
terraform {
    required_providers {
        netapp-cloudmanager = {
            source = "NetApp/netapp-cloudmanager"
        }
    }
    provider "netapp-cloudmanager" {
        refresh_token = var.cloudmanager_refresh_token
}
```

variables.tf has all the variable declarations. The value to these variables are input as Intersight Cloud Orchestrator's workflow input. This provides a convenient way to pass values to workspace and execute Terraform configuration.

```
#Variables for netapp-cloudmanager provider
variable "cloudmanager_refresh_token" {
  description = "Refresh token. Obtain it from: https://services.cloud.netapp.com/refresh-token"
}
variable "connector_id" {
  description = "The client ID of the Cloud Manager Connector. Get it from https://cloudmanager.netapp.com"
3
#Variables to get details of FlexPod environment
variable "name_of_on-prem-ontap" {
  description = "Name of the On-premise ONTAP"
}
#Variables to create a SINGLE NODE CVO Cluster on AWS
variable "name_of_cvo_cluster" {
  description = "The name of the Cloud Volumes ONTAP working environment"
}
variable "cvo_admin_password" {
  default = "The admin password for Cloud Volumes ONTAP"
```

resources.tf defines various resources to add a on-premises ONTAP to working environment, create a single node or highly available CVO cluster on AWS, establish SnapMirror relationship between on-prem and CVO, create a cloud volume on CVO and so on.

Based on your requirement, you can edit this file and make necessary changes. For example, if you like to setup HA for CVO cluster instead of single node CVO, you can un-comment the necessary resource block and comment the resource block to create single node CVO cluster.

You can add additional resource block to create multiple volumes on Cloud Volumes ONTAP or use count or for_each Terraform constructs.



#Data source to get f	etach details of FlexPod details
data "netapp-cloudman	ager_cvo_aws" "on-prem-ontap" {
name = var.nam	e_of_on-prem-ontap
client_id = var.con	nector_id
}	
#Resource to create a	SINGLE NODE CVO Cluster on AWS
resource "netapp-clou	dmanager_cvo_aws" "cvo-aws" {
client_id	= var.connector_id
name	<pre>= var.name_of_cvo_cluster</pre>
svm_password	<pre>= var.cvo_admin_password</pre>
region	= var.region
<pre>subnet_id</pre>	= var.subnet
vpc_id	= var.vpc_id
writing_speed_state	= "NORMAL"
license_type	<pre>= var.license_type</pre>
}	
/*	
#Resource to create a	Highly available CVO Cluster on AWS
resource "netapp-clou	dmanager_cvo_aws" "cvo-aws-ha" {
name	= var.name_of_cvo_cluster
region	= var.region
vpc_id	= var.vpc_id
svm_password	= var.cvo_admin_password
client_id	= var.connector_id
is_ha	= true
failover_mode	= var.failover_mode

#Resource to establish snapmirror relationship between on-prem and CVO
<pre>resource "netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror" "cl-snapmirror" {</pre>
<pre>source_working_environment_id = data.netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_aws.on-prem-ontap.i</pre>
<pre>destination_working_environment_id = netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_aws.cvo-aws.id</pre>
<pre>source_volume_name = var.source_volume</pre>
<pre>source_svm_name = var.source_storage_vm_name</pre>
<pre>destination_volume_name = var.destination_volume</pre>
<pre>destination_svm_name = netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_aws.cvo-aws.svm_name</pre>
policy = "MirrorAllSnapshots"
schedule = var.schedule_of_replication
<pre>max_transfer_rate = "102400"</pre>
client_id = var.connector_id
}
#Resource to create a cloud volume on CVO
<pre>resource "netapp-cloudmanager_volume" "cvo-volume-nfs" {</pre>
client_id = var.connector_id
volume_protocol = "nfs"
name = var.name_of_volume_to_create_on_cvo
size = 1
unit = "GB"
<pre>provider_volume_type = "gp2"</pre>
export policy type = "custom"
export policy ip = ["0.0.0.0/0"]
export policy nfs version = ["nfs4"]
working environment id = netann-cloudmanager cvg aws.cvg-aws.id
}

Procedure 8. OAuth Token ID

To connect Terraform workspaces, modules, and policy sets to git repositories containing Terraform configurations, Terraform Cloud needs access to your GitHub.

Add a client and the OAuth Token ID of the client will be used as one of the Intersight Cloud Orchestrator's workflow input.

Step 1. Login to your Terraform Cloud for Business Account. Navigate to Settings > Providers.

Step 2. Click Add a VCS provider.

Cisco-intersight-tme 🗸 Workspaces	Registry Usage Settings HashiCorp	Cloud Platform 🛛	0
cisco-intersight-tme / Settings / VCS Providers			
			_
Organization settings	VCS Providers	Add a VCS pro	ovider
General			
Tags			
Teams			
Users			
Variable sets			
Integrations			
Cost estimation			
Policies			
Policy sets			
Run tasks Beta			
Security			
Agents			
API tokens			
Authentication			
SSH keys			
SSO			
Version control			
General	diameter and the second		
Events			
Providers			

Step 3. Select your version.

isco-intersight-tme / Settings / VCS Providers / /	Add VCS Provider				
Organization settings	Add VCS P	rovider			
General					
Tags	To connect workspace	es, modules, and policy	sets to git repositories	containing Terraform configuration	ons, Terraform Cloud needs access to your version control
Teams	system (VCS) provider documentation on Co	 Use this page to configuring Version Contri ofiguring Version Contri 	igure OAuth authenticati	on with your VCS provider. For m	nore information, please see the Terraform Cloud
Users		inguing terester out			
Variable sets Beta	Connect to VC	s	③ Set up	provider	3 Set up SSH keypair
Integrations					
Cost estimation	Choose a versi	ion control prov	rider to connect		
Policies	Choose the version co	ontrol provider you wou	ld like to connect.		
Policy sets		1			
Run tasks Beta	G GitHub V	🖊 GitLab 🗸	Bitbucket ~	▲ Azure DevOps ✓	
	VERSION				
	GitHub Enterprise				
Security	Bernard Barner Barner Barner	The second s			
Security Agents	GitHub.com (Custor	m)			
Security Agents API tokens	GitHub.com (Custor	m)			
Security Agents API tokens Authentication	GitHub.com (Custor	m)			

Step 4. Follow the steps under Set up provider:

o connect workspaces, modules, and poli ystem (VCS) provider. Use this page to co ocumentation on Configuring Version Cor	cy sets to git repositories containing Terraform con nfigure OAuth authentication with your VCS provide ntrol Access 亿.	figurations, Terraform Cloud needs access to your version control er. For more information, please see the Terraform Cloud
Connect to VCS	2 Set up provider	3 Set up SSH keypair
Set up provider		
or additional information about connectir	ig to GitHub.com to Terraform Cloud, please read o	ur documentation 🛛.
. On GitHub, register a new OAuth Applica	tion. 🖸 Enter the following information:	
Application name:	Terraform Cloud (cisco-intersight-tme) 省	
Homepage URL:	https://app.terraform.io 省	
Application description:	Any description of your choice	
Authorization callback URL:	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167-	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 😤
Authorization callback URL: . After clicking the "Register application" b	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page.	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page.	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 😰 Enter the Client ID below:
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🙆 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- button, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex.7177bb5a19fe19e27131	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖓 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex. 7177bb5a19fe19e27131	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rrovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex. 7177bb5a19fe19e27131 Next, generate a new client secret and e	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex. 7177bb5a19fe19e27131 . Next, generate a new client secret and en Client Secret	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex. 7177bb5a19fe19e27131 Next, generate a new client secret and en Client Secret ex. gho_3LrzsAoamDoVJYEiPHUteqLi6	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- button, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul nter the value below: N6tU727erq5	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex. 7177bb5a19fe19e27131 Next, generate a new client secret and et Client Secret ex. gho_3LrzsAoamDoVJYEiPHUteqLi6	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- button, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul nter the value below:	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.
Authorization callback URL: After clicking the "Register application" to Name GitHub.com An optional display name for your VCS P Client ID ex. 7177bb5a19fe19e27131 Next, generate a new client secret and ex Client Secret ex. gho_3LrzsAoamDoVJYEiPHUteqLi6	https://app.terraform.io/auth/9fa8f7ad-d968-4167- outton, you'll be taken to the new application's page. rrovider. This is helpful if you will be configuring mul nter the value below: N6tU727erq5	ab3f-0f70cedd54cc/callback 🖄 Enter the Client ID below: Itiple instances of the same provider.

Step 5. You will see the added client in VCS Providers. Make a note of the OAuth Token ID.
Paniraj-GitHub	
Callback URL	https://app.terraform.io/auth/aa8c1f00-8743-43aa-a6a1-dad8387925cd/callback 😰
HTTP URL	https://github.com
API URL	https://api.github.com
Created	Dec 04, 2021 18:13:56 pm
OAuth Token ID	ot-izEJtBm3XKHWvEym 省
Connection	A connection was made on Dec 04, 2021 18:14:01 pm by authenticating via OAuth as GitHub user pkoppa , which assigned an OAuth token for use by all Terraform Cloud users in the cisco-intersight-tme organization.
	You can add a private SSH key to this connection to be used for cloning git submodules.
	Edit Client Delete client

Refresh token for NetApp Cloud Manager API operations

In addition to the web browser interface, Cloud Manager has a REST API that provides software developers with direct access to the Cloud Manager functionality through the SaaS interface. The Cloud Manager service consists of several distinct components that collectively form an extensible development platform. The refresh token enables you to generate access tokens which you add to the Authorization header for each API call.

You don't call any API directly, but the netapp-cloudmanager provider uses this refresh token and translates the Terraform resources into corresponding API calls. You will need to generate refresh token for NetApp Cloud Manager API operations.

You can get token from NetApp Cloud Central. Link: <u>https://services.cloud.netapp.com/refresh-token</u>

Figure 12. Refresh Token Generation

NetApp	Fabric View	Paniraja 🛩	2
Fabric View	Refresh Token Generator		
Feature Spotlight	If you log in to Cloud Central with a federated user account and you want to use the APIs, then you need to generate a refresh token. The refresh token enables you to generate access tokens which you add to the Authorization header for each API call To learn how to use the refresh token to generate an access token, visit the API page		
Products >	Your account already has a valid refresh token. You can use your refresh token to obtain access tokens for API access.		
X Tools >	If your refresh token was lost or stolen, you should revoke it by using the button below. This action will revoke all refresh tokens for your account. You will then be able to generate new refresh tokens.		
API	Revolue Token(s)		
Services Status 🕻			
Contact Us			

Procedure 9. Cloud Manager Connector ID

You need the client ID of the Cloud Manager Connector to create resources on Cloud Manager like creating CVO cluster, configure SnapMirror, and so on.

Step 1. Login to Cloud Manager: https://cloudmanager.netapp.com/

Step 2. Click Connector.

Cloud Manager listing all the deployed connectors is shown below:





 Cloud Manager		Manage Connectors						×
Canvas Replication	:	2 Connectors					۹	
		Connector Name	Status		Cloud Provider	Region		
C⊕⊃ Add Working Environme		aws-connector-cvo-nc	 Active 		aws	US West (N. California)		
		aws-connector-cvo-nv	 Active 		aws	US East (N. Virginia)		

Step 4. Click the ellipses and copy the Connector ID.

ntus ≂	Cloud Provider	포 Region 포
ntus ≂∣	Cloud Provider	ਝ Region
•	211/2	_
Active	dws	US West (N. California)
Active	aws	Go to Local UI 🗷
		Connector Id: .
		Edit URIs
		Remove Connector
4	Active	Active

Develop Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator Workflow

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator is a framework to create and execute complex workflows in Cisco Intersight. A central workflow engine sequences the steps in workflows and automates the execution of workflows. A workflow could be made up of a couple of tasks or could include dozens of them and could also include sub workflows. The Cisco Intersight UI has a workflow designer to visualize a workflow definition and monitor the execution of a workflow.

A workflow is a collection of tasks that are orchestrated to perform certain operations. A workflow is created within an Intersight organization by giving it a name and version. Workflows are uniquely identified by name and version within an organization. When multiple versions of workflows are created, one of them can be marked as the default version. A Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator (ICO) task is a building block of the workflow, and it can perform a simple operation or a sequence of operations including create, update, and delete operations on any target supported by Cisco Intersight. Each IO task is configured by providing the necessary inputs and after a successful execution of the task, the output may be passed onto another task as a required input. Cisco Intersight provides a library of tasks that you can use to compile a workflow. Each task acts as an independent executable entity and you can use a task in multiple workflows. A task may perform an operation in Cisco Intersight, or it may use the Device Connector at the targets to carry out operations on external devices. A task uses the provided inputs, performs the operation, and produces outputs that can be passed to another task in the workflow. A task typically comprises these elements: Name, Label, Description, Inputs, and Outputs. The task labels and descriptions convey the intent and usage of the tasks. In addition to a library of supported tasks, Intersight Cloud Orchestrator provides a list of sample workflows that you can use to build your workflows.

Requirements

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator is available in Cisco Intersight if:

- You have installed the Intersight Premier license.
- You are either an Account Administrator, Storage Administrator, Virtualization Administrator, Hyperflex Cluster Administrator, or Server Administrator and have a minimum of one server assigned to you.
- You are a user with either Storage Administrator, Virtualization Administrator, Server Administrator or Workflow Designer privileges assigned, and have a minimum of one server assigned to you.

Workflow Designer

The Workflow Designer helps you create new workflows (as well as tasks and data types) and also edit existing workflows to manage targets in Cisco Intersight.

To launch the Workflow Designer, go to Orchestration > Workflows. A dashboard displays the following details under these tabs; My Workflows, Sample Workflows, and All Workflows:

- Validation Status
- Last Execution Status
- Top Workflows by Execution Count
- Top Workflow Categories
- Number of System Defined Workflows
- Top Workflows by Targets

Using the dashboard, you can create, edit, clone, or delete a tab. To create your own custom view tab, click + and specify a name and then select the required parameters that need to be displayed in the columns, tag columns, and widgets. You can rename the tabs if it does not have a Lock icon.

Under the dashboard is a tabular list of workflows displaying the following information:

• Display Name

- Description
- System Defined
- Default Version
- Executions
- Last Execution Status
- Validation Status
- Last Update
- Organization

The Actions column allows you to do the following actions:

- Execute-Executes the workflow.
- History–Displays workflow execution history.
- Manage Versions—create and manage versions for workflows. See Managing Versions for Workflows later in this document.
- Delete-Delete a workflow.
- Retry-Retry a failed workflow.

Workflow

Creating a workflow consists of the following steps:

- Defining a workflow-you specify the display name, description, and other important attributes.
- Defining workflow inputs and workflow outputs—you can specify which input parameters are mandatory for the workflow execution, and the output(s) generated on successful execution
- Adding workflow tasks—you can add one or more workflow tasks in the Workflow Designer that are needed for the workflow to carry out its function.
- Validate the workflow-you can validate a workflow to ensure that there are no errors in connecting task inputs and outputs.

Procedure 10. Define a workflow

Step 1. Click Orchestration from the left navigation pane.

Step 2. Click Create Workflow. The Create Workflow screen is categorized into the following areas to help you create a workflow:

General Tab

Displays workflow details and also inputs and outputs of the workflow.

You can add a user-friendly short name, reference name, description, and assign an organization to the workflow. You can also specify a version or set a tag to the workflow. In order to categorize your workflow, use the tag key Category and provide an appropriate category value.

Select the following checkboxes to:

- Set as Default Version–Sets this version as the default version for the workflow.
- Retriable–Execute the workflow from the point of a failure or retry the execution of the entire workflow. You can retry the execution of the workflow for up to two weeks after the last update to the workflow.
- Enable Debug Logs–Collects the workflow logs for each task. You can analyze and debug the workflow execution.
- Workflow Inputs–You can click Add Input and add workflow inputs. Each input has a userfriendly display name, a reference name, description, restrictions, and data type. Also, you can set a default value and encrypt it.
- Workflow Outputs–You can click Add Output and add workflow outputs. Each output has a userfriendly display name, a reference name, description, restrictions, and data type. Also, you can encrypt a value and map it to task output.

Designer Tab

Displays the design area where you synthesize your workflow.

Categorized into the following areas to help you create a workflow:

- Tools Area–lists all the tasks, workflows, and operations that are currently available in Intersight. You can drag and drop a task or a workflow to the canvas to create or edit the workflow. You can collapse or expand the Tools area. You can use the Search feature to find a specific task or workflow.
- Design Area—where you can build your workflow. Drag and drop tasks and workflows from the Tools area to this area of the screen. This area includes the following options that you can use while creating the workflow:
 - Zoom in and Zoom out–Magnify or reduce the view of the workflow.
 - Auto Align Workflow–Automatically align the workflow tasks in the design area.
 - Auto Align Selected Workflow Entities–Align selected workflow entities in the design area.
 - Toggle Task Search–Search for a specific task within the workflow. This is useful when you have several tasks within the workflow.
 - Auto Connect Selected Workflow Entity–Add the workflow entity in the design area. You can
 drag and drop a task in between the tasks. The possible locations where the selected task can
 be added is denoted with + icon.

Mapping Tab

Displays the relationship between the task inputs and the outputs of the selected workflow. Information on workflow inputs and workflow outputs is also displayed.

Expand and collapse the Task Inputs and Task Outputs pane.

Code Tab

Displays the code view of the workflow definition.

Read-only view of the workflow. You can copy the code, use this as a sample to create a workflow using Intersight APIs.

History Tab

Status of the executed/in-progress workflows. This tab appears after executing a workflow.

View workflow execution history, retry or clone a previous execution. The system displays a maximum of 100 instances of the workflow execution. The workflow execution is populated for each version of the workflow. When a workflow is successfully executed, the options for retrying the workflow are not displayed. You can retry a failed workflow only when the Retriable option is enabled in the General tab.

Execute

Launches the Enter Workflow Inputs window. Select the Organization and the Workflow instance name to execute the workflow. For user-created workflows, the organization must match where it was created.

Save Workflow

Validates and saves the workflow. Review validation errors, if any, and rectify them.

Close Designer

Closes the Workflow Designer. Closes the Workflow Designer and displays the table view of available workflows.

Requests

Requests are closely related to workflows. You create requests by running workflows; a request is generated every time you execute a workflow in Cisco Intersight. A request is a process under the control of Cisco Intersight.

You can schedule a workflow for later execution, and Cisco Intersight stores details of completed requests. To view the detailed information of a request, select a request. The following information is displayed in the Requests screen:

- Status–Displays the status of a workflow. Request can have one of several states depending on its execution status:
 - Running
 - Blocked (for example, awaiting an approval)
 - · Completed
 - · Failed (a request can fail when one of its component tasks fails to execute properly)
- Details-Displays the request details such as name, request ID, target name and type, source name and type, name of the user who has executed the request along with the start time and end time, and duration of the request.
- Inputs-Displays the workflow input details
- Outputs-Displays the workflow output details
- Execution Flow–Enable Show Additional Details to view the logs, input, and output mapping details of the user-defined workflows. Displays the workflow execution history details similar to the details displayed in the History tab.

Terraform Cloud Integration with ICO

You can use Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator (ICO) to create and execute workflows that call Terraform Cloud (also referred to as TFC) APIs. The Invoke Web API Request task supports Terraform Cloud as a target, and it can be configured with Terraform Cloud APIs using HTTP methods. So, the workflow can have a combination of tasks that calls multiple Terraform Cloud APIs using generic API tasks and other operations. You will need a Premier license to use the ICO feature.

For example, you can have a task in the workflow to run a plan on a Terraform Cloud workspace that creates a VM on a private or public cloud and another task to get the output from the run (for example, IP address of the VM) and display the IP address as the workflow output. Provider credentials are implemented as part of the Terraform Cloud configuration or workspace variables.

You can also invoke Terraform Cloud scripts through ICO Workflows. This mode of operation allows solutions to be incorporated using Intersight Workflows along with Terraform Cloud actions. For example, you can set up a private infrastructure on a VMware Datacenter using Terraform Cloud Agent.

The following Terraform Cloud configurations are available with the supported APIs:

- Terraform Cloud configuration executed on public cloud
- Terraform Cloud configuration executed on a datacenter

TFC-ICO Integration: Out-of-Box ICO Workflows

The out-of-the-box workflows identified below are available to IST users.

Add Terraform Workspace

Below are the inputs for this Workflow:

- Terraform Cloud Target. Select a Terraform cloud target by clicking Select Terraform Cloud Target.
- Terraform Organization Name (Mandatory). Select an organization by clicking Select Terraform Organization Name
- Workspace Name (Mandatory)
- Workspace Description
- Select your workflow (Mandatory)
- Execution Mode indicates whether to use Terraform Cloud as the Terraform execution platform for this workspace:
 - Remote (default): The plans and applies occur on Terraform Cloud's infrastructure.
 - Local: The plans and applies occur on platforms you control. Terraform Cloud is only used to store and synchronize the state.
 - Agent: Terraform Cloud manages the plans and applies your agents execute. If you select Agent Execution Mode, you need to select an agent pool. To select an agent pool, click Select Agent Pool.
- Apply Method indicates whether or not Terraform Cloud should automatically apply a successful Terraform plan.
 - Manual (default): Requires an operator to confirm the result of the Terraform plan before applying it.
 - Automatic: Automatically applies changes when a Terraform plan is successful.
- User Interface: Selects the user experience for displaying plan and apply details:
 - Structured Run Output (default): Enables the advanced run user interface.
 - Console UI: Uses traditional console-based run logs.
- Share State Globally: A checkbox that shares the state of the workspace with the entire organization.

If you create a Version Control Workflow (VCW) workspace type, the following fields display:

- Repository Name (Mandatory)
- OAuth Token ID (Mandatory)
- Terraform Working Directory

- Automatic Run Triggering Options
- Automatic Speculative Plans
- VCS Branch
- Include the submodules on the clone

Output fields:

- Workspace ID
- Workspace Name
- Organization Name
- Workspace Workflow Type
- Execution Mode
- Agent Pool ID
- Agent Pool name
- User Interface
- Apply Method
- Error message (if workflow execution fails)

The workflow Add Terraform Workspace now supports Rollback. You can use this feature to delete the workspace from the Terraform Cloud.

The system executes the workflow in the following order:

- 1. Creates the workspace, Workspace Name, under the Organization Terraform Organization Name.
- 2. Return the Workspace ID or failure reason.

For more information, go to: <u>https://www.terraform.io/docs/cloud/workspaces/creating.html</u>:

Add Terraform Variables

Add regular (non-sensitive) and sensitive Terraform variables in the Terraform workspace.

A workflow execution failure may result in a state where a few variables may be added, and a few may not be added. If you encounter a failure when adding regular (non-sensitive) variables, the workflow fails, and sensitive variables may not be added.

The workflow Add Terraform Variables now supports Rollback. If a workflow fails execution, you can use the Rollback functionality to remove the variables from the Terraform workspace. Only those variables added as part of the current workflow execution would be removed from the Terraform workspace.

After a successful Rollback, the workspace reaches its previous state. Required regular (non-sensitive) and sensitive variables can be added using the Add Terraform Variables workflow again.

Input fields:

- Terraform Cloud Organization Name
- Workspace Name in this organization
- Regular Variables to be added to this workspace
- Sensitive variables to be added to this workspace
- Both Sensitive and Regular (non-sensitive) variables to be added to this workspace

Output Fields:

- Workspace ID (In the case of successful execution)
- Error message (If workflow execution fails)

The system executes the workflow in the following order:

- 1. Invoke the user-specified workspace for the Terraform Cloud Organization Name.
- 2. Update the values of existing regular (non-sensitive) variables in the terraform workspace.
- 3. Update the values of existing sensitive variables in the terraform workspace.

Start New Terraform Plan

To start a new run in the specified workspace.

Input fields:

- Terraform Cloud Organization Name
- Workspace Name in this organization
- Reason for starting plan
- Plan Operation Can be New Plan or Destroy

Output fields:

- Workspace ID (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Run ID (If workflow is successfully executed)
- Error message (if workflow encounters a failure)

The system executes the workflow in the following order:

1. Invoke the user-specified workspace for the Terraform Cloud Organization Name.

- 2. Start a new plan.
- 3. Return the Run ID.

Confirm Terraform Run

Confirm and apply the Run Waiting for confirmation for a Workspace configured with manual apply. Check the execution state of the Run for a Workspace configured with auto apply.

Input fields:

- Terraform Cloud Organization Name
- Workspace Name in this organization

Output fields:

- Workspace ID (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Workspace Name (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Workspace auto-apply (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Run ID (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Run Final State (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Current State Version (if workflow is successfully executed)
- State Output IDs (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Error message (if workflow encounters a failure)

The system executes the workflow in the following order:

- 1. For the user-specified Terraform workspace, return the ID and the apply configuration of the workspace.
- 2. For a workspace configured with the manual apply method:
 - a. Return the ID of the Run which is Planned/Cost-estimated/Policy-checked state.
 - b. Confirm and apply the Run.
 - c. Check the execution state of the Run every few minutes until the Run reaches one of the final states.
- 3. For workspace configured with the auto-apply method:
 - a. Return the latest run ID.
 - b. Check the execution state of the Run every few minutes until the Run reaches one of the final states.

4. If the apply is successful, return the current state version and the state output IDs. If apply failed, return the error.

Update Terraform Variable

To update existing regular (non-sensitive) and sensitive Terraform variables in the Terraform workspace.

Input fields:

- Terraform Cloud Organization Name
- Workspace Name in this organization
- Regular (non-sensitive) variables to be updated to this workspace
- · Sensitive variables to be updated to this workspace
- Both Sensitive and Regular (non-sensitive) variables to be updated to this workspace

Output fields:

- Workspace ID (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Error message (if workflow encounters a failure)

The system executes the workflow in the following order:

- 1. Invoke the user-specified workspace for the Terraform Cloud Organization Name.
- 2. Update the values of existing regular (non-sensitive) variables in the terraform workspace.
- 3. Update the values of existing sensitive variables in the terraform workspace.

Confirm Terraform User Run

Confirm and apply a Run for a Workspace configured with manual apply. Check the execution state of the Run for a Workspace configured with auto apply.

Note: In this workflow, you do not select either the organization or workspace. You enter the Run ID directly (in the Run ID field) when you enter workflow input.

Input fields:

• Terraform Run ID

Output fields:

- Workspace ID (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Workspace Name (if workflow is successfully executed)

- Workspace auto-apply (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Run ID (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Run Final State (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Current State Version (if workflow is successfully executed)
- State Output IDs (if workflow is successfully executed)
- Error message (if workflow encounters a failure)

The system executes the workflow in the following order:

- 1. For the user-specified run ID, return the workspace ID and the apply configuration of the workspace.
- 2. For workspace configured with manual apply method:
 - a. Confirm and apply the Run.
 - b. Check the execution state of the Run every few minutes until the Run reaches one of the final states.
- 3. For workspace configured with auto apply method:
 - a. Check the execution state of the Run every few minutes until the Run reaches one of the final states.
- 4. If the apply is successful, return the current state version and the state output IDs. If the apply failed, return the error.

Terraform Workspace Configuration and Execution Mode

Workspaces represent running infrastructure managed in Terraform Cloud, if there is an agent associated with that workspace. Be sure to create the Agent in the pool that is associated with the right workspace so the jobs for this workspace are picked up from the HashiCorp side.

Once configured, any workspace owner may configure their workspace to target the organization's agents.

Note: This kind of a configuration may allow a malicious workspace to access state files, variables, or code from other workspaces that target the same agent or may even access sensitive data on the host running the agent.

Cisco recommends carefully considering the implications of enabling agents within an organization and restricting access of your organization to trusted parties.

Execution Mode

In the Terraform Cloud solution, each user must set the appropriate workspace with an appropriate execution mode. For creating any resource in the on-premises data center, Agent execution mode should be set and the pool in which you created the agent.

Exe	cution Mode
lf yo	ou change the execution mode any in progress runs will be discarded.
0	Remote
	Your plans and applies occur on Terraform Cloud's infrastructure. You and your team have the ability to review and collaborate on runs within the app.
0	Local
	Your plans and applies occur on machines you control. Terraform Cloud is only used to store and synchronize state.
\bigcirc	Agent
	Terraform Cloud will manage the plans and applies your agents execute.
	Agent pool
	Ucs-solutions-agent-pool

For creating resources in the cloud (Example: creating resource in AWS, NetApp Cloud Manager), execution mode can be set to Remote.

Create Workflows for Disaster Recovery Solution

In the provided example, two workflows are created. However, Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator supports various tasks for Storage, Compute, Virtualization and so on. Based on specific requirements, you can create workflows with simple drag and drop of tasks and have them triggered from Cisco Intersight; the options are endless.

In this section, two sample workflows are created using Workflow Designer; Configure on-premises FlexPod storage and Disaster Recovery Workflow:

- Configure on-premises FlexPod storage workflow will create a Storage Virtual Machine (SVM) on the FlexPod storage, adds NFS interfaces for each of the storage controller, create a new storage export policy mapped to the Storage Virtual Machine so that it can be applied to volumes created on the SVM.
- Disaster Recovery Workflow will create a Volume in the NetApp array, add NFS storage export
 policy to that volume and map created volume to a datastore in VCenter. The automation of creating CVO clusters and SnapMirror configurations are performed with Terraform using terraform
 provider for netapp-cloudmanager. For this purpose, we have created tasks within our workflow
 which creates a workspace, adds all required variables to it, plan and apply on the integrated
 Terraform Cloud for Business account. This Terraform cloud account is added as target as part
 of Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform.

You also have an option to import sample workflows we created for this solution to your account by importing a JSON file that contains the workflow components. Refer to Importing Cisco built workflow section for details.

Configure on-premises FlexPod storage workflow

The sequence of steps are:

- 1. Define the workflow. A user-friendly short name for the workflow; Configure on-premises FlexPod storage
- 2. Define workflow input. The inputs we take for this workflow are:
 - Volume Options (Volume Name, Mount Path)
 - Volume Capacity
 - Datacenter associated with the new datastore
 - Cluster on which the datastore will be hosted
 - Name for the new datastore to create in VCenter
 - Type and version of the new datastore
 - Name of the Terraform Organization
 - Terraform Workspace.
 - Description of the Terraform Workspace
 - Variables (Sensitive and Non sensitive) required to execute Terraform configuration.
 - Reason for starting the plan
- 3. Adding workflow tasks. The tasks for FlexPod datacenter configuration include:
 - Create a Storage Virtual Machine (SVM)
 - Add NFS interface LIF-01 mapping to storage controller 01
 - Add NFS interface LIF-02 mapping to storage controller 02
 - Create a new storage export policy
 - Map the export policy to Storage Virtual Machine
- 4. Validate the workflow.

Procedure 1. Create Workflow

Step 1. Click Orchestration from the left navigation pane and click Create Workflow.

=	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration		۱ 🗛 ۵		
<u>00</u> 0		Workflows Tasks Data Types			Import	Create Workflow
ø						
×	CONFIGURE ^	My Workflows Sample Workflows ¥ All Workflows				
	Orchestration				- 46 items found 15 V per page S	N
	Profiles	Validation Sta_ Last Executio 7 Top 5 Workflows by Ex Invalid 12 Failed 2	ecution Count Top 5 Workflow Categories matorm Variables #3 Storage 9	System Defin Ves 26	Top 5 Distribution by Targets NetApp Active IQ Unified	
	Templates	Valid 34 Success 289	a CVO Cluster 27 # Migration 12	ad 6 No 20	32 Pure Storage FlashArray 8 VMware vCenter 7 Hitachi Virtual Storage P. 4	
			racsruyname i_ 6 • me 1			
		Display Name :	System Defined Default Version		Validation Status : Last Execution Status	Executions 🖗
10	OPTIMIZE V			Configure on-premise _	@ Valid -	
in the second se	ADMIN				🕞 Valid 🛛 🗸 -	
Ψ.				Expand a datastore o	© Valid -	
		Update Storage Host	Yes 4	Update the storage h_	© Valid -	(a.a)

Step 2. In the General tab:

- Provide the display name. (Configure on-premises FlexPod storage)
- Select the organization.
- Set Tags.
- Provide description.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow	🗘 🔺 1 📝 🗣 🔍 🔞 🕥 Paniraja Koppa 🔔
<u>00o</u>		General Designer Mapping Code	Save the workflow to validate.
Ø		Display Name *	Reference Name *
×	CONFIGURE	Configure on-premises FlexPod storage 0	ConfigureonpremisesFlexPodstorage ©
	Orchestration		Version O 1/default
		default v	Version O I (deraurt)
	Templates	default	
		B809-FlexPod	Description Workflow to configure FlexPod Storage
Ľ		□ Retryable ⊙	
Ð		☐ Enable Debug Logs ○	
		Workflow Inputs Workflow Outputs	
		Add Input	
		No Inpu	ts Defined

Step 3. Click Save.

Procedure 2. Create a new volume in FlexPod

Step 1. Navigate to the Designer tab and from the Tools section click Tasks.



Step 2. From the Tools section in the Design area, drag and drop Storage > New Storage Virtual Machine task into the grid.



Step 3. Click New Storage Virtual Machine. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task.



Step 4. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow		
<u>00</u> 0		General Designer Mapping Code		Save the workflow to validate.
@		⊊ Tools Û		New Storage Virtual Machine ×
~	CONFIGURE ^	Tasks Workflows Operations		General Inputs Outputs
	Profiles	Q, Search		Q, Search
	Templates	New Storage Host Teve Storage Host Group		Storage Device Map
		New Storage IP Interface		value Not Specified
	Pools	New Storage LUN New Storage Virtual Machine	٩	Storage Virtual Machine * O Map
		New Storage LUN ID		
R	OPTIMIZE V	New Storage Pool		Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Options * 💿 Map
٩		New Storage Virtual Machine		
		New Storage Volume		
		Remove Host from Storage Host Group		
		Remove Hosts from Storage Host Group		
		Remove Storage Export Policy		
		Remove Storage Host		
		Remove Storage Host Group		
		Remove Storage LUN		
		Remove Storage LUN ID		
		Remove Storage Pool Success Failed		

Step 5. Click Map in the input field Storage Device.

≡	cisco I	Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow > New Storage Virtual Machine > Storage	ige Device L	ו א ב	ß	₽		Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00</u> 0			~~~	Map Storage Device Task In	put				
ø	OPERATE		ζ <u>οχ</u>						
×	CONFIGURE		~ ℃ ₩						
	Orchestration								
	Profiles		Static value	Unrect Mapping		Adva	iceo mappin		
	Templates		Storage Device * Select Storage Device						
Ľ									
Þ	ADMIN								

Step 6. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Device.

Step 7. Select the FlexPod Storage added to Intersight account as explained in section <u>Add FlexPod</u> <u>components to Cisco Intersight account</u>.

≡	cisco Intersight	on > Create Workflow > New Storage Virtual Machine > 1	Storage Device		▲1 🖂 🕫 🔍	
<u>01o</u>						
ø	OPERATE V	203				Nage 🛛 🤇 1 of 1 🗵 🕅 🥨
×	CONFIGURE A	<i>۲</i> ۰		Add Filter		
	Orchestration			Name	Svplp	Vendor
		Static Value		bb09-a300-1		NetApp
	Templates			bb09-otselect		NetApp
			Selec	ted 1 of 2 Show Selected U		
Ŀ						
(Đ						
						Select

Step 8. Click Map.

Step 9. Click Map in the input field Storage Virtual Machine.

Step 10. Click Direct Mapping and select Workflow Input.

≡	cisco Intersigh			Storage Virtual Machine > Stor	age Virtual Machine	Q 🔺 1				
<u>08o</u>										
ø				ξÕ¥	Map Storage Input	virtual Machine Task				
×	CONFIGURE									
	Orchestration		Static Value	Direct Mapr	ana	Transformed Mapping		Advanced Mappin		
	Profiles									
	Templates		Map the input to the workflo	w input or any of the previous task	k's outputs.					
			Workflow Input	Task Output						
			Innut Name *							
Ľ										
Ð										

Step 11. Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow > New Storage Virtual Machine > Storage Virtual Machine 🗘 🔺 1 📝 🕫 😨 Paniraja Koppa 🧟
<u>00</u> 0		
Ŵ		Map Storage Virtual Machine Task Input
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	
	Profiles	Static Value Direct Mapping Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		Workflow Input Task Output
₽		Create Workflow Input
١		
ē Đ		Create Workflow Input

Step 12. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, String is selected

Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Storage Virtual Machine		StorageVirtualMachineName	
Description			
StorageVirtualMachineName	can be between 🔍		
Value Restrictions			
🛃 Required 🖸			
Collection/Multiple ©			
String			
Min Max		Regex	
1 2 0 47		[0-9A-z_][-A-z0-9]*	
Object Selector O			
Set Default Value O			
		Cancel	Add

- **Step 13.** Click Set Default Value and Override.
- Step 14. Click Required.
- **Step 15.** Provide a default value for Storage Virtual Machine.
- Step 16. Click Add.

Display Name * Storage Virtual Machine	Reference Name * StorageVirtualMachineName	
Description StorageVirtualMachineName ca	n be betweer ©	
Value Restrictions		
Required 🛈		
Collection/Multiple O		
Туре		
String		
Min Max	Regex	
<u>1 5 6 47</u>	<u>©</u> [<u>0-9A-z_][-A-z0-9]*</u>	
Secure ⊙		
Object Selector ⊙		
🔽 Set Default Value 🛈		
🕑 Override 💿		
Default Values *		
Storage Virtual Machine * SVM_SVO_Integration		

Step 17. Click Map.

Step 18. Click Map in the input field Storage Virtual Machine Options.

Step 19. Click Direct Mapping and select Workflow Input.

Step 20. Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

=	cisco Intersigh	••• > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage Virtual Machine		A 1					
<u>080</u>			Man Olamana Vandari Vistaal						
ø	OPERATE	{ ` }	Machine Options Task Input						
×	CONFIGURE	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~							
	Orchestration	Static Value	Direct Mapping		Adva	nced Mappir	10		
	Profiles						1911		
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's	outputs.						
	Policies	Workflow Input Task Output							
		invit Nama *							
Ŀ		Create Workflow Input							
œ۵		Storage Virtual Machine							

Step 21. In the Add Input wizard:

• Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)

- Click Required
- Make sure for Type, Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Options is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override
- Select Platform Type as NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager

Add Input			
Display Name * Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Options		Reference Name * StorageVendorVirtualMachineOptions	
Description Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Options			
Value Restrictions			
Required Collection/Multiple			
Type Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Options 🗸	0		
Set Default Value 🛇			
✓ Override ⊙			
Default Values *			
Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Options			
Platform Type ①			
O Pure O Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform		NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager	None

• Provide all configuration details for Storage Virtual Machine

Add Input				
⊖ Pure ⊖ I FlashArray ⊖ F	Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform	NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager		None
NetApp Virtual Machine Optio	ns			
Storage VM Protocols *				
NFS				
Management Interface Detail:	5			
Interface Name				
svm-mgmt				
nterface IPv4 IP address				
192.168.166.31				
Interface IPv4 Subnet Mask				
255.255.255.0				
Broadcast Domain				
Default				
HomeNode Name				
bb09-a300-1-01				
Route Destination IPv4 Gate 192.168.166.254	eway			
			Add	
			Aut	

- Click Add.
- Step 22. Click Map.
- **Step 23.** Use Connector and connect between Start and New Storage Virtual Machine tasks and click Save.



Ignore the error for now. The error is shown because there is no connectivity between tasks New Storage Virtual Machine and Success which is required to specify the successful transition.

This completes the first task of provisioning a new Storage Virtual Machine. Next, you'll add interfaces to the created Storage Virtual Machine and enable NFS access.

Procedure 3. Add interfaces for NFS access

You will create two logical interfaces (LIFs) mapped to each of the storage controller node.

- Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from Tools section.
- **Step 2.** Drag and drop Storage > New Storage IP Interface task from the Tools section in the Design area.

Note: In this example, we provided static values to configure the interface name, its IP, and other interface configurations. If required, you can enter Workflow input as described in the previous task of creating storage virtual machine.



Step 3. Click New Storage IP Interface. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task. In this example, we changed the name of the task to Add NFS LIF - 01.





Step 4. Use Connector and connect between New Storage Virtual Machine and Add NFS LIF – 01 tasks.

Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.

Step 6. Click Map in the input field Storage Device.



Step 7. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Device.

=	cisco Intersight			IP Interface > Storage Device						
<u>00</u> 0				n Storage Device Task In	out					
Ŵ	OPERATE		ξÕχ ^m	p Storage Device Task III	μαι					
×	CONFIGURE		~ ~ €							
	Orchestration		Static Value	Direct Mannion		Advar	ced Mannir	10		
				on cor mapping			eeu mappi			
	Templates		Storage Device * Select Storage Device							
Ľ										
Ţ										

Step 8. Click the FlexPod Storage added to Intersight account as explained in section <u>Add FlexPod</u> <u>Components to Intersight Account</u>.







Step 10. Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Virtual Machine.



Step 11. Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.

Step 12. Click Task Name and click the task New Storage Virtual Machine

≡	cisco Intersight			ice > Stora	ge Vendor Virtual Machine						
<u>00o</u>					Man Storage Vander	Virtual					
Ŷ	OPERATE		र्द	C & C	Machine Task Input	virtuai					
×	CONFIGURE			్రి							
	Orchestration	Static V	alue		Direct Mapping		Adva	inced Mappir	10		
	Profiles								-		
	Templates	 Map the input to the wo 	rkflow input or any of the	e previous tas	k's outputs.						
		Workflow Input	Task Output								
		Task Name *		Output Nar							
⊵		New Storage Virtual Machir	ne								
ģ											
	"										

Step 13. Click Output Name and click the output Storage Virtual Machine.







- **Step 15.** Click Map in the input field IP Interface Name.
- **Step 16.** Click Static Value and input the name for the first interface.

≡	cisco	Intersight		CONFIGURE > Orchestratio	on > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage	> Edit > New S	itorage IP Interface	> IP Interface Name	٥	ß	¢	Q,	0	0	Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00</u> 0								.							
ø						£0}e	Map IP Inte	erface Name Tas	k Input						
×	CONFIGURE					کی ک									
	Orchestratio				Static Value	Direct Man	nina -	Transformed M	anning		Advanced	Manoina			
	Profiles				Static Yange	олест мар	hing	Transionned ini	ipping		Auvanceu	mapping			
					IP Interface Name * nfs-lif-01		<u>©</u>								
Ľ															
¢	ADMIN		~												

- Step 17. Click Map.
- **Step 18.** Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor IP Interface Options.
- **Step 19.** Click Static Value and make sure NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager is selected as Platform Type.
- **Step 20.** The Input node to which the LIF is mapped in the Location Home Node, Port number in the Location Home Port, and the Location Broadcast Domain contains the home port of the logical interface. Click NFS for Storage VM Protocols.

=	cisco Intersight	> Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage IP Interface > Storage Vendor IP Interface Options 🗘 🗹 📢 📀 💿	
<u>⊪</u> ₽		Map Storage Vendor IP Interface Options Task Input	
Â	Orchestration	State Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Profiles Templates Policies Pools	Storage Vendor IP Interface Options Platform Type © Putry Putry NetApp Pittorm Type @ Putry Acting Acting One Pittorage Pit	
⊵		NetApp IP Interface Options	
¢		Location Home Node bb09-a300-1-01 ©	
		Location Home Port a0b-3055 ©	
		Location Broadcast Domain SVM_Local_Volumes_ONTAP-NFS ©	
		Storage VM Protocols NFS × × © +	

- Step 21. Click Map.
- **Step 22.** Click Map in the input field Interface IP Address.
- **Step 23.** Click Static Value and input the IP address for the first interface.

≡	cisco Inters	ight	nfigure on-premises FlexPod storage		Interface > Interface IP Address			₽ ²		
<u>00o</u>					Man Interface ID Address T	- ek				
ø				ξÕμ.	Input	asĸ				
×	CONFIGURE			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~						
	Orchestration		Static Value		Direct Mapping		Advance	ed Mapping		
	Templates		Interface IP Address * 192.168.55.18		0					
⊵										
Þ										

Step 24. Click Map.

Step 25. Click Map in the input field Interface Netmask.

≡	cisco Intersigi	nt	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage IP Interface > Interface Netmask 🗘 🖸 🖓 🍳 🧿 🔞 Paniraja Kop	
<u>00o</u>			Has later from Hatmanh Tardy Jacob	
ø	OPERATE			
×	CONFIGURE			
	Orchestration		Static Value Direct Manning Advanced Manning	
			Interface Netmask * 0	
Ľ				
Þ				

Step 26. Click Map.

Step 27. Click Save.



Note: This completes the task of adding the first interface. Next, you will create another interface mapped to second storage controller node.

Step 28. Repeat steps 1 - 27 to create another interface and map it to the second storge controller node. Make sure task name, interface name, IP address are different. Use Connector and connect between tasks Add NFS LIF - 01 and Add NFS LIF - 02

Task Name:



Interface Name:

=	cisco Intersigh					IP Interface Name					
<u>00o</u>						and Name Task					
ø				202	Map IP Inter	ace Name Task	Input				
×	CONFIGURE			~ ~							
	Orchestration		Paralle Mahar						and Manajan		
	Profiles		Static Value	Direct Mapp	ing	I ransformed Map;	xing	Advar	ced mapping		
	Templates		IP Interface Name * rfs-lif-02		<u>o</u>						
⊵											
Ţ											

Interface Options:
=	cisco Inter	sight	> Configure on premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage IP Interface > Storage Vendor IP Interface Options 🗘 😰 🕫 🔍 🧿	
<u>00o</u>				
Ø	OPERATE		Options Task Input	
×	CONFIGURE			
	Orchestration		State Make Direct Marries Advanced Manning	
	Profiles		and the second s	
	Templates		Storage Vendor IP Interface Options	
	Policies			
	Doole			
Ľ	OPTIMIZE		NetApp IP Interface Options	
þ			Location Home Node https://www.science.com/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science/science	
			Laurian Davidana Annain	
			SVM_Local_Volumes_ONTAP-NFS ©	
			Storage VM Protocols	
			<u>NFS × × 0</u> +	

Interface IP Address:

=	cisco Intersig	ht		figure on-premises FlexPod storage		interface > Interface IP Address						
<u>00o</u>												
Ŵ	OPERATE				₹Õ≱	Input	ask					
×	CONFIGURE				~~~~							
	Orchestration			Static Value		Direct Manoing		Adva	nced Mapoir	10		
	Profiles		1									
	Templates			Interface IP Address * 192.168.55.19								
Ľ												
Ţ												

Step 29. Click Save to save the workflow.



Note: This completes the task of adding two interfaces. Next, create a storage export policy with storage virtual machine name, export policy name, Client Match List, Superuser Security Type, list of protocols, list of Read Only export policy rules, list of Read Write export policy rules as the inputs. On successful execution the name of the export policy created is generated as output.

Procedure 4. Create a new Storage Export policy

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Workflows from Tools section.

Step 2. Drag and drop Storage > New Storage Export Policy task from the Tools section on the Design area.



- **Step 3.** Click New Storage Export Policy. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task.
- Step 4. Use Connector and connect between tasks Add NFS LIF 02 and New Storage Export Policy.



Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.

Ξ	cisco Intersight		premises FlexPod storage > Edit			Paniraja Koppa 🧕
<u>elo</u>		General Designer Mapping Code		🔺 Invalid 📔 🖪	1 error found. Resolve errors to execute.	
(i)	OPERATE 🗸	∈ Tools			New Storage Export Policy	
×	CONFIGURE A	Tasks Workflows Operations			General Inputs	
	Urchestration	Q_ Search	Start		Q. Search	
	Profiles	Format Storage Volume				
	Templates	New Storage Export Policy		6% 	Storage Device	
	Policies	New Storage Fibre Channel Interface		8		
		New Storage Host	New Storage Virtual Machine		Storage Vendor Virtual Machine * 💿	
		New Storage Host Group	Sharage Starage			
Ľ	OPTIMIZE ~	New Storage IP Interface			Export Policy * 0	
۹	ADMIN 🗸	New Storage LUN	Add NESLIE . M		Value Not Specified	
		New Storage LUN ID	Storage			
		New Storage Pool			Export Policy Protocols * ©	
		New Storage Virtual Machine			Value Not Specified	
		New Storage Volume	Add NFS LIF - 02 Clorage		Client Match List * @	
		Remove Host from Storage Host Group	×			
		Remove Hosts from Storage Host		rana Export Dollou	Superuser Security Type * O	
		Group	En la construcción de la	e e		
		Remove Storage Export Policy			Read Only Policy Rules * 💿	
		Remove storage Host Group			Read Write Policy Pulse * 🖸	
		Remove Storage Luiv	Buccess		Value Met Snerified	
		Demons Storage Dool			And the spectrum	
		Remove Storage Volume				
		Terraform Cloud				

Step 6. Click Map in the input field Storage Device.

Step 7. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Device.

Step 8. Click the FlexPod Storage added to Intersight account as explained in section <u>Add FlexPod</u> <u>Components to Cisco Intersight account</u>.

≡	cisco Ir	tersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New S	torage E	port Policy > Storage Device	۵ و	R 4	٩,	0	Paniraja Kopp	× &
± ⊛ ×	MONITOR OPERATE CONFIGURE		{ ` }		Add Filter						
	Orchestration		State Value		Name				Vendor		
	Profiles Templates		Storage Device *		bb09-otselect				NetApp		
Ы											
Ţ											

Step 9. Click Map.

Step 10. Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Virtual Machine.



Step 11. Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.

=	cisco Intersigh	Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage Export Policy > Storage Vendor Virtual Machine	
<u>00</u> 0		Man Starage Vandes Visite	
Ø		Map Storage vehicle virtu	uar
×	CONFIGURE		
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping	Advanced Mapping
	Profiles		
		Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.	
		Workflow Input Task Output	
	Pools	Task Name* v o Output Name* v o	
Ы	OPTIMIZE		
ē	ADMIN		

Step 12. Click Task Name and click New Storage Virtual Machine.

≡	cisco Intersight	••• > Configure on-premises	FlexPod storage >	Edit > New Storage E	Export Policy >	> Storaç	ge Vendor Virtual Machine	٥	ß	6 2	Q,	۲	0	Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>														
ø	OPERATE				£0}	é	Map Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Task Input							
×	CONFIGURE				~ ~ ~	~ ~ {}								
	Orchestration			Static Value			Direct Mapping		Adva	nced Mappir				
	Profiles													
	Templates		 Map the input 	to the workflow input or a	ny of the previou	us task's	outputs.							
			Workflow Input	💿 Task Outpu	t									
			Tack Name *		Outou	ut Nam								
⊵			Add NFS LIF - 02											
Ţ	ADMIN		Add NFS LIF - 01											
			New Storage Virte	ual Machine										



≡	cisco Intersight	Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage Export Policy > Storage Vendor Virtual Machine						Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00</u> 0		Map Storage Vendor Virtua	ı					
0		Kachine Task Input						
×	CONFIGURE	~ ♂ ₽₽						
	Orchestration	Datis Volue Director		6.ek.us	nond Mannie			
	Profiles	Statuc Value Uniest Mapping		Auva	псец марри	ig		
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.						
		O Workflow Input Task Output						
		Task Name * Output Name * Output Name *						
Ľ								
ē								

Step 14. Click Map.

Step 15. Click Map in the input field Export Policy.

Step 16. Click Static Value and input the storage export policy name.

t Policy > Export Policy 🗘 🗹 🕫 Q, 😨 ⑦ Panira	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage Export Police
veest Deliau Teek Janut	MONITOR Man Frida
	configure ^
Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping	Prchestration Static Value Direct Mapping
	Profiles
	Export Policy * Export Policy * remplates SVM_LocaLVolumes_ONTAP-Export-Policy 0
	Policies
	optinize v Romin v



Step 18. Click Map in the input field Export Policy Protocols.

Step 19. Click Static Value. Click Export Policy Protocols and select NFS.

≡	cisco Intersigi	nt			t Policy > Export Policy Protocols					Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>					Man Export Policy Protocol	Took				
Ø			ξC	<u>)</u>	Input	Idak				
×	CONFIGURE		b~	ŝ						
	Orchestration		Static Value		Diract Manning		Idan	ad Manning		
			Staut, Yane		олест маррину			ced mapping		
	Templates		Export Policy Protocols *							
			NF5	× ¥ @						
Ľ										
Ð	ADMIN									

Step 20. Click Map.

Step 21. Click Map in the input field Client Match List.

Step 22. Click Static Value. Input the list of the match strings specifying the client or clients to which the export rule applies.

≡	cisco Intersio	lht	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Configure on premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage Export Policy > Client Match List 🗘 😨 🥵 🌀 Paniraja K	loppa 🚨
<u>00</u> 0				
Ŷ	OPERATE			
×	CONFIGURE			
	Orchestration		Transformed Faceline Housing	
	Profiles		Urect Mapping inansioned Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Templates		Client Match List *	
Ł				
Þ				

- Step 23. Click Map.
- **Step 24.** Click Map in the input field Superuser Security Type.
- **Step 25.** Click Static Value. Click Superuser Security Type and click sys.

≡	cisco Intersio	jht		Edit > New Storage Exp	ort Policy > Superuser Security Type		F1 Q		
<u>00o</u>									
ø	OPERATE			£0}e	Input	e Task			
×	CONFIGURE			~~ (C)					
	Orchestration		Static Value		Direct Manning		Advanced Manning		
	Profiles		Statut Value		олест маррину		Алиансен марріну		
			Superuser Security Type *						
			<u>595</u>	× • •					
Ľ	OPTIMIZE								
Þ									

- Step 26. Click Map.
- **Step 27.** Click Map in the input field Read Only Policy Rules.

Step 28. Click Static Value. Click Read Only Policy Rules and click sys.

≡	cisco Intersight	> Orchestration > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Edit > New Storage Export Policy > Read Only Policy Rules 🗘 🗹 📢 😋 💿	
<u>080</u>		Man David Only Deliny Dylan Tank	
Ŷ			
×	CONFIGURE ^		
	Orchestration	Stutic Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Profiles		
	Templates	Read Only Policy Rules *	
⊵			
ģ			

Step 29. Click Map.

Step 30. Click Map in the input field Read Write Policy Rules.

Step 31. Click Static Value. Click Read Write Policy Rules and click sys.

=	cisco Intersi	ght		> Read Write Policy Rules				
<u>00o</u>				and Write Delieu Dulee	Teek			
Ŷ				ead write Policy Rules	Task			
×	CONFIGURE							
	Orchestration		Static Value	act Manninn	Ariva	nced Manning		
	Templates		Read Write Policy Rules *					
⊵								
¢	ADMIN							





Note: This completes the task of creating a storage export policy for the Storage Virtual Machine. The last task of this workflow is to add this storage export policy to a volume with storage virtual machine name, volume name, and export policy name as the inputs. On successful execution, the volume name and export policy added are generated as outputs.



Procedure 5. Add Storage Export Policy to Volume

- Step 1. Go to the Designer tab click Workflows from the Tools section.
- **Step 2.** Drag and drop Storage > Add Storage Export Policy to Volume from the Tools section in the Design area.



- **Step 3.** Click Add Storage Export Policy to Volume. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you change the Name and Description for this task.
- **Step 4.** Use Connector and connect between tasks New Storage Export Policy and Add Storage Export Policy to Volume.



- **Step 5.** In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.
- Step 6. Click Map in the input field Storage Device
- **Step 7.** Click Static Value and click Select Storage Device.
- **Step 8.** Click the FlexPod Storage added to the Intersight account as explained in section <u>Add</u> <u>FlexPod Components to Cisco Intersight account</u>.

=	cisco Intersight	+++ > Orchestration > Configure on premises FlexPod storage > Edit > Add Storage Expor	Policy to Volume -> Storage Device Q 🖸 🕫 🔍 🔘 Paniraja Koppa 🧕
<u>01o</u>			
ø	OPERATE ~	{ ` }	2 nems round 10 v per page (c) (1 or 1 2) (c) (c)
×	CONFIGURE A	~ ~ ₽	Name Svolp Vendor
	Orchestration	Private Value	bb/0-s200-1 Netdon
	Profiles	and to yithin	
	Templates		O bb09-otselect NetApp
			Selected 1 of 2 Show Selected Unselect All
	Pools		
Ľ			
٩			

Step 9. Click Map.

- **Step 10.** Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Virtual Machine.
- **Step 11.** Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.
- **Step 12.** Click Task Name and select New Storage Virtual Machine.

=	cisco Intersigh					e > Storage Vendor Virtual Machine					
<u>00o</u>						Map Storage Vendor Virtual					
Ø	OPERATE				{ 0 }	Machine Task Input					
×	CONFIGURE				~~~~S						
	Orchestration		Sta	tic Value		Direct Mapping	Adva	inced Mappir	ng		
	Profiles										
	Templates		 Map the input to the 	e workflow input or any o	of the previous tas	K's outputs.					
			Workflow Input	Task Output							
			Task Name #		Output No	mat 0					
Ľ			New Storage Export Po	licy							
Ð			Add NFS LIF - 02								
			Add NFS LIF - 01								
			New Storage Virtual Ma	achine							

Step 13. Click Output Name and select Storage Virtual Machine.

≡	cisco Inte	ersight	••• > Configure on-premises			orage Export Polic		 Storage Vendor Virtual Machine 					Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00</u> 0													
ø	OPERATE					~ {ô	<u>}</u>	Map Storage Vendor Virtua Machine Task Input					
×	CONFIGURE					وبر	<u>لې</u>						
	Orchestration				Static Value			Direct Manning	Arbo	unced Mann	ina		
	Profiles				Static Value			Critics mapping	Auto	поеч тарр	y		
	Templates			 Map the input 	ut to the workflow inp	put or any of the pr	revious task	's outputs.					
	Policies			Workflow Inpu	ıt 💿 Task	k Output							
				Task Name *	tual Machina		lutput Name	etual Machine					
⊵				New Storage VII	tual machine		storage vir						
Þ	ADMIN												

- Step 14. Click Map.
- **Step 15.** Click Map in the input field Volume.
- **Step 16.** Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.
- **Step 17.** Click Task Name and select New Storage Virtual Machine.

≡	cisco Intersight		prage Export Policy to Volume > Volume				
<u>00o</u>			March Malance To all formers				
ø		to the second	Map Volume Task Input				
×	CONFIGURE						
	Orchestration	Statis Value	Direct Manning	Adva	nced Manni		
		stain varue		 Auta	псец тарра		
		Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task	's outputs.				
		Workflow Input Task Output					
		Task Name * v Ø Output Na	ne* v 0				
⊵		New Storage Export Policy					
Þ	ADMIN	Add NFS LIF - 02					
		Add NFS LIF - 01					
		New Storage Virtual Machine					

Step 18. Click Output Name and select Storage Virtual Machine Root Volume.

≡	cisco Intersigh	ation > Configure on-premises FlexPod storage > Ed	it > Add Storage Export Policy to Volume > Volume			
<u>00</u> @	MONITOR OPERATE	Ę	Map Volume Task Input			
×	CONFIGURE	Static Value	Direct Manager	Advanced Manni	na	
	Profiles		опсол таррину			
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the	e previous task's outputs.			
		Workflow Input Task Output				
		Task Name *				
⊵		New Storage Virtual Machine v ©	Output Name * vo			
Þ			Storage Virtual Machine			
			Storage Virtual Machine Name Root Volume			
			Storage VM Protocols			

- Step 19. Click Map.
- **Step 20.** Click Map in the input field Export Policy.
- **Step 21.** Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.
- **Step 22.** Click Task Name and select New Storage Export Policy.

≡	cisco Intera	sight	nfigure on-premises Flex	Pod storage > Edit > /		port Policy to Volume > Exp	ort Policy					
000					_	Man Export Policy	Tack Input					
	OPERATE			્ર	Õ k		Task Input					
×	CONFIGURE				~ ~ {\$}							
	Orchestration		C	tatic Value		Direct Macoleo		Adum	ood Mannie	20		
	Profiles			caue value		Cirect Mapping		Advar	iceo mappir	ng		
			 Map the input to the 	the workflow input or any of t	the previous tas	sk's outputs.						
			Workflow Input	Task Output								
			Tack Name *		Outout Na	ime *						
Ľ			New Storage Export P	Policy								
ø			Add NFS LIF - 02									
			Add NFS LIF - 01									
			New Storage Virtual N	Machine								

Step 23. Click Output Name and select Export Policy.

≡	cisco Intersigh		igure on-premises FlexPod storag				Export Policy					Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00</u> 0						Man Export Do	liev Teck Input					
Ŷ	OPERATE			ξí	C KC	Map Export Po	nicy task input					
×	CONFIGURE				~ \$}							
	Orchestration		Static Value			Direct Mapping		Adva	ced Mappin	a		
										-		
	Templates		 Map the input to the workflo 	w input or any of the	e previous task	ds outputs.						
	Policies) Workflow Input	Task Output								
			ask Name *		Output Nar	me #						
Ľ		<u>-</u>	ew Storage Export Policy		Export Po	licy	<u> </u>					
Ţ												

Step 24. Click Map. Step 25.

Click Save.



Step 26. Use Connector and connect between tasks Add Storage Export Policy to Volume and Success.



- **Step 27.** From each task's failure output, connect to Failed.
- Step 28. Click Auto Align Workflow.



Step 29. Click Save.

Note: This completes the creation of the first workflow of configuring on-premises FlexPod storage. Next, you will create the Disaster Recovery Workflow.

Disaster Recovery Workflow

The sequence of steps are:

- 1. Define the workflow.
 - A user-friendly short name for the workflow, such as Disaster Recovery Workflow
- 2. Define workflow input.
 - The inputs we take for this workflow are:
 - Volume Options (Volume Name, Mount Path)
 - Volume Capacity
 - Datacenter associated with the new datastore
 - Cluster on which the datastore will be hosted
 - Name for the new datastore to create in VCenter
 - Type and version of the new datastore
 - Name of the Terraform Organization

- Terraform Workspace.
- Description of the Terraform Workspace
- Variables (Sensitive and Non sensitive) required to execute Terraform configuration.
- Reason for starting the plan
- 3. Add workflow tasks.
 - The tasks related to operations in FlexPod datacenter include:
 - Create Volume in FlexPod
 - Add Storage Export Policy to the created volume
 - Map the newly created volume to a datastore in VCenter
 - The tasks related to Creating CVO cluster and adding:
 - Add Terraform Workspace
 - Add Terraform Variables
 - Add Terraform Sensitive Variables
 - Start New Terraform Plan
 - Confirm Terraform Run
- 4. Validate the workflow.

Procedure 6. Create the Workflow

Step 1. Click Orchestration from the left navigation pane and click Create Workflow.

=	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration		٩	ତ ¢ ¢ ⊚	Paniraja Koppa ,
00:		Workflows Tasks Data Types				ort Create Workflow
₽						
×	CONFIGURE ^	My Workflows Sample Workflows All Workflows +				
	Orchestration				4/ items round 15 ♥ per pag	
	Profiles	Validation Sta Last Executio 7 Top 5 Workflows by En Invalid 12 E Failed 2	ecution Count erraform Variables \$3 ration Workflow 24	Top 5 Workflow Categories System Defin	Top 5 Distribution by Targets NetApp Active IQ Unified.	
		⊘ Valid 35 ⊘ Success 308 (162 Creat PoCV	a CVO Cluster 27 M Migration 12	24 • Terraform Cloud 6 • Compute 1 No 21	32 Pure Storage FlashArray VMware vCenter 7 Htachi Virtual Storage P.	
				• IWE 1		
Ľ				2 Workflow which creates co	nfigures SnapMirror between FlexPod and Clo	© Valid
Ð				1 Configure on-premise FlexP	od storage	
-				1 Workflow to configure Flexi	Pod Storage	
				4 Expand a datastore on hype	rvisor manager by extending the backing sto	⊙ Valid ····
				4 Update the storage host de	tails. If the inputs for a task are provided then	
				1 Update NAS datastore by er	kpanding capacity of the underlying NFS volu	⊘ Valid
				6 Remove VMFS datastore an	id remove the backing volume from the stora	
				2 Remove storage host group	. If hosts are provided as input, the workflow	⊙ Valid
				4 Remove storage host. If host	st group name is provided as input, the workfl	
				1 Remove the NFS volume an	d the export policy attached to the volume.	⊙ Valid
				1 Remove the NAS datastore	and the underlying NFS storage volume.	© Valid
				5 Create a storage volume an	d build VMFS datastore on the volume.	
				1 Create a new virtual machin	e on the hypervisor from an OVA or OVF file	© Valid
				1 Create a storage virtual ma		
				1 Create a storage IP or FC in	terface.	

Step 2. In the General tab:

- Provide the display name. (Disaster Recovery Workflow)
- Select the organization
- Set Tags
- Provide a description

≡	cisco Intersigh	CONFIGURE > C		Create Workflow					٥		¢‡				Koppa 🕰
<u>00o</u>		General De:	signer Map										😗 Save t	ne workflow to	validate.
Ŷ	OPERATE			Display Name *				Reference Name *							
×	CONFIGURE			Disaster Recovery W	orkflow			DisasterRecoveryWorkflo	w						
	Orchestration														
	Profiles			Organization * default				Version ①		1 (defa	ult)				
	Tomplatae			default											
	remplates			BB09-FlexPod				Description							
	Policies			uci rayu			_	Workflow which creates	and co	nfigures S	napMirror I	between			
								FlexPod Storage and Clou	id Volu	mes ONTA	P				
Ŀ	OPTIMIZE			Determinist 0											
ø	ADMIN														
				Enable Debug Logs											
				Workflow Inputs	Workflow Outputs										
						N	lo Inpu	ts Defined							

Step 3. Click Save.

Procedure 7. Create a new volume in FlexPod

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from Tools section.



Step 2. Drag and drop Storage > New Storage Volume task from the Tools section in the Design area.



Step 3. Click New Storage Volume. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task. In this example, the name of the task is Create Volume in FlexPod.



Step 4. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.



Step 5. Click Map in the input field Storage Device.

≡	alada Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Work	low .	0 0	¢4 Q ⊘ ⊘	Paniraja Koppa 🚊
<u>00o</u>		General Designer Mapping Code			Save the w	orkflow to validate.
•	OPERATE ~	⊂ Tools			Create Volume in FlexPod	
×	CONFIGURE ^	Tasks Workflows Operations	Start		General Inputs	Outputs
	Orchestration				ي استخصاب	
	Profiles	Search			Q Search	
	Templates	Format Storage Volume		윦	Storage Device	
		New Storage Export Policy	Create Volume in FlexPod	88	Value Not Specified	
	Policies	New Storage Fibre Channel Interface	Storage	٩	Storage Vendor Virtual Machine * O	
		New Storage Host			Value Not Specified	
\bowtie	OPTIMIZE 🗸 🗸	New Storage Host Group				
ම	ADMIN V	New Storage IP Interface			Storage Vendor Aggregate - U	
1000		New Storage LUN ID			value Not specified	
		New Storage Pool			Storage Vendor Volume Options * 🛈	
		New Storage Virtual Machine			Value Not Specified	
		New Storage Volume			Volume Capacity * 💿	
		 Remove Host from Storage Host Group 			Value Not Specified	
		Remove Hosts from Storage Host Group				
		Remove Storage Export Policy				
		Remove Storage Host				
		Remove Storage Host Group				
		E Remove Storage LUN				
		E Remove Storage LUN ID				
		E Remove Storage Pool				
		E Remove Storage Volume	Success Failed			
		Terraform Cloud				

Step 6. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Device.

≡	uluulu Intersigh	t	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow > New Storage Volume > Storage Device		۵	ß	₽3	٩,	۲	0	Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>											
Ŵ	OPERATE		Map Storage	Device Task Inp	but						
×	CONFIGURE										
	Orchestration		Statis Value Direct Map	oina		Adva	nced Mannin				
	Profiles		Direct Map	ning		Adva	псец марріп	iy .			
	Templates		Storage Device * Select Storage Device								
	Policies										
	Pools										
Ľ	OPTIMIZE										
ē	ADMIN										

Step 7. Click the Storage Target added as explained in section <u>Add FlexPod Components to Cisco</u> <u>Intersight account</u> and click Select.

≡	cisco Inte	ersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow > New Storage Volume > Storage Dev		¢	V 44 Q	
<u>01.</u>	MONITOR		()				
×	CONFIGURE				Add Filter Name	Svpip	Vendor
	Orchestration		Static Value		bb09-a300-1		NetApp
	Profiles						
	Templates		Storage Device *		bb09-otselect		NetApp
	Policies			Selec	ted 1 of 2 Show Selected Unsel		
	Pools						
Ľ	OPTIMIZE						
ð	ADMIN						

Step 8. Click Map.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow > New Storage Volume > Storage Device Q 🛛 🖓 🧐 📀	
<u>00o</u>		Han Classing Device Table limit	
Ŷ	OPERATE		
×	CONFIGURE		
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Profiles		
	Templates	Storage Device * Selected Storage Device bb09-a300-1 🥒 🗙	
	Policies		
\succeq	OPTIMIZE		
þ	ADMIN		
		Close	Мар

Step 9. Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Virtual Machine.



Step 10. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Virtual Machine. Select the Storage Virtual Machine where the volume needs to be created and click Select.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Create Workflow > New Storage Volume > Storage Vend	or Virtual Machine	¢ ⊵ ¢4		&
₩ ★	MONITOR OPERATE CONFIGURE Orchestration Profiles Templates Policies	Static Value Storage Vendor Virtual Machine Platform Type O Pure Hitachi NetApp	Add Filter Name FPV-VXLAN-SVM Intersight-Team-SVM SVM_CV0_Integration Tort and of		10 -> perpage K < _1_ of 1 > > €	
	Pools					
ē P	optimize ~	Storage Virtual Machine * O Select Storage Virtual Machine	bb09-Infra-SVM Selected 1 of 6 Show Selected Un			





Step 12. Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Aggregate.



Step 13. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Aggregate. Click the Aggregate and click Select.

=			Select Aggregate ×
		Cratic Valuer Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping Provide Custom values as the input: Storage Vendor Aggregate	4 items found 10 v per page 1 of 1 3 v 0 Q. Add Filter
e P		Platform Type C Platform Type C Platfo	

- Step 14. Click Map.
- **Step 15.** Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Volume Options.
- Step 16. Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.



Step 17. Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

=	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Storage Volume > Storage Vendor Volume Options 🚨 📴 📢 🔍 💿 Paninaja Kopp	æ
<u>08o</u>			
ø		Edit Task Input (Storage Vendor Volume Options)	
×	CONFIGURE ^		
	Orchestration	State Value Divert Landow Advanced Manajan	
	Profiles		
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.	
	Policies	Workflow input Task Output	
		Inout Name *	
Ľ	optimize 🗸	Create Workflow Input	
æ	ADMIN ~		

Step 18. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, Storage Vendor Volume Options is selected

			×
Add Input			
Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Storage Vendor Volume Options		StorageVendorVolumeOptions	
Description			
Storage vendor volume Options			
Value Restrictions			
✓ Required ⊙			
Collection/Multiple ③			
Туре			
Storage Vendor Volume Options	× 0		
Set Default Value ⊙			
Field Mapping O			
Кеу		Value	
Platform Type		\${workflow.inputDataType.StorageTargetDat	
		Cancel	

- Click Set Default Value and Override.
- Click Required.
- Click Platform Type as NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager.
- Provide a default value for the volume to create in Volume.
- Click NFS. If NFS is set, NFS volume will be created and if set to false, SAN volume will be created.
- Provide a Mount Path.
- Click Add.

Storage Vendor	Volume Options		
Value Restrictions			
Nequired 🛈			
Collection/Mu	iltiple 🛈		
Туре			
Storage Vendor	Volume Options 🛛 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸 🗸	<u>©</u>	
✓ Set Default Va	lue 💿		
🔽 Override 🛛			
Default Values *			
Storage Vendor Vo	lume Options		
Platform Type 💿			
Pure FlashArray	Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform	NetApp Active IQ Unifie Manager	d 🔿 None
Volume *			
Test_Vol1			
NFS Volume Option	n		
-			
MFS ①			

- Step 19. Click Map.
- **Step 20.** Click Map in the input field Volume Capacity.
- **Step 21.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- **Step 22.** Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Storage Volume > Volume Capacity 🗘 🖓 📢 🔍	Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>		Fills To all locate (Maharan Anna alla)	
Ø			
×	CONFIGURE		
	Orchestration	Static Value Denot Manology Educated Manolog	
	Profiles		
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.	
		Workflow Input Task Output	
		Innut Name *	
Ľ	OPTIMIZE	Create Workflow Input	
Ţ		, Storage Vendor Volume Options	



- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Click Required
- Make sure for Type, Storage Capacity is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override
- Provide a default value for the volume size and unit
- Click Add

Add Input		
Display Name *	Reference Name *	
Volume Capacity	VolumeCapacity	
Description		
Volume size and unit.		
Value Restrictions		
Required O		
Collection/Multiple O		
Туре		
Storage Capacity		
🔽 Set Default Value 🛈		
🗹 Override 🛛		
Default Values *		
Volume Capacity		
100		
GiB		
		Add

- Step 24. Click Map.
- **Step 25.** Use Connector and connect between Start and Create Volume in FlexPod tasks and click Save.



Note: Ignore the error for now. The error displays because there is no connectivity between tasks Create Volume in FlexPod and Success which is required to specify the successful transition.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit	🗘 🛛 🕫 🔍 🕲 🕐 Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>		General Designer Mapping Code	Invalid I error found. Resolve errors to execute. Actions
Ŷ	OPERATE V	⊆ Tools	Errors ×
×	CONFIGURE ^	Tasks Workflows Operations	Task 1
	Orchestration	Start	R Create Volume in FlexPod
	Profiles	Q, Search	Provide a connection for the task when it is successful by
	Tomolaton	Format Storage Volume	specifying a Unsuccess transition.
	remplates	New Storage Export Policy	
	Policies	New Storage Fibre Channel Interface Storage	
	Pools	New Storage Host	
10	OPTIMIZE V	New Storage Host Group	
		New Storage IP Interface	
ছ	ADMIN V	New Storage LUN	
		New Storage LUN ID	
		New Storage Pool	
		New Storage Virtual Machine	
		New Storage Volume	
		Remove Host from Storage Host Group	
		Remove Hosts from Storage Host Group	
		Remove Storage Export Policy	
		Remove Storage Host	
		Remove Storage Host Group	
		Remove Storage LUN	
		Remove Storage LUN ID	
_		Remove Storage Pool	
		Remove Storage Volume Success Failed	
		Terraform Cloud	Do not show this error summary by default

Note: This completes the creation of the first task of provisioning a new volume in FlexPod. Next, you will add an export policy to created volume with storage virtual machine name, volume name, and export policy name as the inputs.

Procedure 8. Add Storage Export Policy

- Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from the Tools section.
- **Step 2.** Drag and drop Storage > Add Storage Export Policy to Volume task from the Tools section in the Design area.
- **Step 3.** Click Add Storage Export Policy to Volume. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task. In this example, the name of the task is Add Storage Export Policy.



Step 4. Use Connector and connect between tasks Create Volume in FlexPod and Add Storage Export Policy and click Save.



Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.


Step 6. Click Map in the input field Storage Device.



Step 7. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Device. Select the same storage target added while creating previous task of creating a new storage volume.

=			Storage Expon Select Storage Device				
th			2.items found 10 ∽ per pag	। রবি । পা চলি 🧿			
ø		(Or					
×			Add Hitter				
			Name Svplp	Vendor			
		Static Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping	(e) bb09-a300-1	NetApp			
			bbf9-citselect	NetAnn			
		Provide custom values as the input.					
			Selected 1 of 2 Show Selected Unselect All	K K <u>1</u> of 1 > 제			
		Storage Device *					
${\mathbb R}$							
B	ADMIN 👻						

Step 8. Click Map.



Step 9. Click Map in the input field Storage Vendor Virtual Machine.

Step 10. Click Static Value and click Select Storage Virtual Machine. Select the same storage Virtual Machine added while creating previous task of creating a new storage volume.

=			Sel	Select Storage Virtual Machine	
<u>00</u> 0					
		4 63			
×				Add Filter	
		Static Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping		O FPV-VXLAN-SVM	
				Intersight-Team-SVM	
		Provide custom values as the input.		SVM_CVO_Integration	
		Storage Vendor Virtual Machine		O Test_SVM_01	
Ŀ				O BOUHIUM-SYM	
Ð				bb09-Infra-SVM	
		Storage Virtual Machine * 💿			

Step 11. Click Map.

Step 12. Click Map in the input field Volume.



Step 13. Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.

=	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Storage Export Policy to Volume > Volume 🗘 😰 🕫 🔍 🧿 🎯 Paniraja Koppa 🔔
089		Edit Task Input (Volume)
Ŷ	OPERATE 🗸	
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	Production Proceedings Advanced Manager
	Profiles	Static value Angeland Angeland
	Templates	Msp the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		Workflow Input
		Tark Name #
Ľ		
(P)	ADMIN 🗸	

Step 14. Click Task Name and click Create Volume in FlexPod. Click Output Name and click Volume.

Note: In Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator, you can provide task output of a previous task as input to a task. In this example, the Volume details were provided from the created Create Volume in FlexPod as an input to task Add Storage Export Policy.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Storage Export Policy to Volume > Volume 🗘 😰 📢 🔍 🧿 💿 Panicaja Koppa 🧕
<u>00o</u>		E Parts de Jacob Aldebra A
Ŷ	OPERATE ~	
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Manalion Advanced Manalion
	Profiles	
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		O Workflow Input 💿 Task Output
		Task Name * Output Name * Create Volume in FlexPod v Volume v
Ľ		
Þ		

- Step 15. Click Map.
- **Step 16.** Click Map in the input field Export Policy.

Step 17. Click Static Value and click Select export Policy. Select the export Policy created.

Step 18. Click Map and click Save.



Note: This completes the creation of adding an export policy to the volume. Next, you will create a new datastore mapping the created volume.

Procedure 9. Map FlexPod volume to datastore

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from Tools section.

Step 2. Drag and drop Virtualization > New Hypervisor Datastore task from the Tools section in the Design area.



Step 3. Use Connector and connect between tasks Add Storage Export Policy and New Hypervisor Datastore tasks and click Save.



Step 4. Click New Hypervisor Datastore. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task. In this example, the name of the task is Map volume to Datastore.



- Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.
- **Step 6.** Click Map in the input field Hypervisor Manager.
- **Step 7.** Click Static Value and click Select Hypervisor Manager. Click the VMWare VCenter target explained in section <u>Add FlexPod Components to Cisco Intersight account</u>.

=			Selec	t Hyperviso:	or Manager			
<u>00</u> 0								
Ø		ξÕ μ				T items toun	i iu ♥ perpage ℝ €	
×		~ ~ ~		Name			Vendor	
		Static Value Direct Manning Advanced Manning		bb09-vc fl	expod cisco com		VMware	
			Sala	ted 1 of 1	Show Salastad			হি 1 কাচায
		Provide custom values as the input.	- Centre					
		Hypervisor Manager *						
⊵								
Þ								



≡	່ Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Hypervisor Datastore > Hypervisor Manager 🗘 📴 🕫 🍕 💿 Paniraja	
<u>00o</u>	MONITOR	Map Hypervisor Manager Task	
Ŷ	OPERATE	Input	
×	CONFIGURE		
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Profiles		
	Templates	Hypervisor Manager bb09-vc.flexpod.cisco.com / X	
	Policies		
Ľ	OPTIMIZE		
ē	ADMIN		

Step 9. Click Map in the input field Datacenter. This is the datacenter associated with the new datastore.

- **Step 10.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- **Step 11.** Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

≡	cisco Inters	sight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Hypervisor Datastore > Datacenter				
<u>00o</u>			Edit Task Input (Datacenter				
ø							
×	CONFIGURE		Contraction of the second s				
	Orchestration		Statis Value Direct Machine Advanced Manalag				
	Profiles		снис часе олестинарния жочально миррину				
	Templates		Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.				
			Workflow Input Task Output				
			Innut Name *				
Ľ			Create Workflow Input				
ø	ADMIN		Storage Vendor Volume Options				
			Volume Capacity				

Step 12. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, Datacenter is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override

Add Input			
Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Datacenter		Datacenter	
Description			
Datacenter associated with the new dat	astore 🔍		
Value Restrictions			
Nequired O			
Collection/Multiple ©			
Туре			
Datacenter			
✓ Set Default Value ⊙			
🗹 Override 🛛			
Default Values *			
Datacenter * O			

- Click Select Datacenter
- Click the datacenter associated with the new datastore.
- Click Select

=	ultulu cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Hypervisor D	Select Datacenter	×
<u>⊪</u> ₽		Add Input Display Name *	1 items found	
×			Name BB09-DC	InventoryPath /BB09-DC
		Datacenter associated with the new datastor(©		
		Vaue Restrictions Image: Construction of the construction of th		
e P				

- Click Add
- Step 13. Click Map.
- **Step 14.** Click Map in the input field Cluster.
- Step 15. Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Hypervisor Datastore > Cluster 🗘 🖸 🕫 🔍 💿 Paniraja Koppa 🖉
<u>08o</u>		Fell Test Jacob (Austria)
ø		
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Uspons Advanced Manning
	Profiles	
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
	Policies	Workflow Input O Task Output
		Input Name * v
⊵		
Ţ		Datacenter
		Storage Vendor Volume Options
		Volume Capacity

Step 16. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Click Required
- Make sure for Type, Cluster is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override

Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Cluster	0	Cluster	0
Description			
Cluster on which the datastore will	be hosted. ⁽⁾		
Value Destrictions			
Required ⊙			
Collection/Multiple O			
Туре			
Cluster			
Set Default Value 💿			
✓ Override ⊙			
Default Values *			
Cluster O			

- Click Select Cluster
- Click the cluster associated with the new datastore.
- Click Select

= thulu Intersight		Select Cluster	
	Add Input Display Name * Churter ©	2 items found	
Orchestration Profiles		Name BB09-FlexPod-MGMT BB09-Flext	InventoryPath /B809-DC/host/B809-FlexPod-MGMT /B809-DC/host/B809-Test
Templates Policies Pools Pools			
E ADMIN v			

- Click Add
- Step 17. Click Map.
- **Step 18.** Click Map in the input field Host.

Step 19. Click Static Value and click the host on which the datastore will be hosted. If cluster is specified, then host will be ignored.

Ĩ≡Ĩ,			Select	Host		
11 10 12		Cratic Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping Provide custom values as the input. Host		Add Filter Name bb09-eaxi-1.flexpod cisco.com bb09-eaxi-2.flexpod cisco.com bb09-eaxi-3.flexpod cisco.com bb09-eaxi-4.flexpod cisco.com	10 v perpage K C	
Đ				bb09-eaxi-S flexpod cisco com		

- Step 20. Click Select and Map.
- **Step 21.** Click Map in the input field Datastore.
- **Step 22.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- **Step 23.** Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

=	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > New Hypervisor Datastore > Datastore Q 🛛 🖓 🧐 💿 Paniraja Koppa
<u>00o</u>		Edit Task Jacob (Data Assa)
×	CONFIGURE ^	Contraction of the second s
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping
	Profiles	
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		Workflow Input Task Output
		Inout Name *
⊵		Create Workflow Input
ģ		Cluster
		Datacenter
		Storage Vendor Volume Options
		Volume Capacity

Step 24. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Click Required
- Click Set Default Value and Override
- Provide a default value for the datastore
- Click Add

Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Datastore		Datastore	
Description			
Name for the new datastore, limited to 4	2 ch 😳		
Value Restrictions			
🗹 Required 🛈			
Collection (Multiple O			
Collection/Multiple 0			
Type			
String			
Min Max		Regex	
<u> </u>		<u></u>	
Secure ⊙			
Object Selector O			
🗹 Set Default Value 🛈			
🗹 Override 🖸			
Default Values *			
Datastore *			
Test Vol1			

- Step 25. Click Map.
- **Step 26.** Click Map in the input field Type of Datastore.
- Step 27. Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.

Step 28. Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.



Step 29. In the Add Input wizard:

• Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)

- Click Required
- Make sure for Type, Types of Datastore is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override

Add Input			
Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Type of Datastore		DatastoreVersion	
Description			
Type and version of the new datastore. M	inir 🔍		
Value Restrictions			
🛃 Required 🛛			
Collection/Multiple O			
Туре			
Types of Datastore	v o		
Subf-hul- o			
Set Default value 🕖			
🔽 Override 🛈			
Default Values *			
Type of Datastore			
Type of Datastore			
● VMFS-6 ○ VMFS-5 ○ NFS3		NFS4.1	

- Provide Remote Path. This is the remote path of the NFS mount point.
- Provide the hostnames or IP addresses of remote NFS server in NFS Server Address. NFS v4.1 this may have multiple entries.
- Click the Access Mode. Access mode for the NFS server. Click read-only if volume is exported as read-only.
- Click Add

Add Input			
Collection/Multiple ⊙			
Type Types of Datastore			
🛃 Set Default Value 🛈			
✓ Override ⊙			
Default Values *			
Type of Datastore			
Type of Datastore 💿			
🔿 VMFS-6 🔿 VMFS-5 🧿 NFS	3 🔿 NFS4	L1	
Remote Path *			
NFS Server Address *			
NFS Server Address * 192.168.55.18			
NFS Server Address * 192.168.55.18			
NFS Server Address * 192.168.55.18 Access Mode ⊙			
NFS Server Address * 192.168.55.18 Access Mode ○ ● Read Write ○ Read Only			
NFS Server Address * 192.168.55.18 Access Mode ○ ● Read Write ○ Read Only			

Step 30. Click Map.

Step 31.

Click Save.



Note: This completes the task of creating datastore. All the tasks performed in on-premise FlexPod Datacenter are completed.

Procedure 10. Add a new Terraform Workspace

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from Tools section.

Step 2. Drag and drop Terraform Cloud > Add Terraform Workspace task from the Tools section in the Design area.



Step 3. Use Connector and connect between tasks Map volume to Datastore and Add Terraform Workspace and click Save.



Step 4. Click Add Terraform Workspace. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task.



- Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.
- **Step 6.** Click Map in the input field Terraform Cloud Target.

Step 7. Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Cloud Target. Select the Terraform Cloud for Business Account which was added as explained in section <u>Configure Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform</u>.

=	-diada cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Terraform Wo	Select Terraform Cloud Target ×	
10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1		` }	1 Items found 10 - per page (C _ 1 of 1) (B) (C)	
		Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping Provide custom values as the input. Terraform Cloud Target * @ Belect Terraform Cloud Target	Name : Target Type : TFCB TerraformCloud Selected 1 of 1 Show Selected Unselect All (1 of 1) (1) (1)	
回	optimize ~			

Step 8. Click Map.

Step 9. Click Map in the input field Terraform Organization Name.

Step 10. Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Organization. Select the name of the Terraform Organization that you are part of in Terraform Cloud for Business account.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestra	ation > Disaster Recovery Workflow >	Edit > Add Terraform Wo	Select	Terraform	o Organization Na	ime		×
<u>00</u> 0										
Ø				ξÕμ.		Add Eiltar		Thems route		
×						Name			Identify	
			Static Value Direct Mapping			cisco-inte	rsight-tme		org-kqikLi3ZxNVNqgt4	
			Provide custom values as the in	put.	Select	led 1 of 1				
			Townform Association Name 4							
			Select Terraform Organization Name *							
12										
6										
- Lin										

Step 11. Click Map.

- **Step 12.** Click Map in the input field Terraform Workspace Name. This will be the new workspace we create in the Terraform Cloud for Business Account.
- **Step 13.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- **Step 14.** Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.



Step 15. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Click Required
- Make sure for Type, String is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override
- Provide a default name for workspace

		Reference Name *	
Workspace Name		WorkspaceName	0
Description			
Ferraform Workspace Name must or	ily conte 🛈		
/alue Restrictions			
Required ①			
Collection/Multiple O			
String			
Ain Max		Regex	
<u> </u>	0	^[a-zA-Z0-9]*\$	0
Secure O			
Object Selector ()			
Object Selector O			
Set Default Value ③			
🖌 Override 🛛			
Default Values *			
Norkspace Name *			

- Click Add
- Step 16. Click Map.
- **Step 17.** Click Map in the input field Workspace Description.
- **Step 18.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- Step 19. Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.



Step 20. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, String is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override
- Provide workspace description

		Reference Name *	
Vorkspace Description		WorkspaceDescription	
escription			
escription of the Terraform Workspace			
alue Restrictions			
Collection/Multiple ⊙			
уре			
tring	× 0		
fin Max			
<u> </u>	0	Regex	
Secure ⊙			
Object Selector O			
🛛 Set Default Value 🛈			
🖌 Override 🛈			
efault Values *			
Vorkspace Description			
Vorkspace to create CVO and configure	SnapMir	ror	

Click Add

Step 21. Click Map.

Step 22. Click Map in the input field Execution Mode.

Step 23. Click Static Value, click Execution Mode, and then click remote.

=	cisco Intersight	t	CONFIGURE > Orchestrati	on > Disaster Reco	overy Workflow >	Edit > Add Terraform	Workspace >	 Execution Mode 		F 3		Paniraja Koppa 🚇
<u>00o</u>							5-14 7 -		()			
ø						£0}e	Edit Ta	ask Input (Execution I	Mode)			
×	CONFIGURE					C. S.						
	Orchestration			Static Value	Direct Manning	Advanced Manning						
	Profiles				briedt mapping	Portanceo mapping						
	Templates			 Provide custo 	om values as the inp	out.						
				Execution Mode								
				Execution Mode ExecutionMode								
L				Execution Mode ExecutionMode remote								
۲ آ				Execution Mode ExecutionMode remote								
Ð	Policies Pools OPTIMIZE ADMIN Targets			Execution Mode ExecutionMode remote								
Ð	Policies Pools OPTIMIZE ADMIN Targets Software Repository			Execution Mode ExecutionMode remote								

Step 24. Click Map.

Step 25. Click Map in the input field Apply Method.

Step 26. Click Static Value and click Apply Method. Click Manual Apply.

=	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Terraform Workspace > Apply Method				
<u>00</u> 0		T-Pa T-ak low (A-ak Mai				
			100)			
×	CONFIGURE	Contraction of the second s				
	Orchestration	State Value Direct Manning Advanced Manning				
	Profiles					
	Templates	Provide custom values as the input.				
		Apply Method				
		Manual Apply × v ©				
⊵	OPTIMIZE					
Ţ						
	Targets					
	Software Repository					

Step 27. Click Map.

Step 28. Click Map in the input field User Interface.

Step 29. Click Static Value and click User Interface. Click Console UI.

≡	cisco Intersight	t	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Terraform Workspace > User Interface	
<u>08o</u>			Edit Task Japan / ()	
Ŷ				ser interface)
×	CONFIGURE			
	Orchestration		State Making Direct Manging Advanced Manging	
	Profiles		Salac value Direct mapping Advanced mapping	
	Templates		Provide custom values as the input.	
			User Interface	
			Console UI × × ©	
Ы				
ē				
	Targets			
	Software Repository			

- Step 30. Click Map.
- **Step 31.** Click Map in the input field and select your workflow.
- **Step 32.** Click Static Value. Click Choose your workflow. Click Version control workflow.



Step 33. Provide the GitHub repository details:

- In Repository Name, enter the name of repository detailed in section <u>Set up environment prereq-uisites</u>.
- Provide OAuth Token ID as detailed in section Setting up environment prerequisites



Step 34. Click Map.

Step 35. Click Save.

Add Terraform Workspace	×
General Inputs	Outputs
Q Search	
Terraform Cloud Target * 💿	Edit Mapping
X Custom Value	View Input
Terraform Organization Name * 🛈	Edit Mapping
X Custom Value	cisco-intersight-tme
Workspace Name * ©	Edit Mapping
Q Workflow Input	Workspace Name
Workspace Description ©	Edit Mapping
کے Workflow Input	Workspace Description
Execution Mode O	Edit Mapping
X Custom Value	View Input
Apply Method ①	Edit Mapping
🗶 Custom Value	Manual Apply
Share State Globally ©	Мар
Value Not Specified	
User Interface O	Edit Mapping
X Custom Value	Console UI
Choose your workflow * 💿	Edit Mapping
Last saved 2 hours ago	Execute

Note: This completes the task of creating a workspace in Terraform Cloud for Business account.

Procedure 11. Add non-sensitive variables to workspace

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Workflows from Tools section.

Step 2. Drag and drop "Terraform > Add Terraform Variables" workflow from the Tools section in the Design area.



Step 3. Use Connector and connect between tasks Add Terraform Workspace and Add Terraform Variables and click Save.



Step 4. Click Add Terraform Variables. In the Workflow Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task.



- Step 5. In the Workflow Properties area, click Inputs.
- Step 6. Click Map in the input field Terraform Cloud Target.
- **Step 7.** Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Cloud Target. Select the Terraform Cloud for Business Account which was added as explained in section <u>Configure Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform</u>.

≡				Selec	t Terraforn	n Cloud Target			
<u>⊪</u> ⊛ ×			Trate Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping		Add Filter Name TFCB			t <u>10 ∨</u> per page <i>K</i> . Target Type TerraformCloud	
			Provide custom values as the input. Terraform Cloud Target * Select Terraform Cloud Target						
2	OPTIMIZE ADMIN Targets Software Repository	~ <							

Step 8. Click Map.

- Step 9. Click Map in the input field Terraform Organization Name.
- **Step 10.** Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Organization. Select the name of the Terraform Organization that you are part of in Terraform Cloud for Business account.

	-diada cisco Intersig	ht	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Terraform Var	Select	Terraform	n Organization Na	me		×
60 10			(`)		Add Filter				
×									
			Bratic Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping		cisco-inte	rsight-tme		org-kqikLi32xNVNqgt4	
			Provide custom values as the input.	Select	ed 1 of 1		Unselect All		
			Terraform Organization Name * 🛇						
Ŀ									
Đ									

- Step 11. Click Map.
- **Step 12.** Click Map in the input field Terraform Workspace Name.
- **Step 13.** Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.
- **Step 14.** Click Task Name and click Add Terraform Workspace.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Add Terraform Variables > Terraform Workspace Name				
<u>00o</u>						
ø		Edit Task Input (Terratorm Workspace Name)	1			
×	CONFIGURE	~ ₹ \$				
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Manning Advanced Manning				
	Profiles	Gene serve processing Parences importing				
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.				
		Workflow Input				
		Task Name * Outruit Name *				
⊵		Add Terraform Workspace				
ğ		Map volume to Datastore				
	Targets	Add Storage Export Policy				
	Software Repository	Create Volume in FlexPod				

Step 15. Click Output Name and click Workspace Name.



- Step 16. Click Map.
- **Step 17.** Click Map in the input field Add Variables Options.
- **Step 18.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- **Step 19.** Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input

≡	cisco Intersight			ables > Add Variables Options				Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>								
ø		<u> </u>	<u>}</u>	Options)	5			ĺ
×	CONFIGURE	6 ~	A					ĺ
	Orchestration	Castle Melon Classific Menoles Advanced Meno						ĺ
	Profiles	Static value Unect wapping Advanced Mapp	ang					ĺ
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the pr	evious task's	s outputs.				ĺ
		Workflow Input Task Output						ĺ
		land Name t						ĺ
Ы		Create Workflow Input						ĺ
P		Cluster						
	Targets	Datacenter						ĺ
	Software Repository	Datastore						ĺ
		Storage Vendor Volume Options						ĺ
		Type of Datastore						ĺ
		Volume Capacity						
		Workspace Description						
		Workspace Name						

Step 20. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, String is selected

- Click Set Default Value and Override
- Click Variable Type and click Non Sensitive Variables

Display Name *		Reference Name *	
Terraform Variables		TerraformVariables	0
Description			
Add Variables			
Value Restrictions			
🗹 Required O			
Collection/Multiple O			
Туре			
Terraform Add Variables Options	~ 0		
Set Default Value 🛈			
☑ Override ⊙			
Default Values *			
Terraform Variables			
Variable Type *			~ ©
Search			
Non Sensitive Variables			
Sensitive Variables			

Step 21. In the Add Terraform Variables section, provide the following:

- Key: name_of_on-prem-ontap
- Value: Provide the name of On-premise ONTAP added in section Deploying FlexPod Datacenter
- Description: Name of the On-premise ONTAP

Step 22. Click + to add additional variables.

Add Input			
Required O			
Collection/Multiple O			
Type Terraform Add Variables Options vo			
🗹 Set Default Value ⊙			
✓ Override ⊙			
Default Values *			
Terraform Variables			
Variable Type *			
Non Sensitive Variables			× 0
Add Terraform Variables			
Key *			
name_of_on-prem-ontap			
Value			
			+
Description			
Name of the On-premise ONTAP			
	Cancel	Add	

Step 23. Add all the Terraform Variables as shown in <u>Table 15</u>. You can also provide a default value.

	Table 15.	Terraform	Variables	and	Descriptions
--	-----------	-----------	-----------	-----	--------------

Terraform Variable Name	Description
name_of_on-prem-ontap	Name of the On-premise ONTAP (FlexPod)
on-prem-ontap_cluster_ip	The ip address of the storage cluster management interface
on-prem-ontap_user_name	Admin username for the storage cluster

Terraform Variable Name	Description
region	AWS region where the working environment will be
	created
Subnet	AWS subnet id where the working environment will be created
vpc_id	The VPC ID where the working environment will be created
license_type	The type of license to use
source_volume	The name of the source volume
source_storage_vm_name	The name of the source SVM
destination_volume	Name of volume on CVO
schedule_of_replication	The default is 1hour
name_of_volume_to_create_on_cvo	Name of the cloud volume
name_of_cvo_cluster	The name of the Cloud Volumes ONTAP working environment

Step 24. Click Add.

Add Input		
schedule_oi_replication		
Value		
10min	Û	
Description		
The default is '1hour		
Key *		
name_of_volume_to_create_on_cvo		
Value		
cloud_vol_1		
Description		
Name of the cloud volume		
name_of_cvo_cluster		
Value		
dr_dest_cvo		
Description		
The name of the Cloud Volumes ONTAP working environment		
	Add	

Step 2	25.	Click	Map.
Step 2	26.	Click	Save.

Add Terrafo	×		
General		Inputs	Outputs
Q Search			
Terraform C	loud Target * ①		
🗶 Custom	Value		
Terraform O	rganization Nam	e* 0	Edit Mapping
💥 Custom	Value		cisco-intersight-tme
Terraform W	orkspace Name		Edit Mapping
<u>ू</u> Task Ou	tput	WorkspaceName Workspace	Add Terraform
Add Variable	es Options * ⓒ		Edit Mapping
오 Workflo	w Input		Terraform Variables
Last saved 2 hour	s ago		Execute

Note: This completes the task of adding the required Terraform variables to workspace. Next, add the required sensitive Terraform variables to the workspace. You can also combine both into a single task.

Procedure 12. Add sensitive variables to a workspace

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Workflows from Tools section.

Step 2. Drag and drop Terraform > Add Terraform Variables workflow from the Tools section on the Design area.



Step 3. Use Connector and connect between two Add Terraform Workspace tasks and click Save.

Note: A warning displays stating 2 tasks have the same name. Ignore the error for now since you will change the task name in next step.





Step 4. Click Add Terraform Variables. In the Workflow Properties area, click the General tab. Change the Name to Add Terraform Sensitive Variables.

- Step 5. In the Workflow Properties area, click Inputs.
- Step 6. Click Map in the input field Terraform Cloud Target.
- Step 7. Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Cloud Target. Select the Terraform Cloud for Business Account, which was added, as explained in section <u>Configure Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform</u>.
- Step 8. Click Map.
- Step 9. Click Map in the input field Terraform Organization Name.
- **Step 10.** Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Organization. Select the name of the Terraform Organization that you are part of in Terraform Cloud for Business account.
- Step 11. Click Map.
- **Step 12.** Click Map in the input field Terraform Workspace Name.
- **Step 13.** Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.
- **Step 14.** Click Task Name and click Add Terraform Workspace.
- **Step 15.** Click Output Name and click the output Workspace Name.
- Step 16. Click Map.
- **Step 17.** Click Map in the input field Add Variables Options.
- Step 18. Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- Step 19. Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.



Step 20. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, Terraform Add Variables Options is selected
- Click Set Default Value
- Click Variable Type and click Sensitive Variables
- Click Add
| Add Input | | | |
|---------------------------------|---|-----------------------------|--|
| Display Name * | | Reference Name * | |
| Terraform Sensitive Variables | | TerraformSensitiveVariables | |
| | | | |
| Description | | | |
| Add Variables | • | | |
| | | | |
| Value Restrictions | | | |
| Required O | | | |
| | | | |
| Collection/Multiple O | | | |
| Туре | | | |
| Terraform Add Variables Options | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| 🗹 Set Default Value 🛛 | | | |
| Override ◎ | | | |
| | | | |
| Default Values * | | | |
| Terraform Sensitive Variables | | | |
| Variable Type * | | | |
| Sensitive Variables | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Step 21. In the Add Terraform Variables section, provide the following:

- Key: cloudmanager_refresh_token
- Value: Input the refresh token for NetApp Cloud Manager API operations.
- Description: Refresh token.

Note: For more information about obtaining a refresh token for the NetApp Cloud Manager API operations, refer to section <u>Set up environment prerequisites</u>.

Add Input	
■ Required ○	
Collection/Multiple O	
Type Terraform Add Variables Options ⊙	
🛃 Set Default Value O	
□ Override ©	
Default Values *	
Terraform Sensitive Variables	
Variable Type * Sensitive Variables ×	<u>× 0</u>
Add Sensitive Terraform Variables	
Key * cloudmanager_refresh_token ©	
Value 🐵 🌣	
Description Refresh token. Obtain it from: https://services.cloud.netapp.com/refresh-token	
Cancel	

Step 22. Add all the Terraform Sensitive Variables as shown in <u>Table 16</u>. You can also provide a default value.

Table 16. Terraform Sensitive	Variables and Descriptions
-------------------------------	----------------------------

Terraform Sensitive Variable Name	Description
cloudmanager_refresh_token	Refresh token. Obtain it from: <u>https://services.cloud.netapp.com/refresh-token</u>
connector_id	The client ID of the Cloud Manager Connector. Obtain it from https://cloudmanager.netapp.com
cvo_admin_password	The admin password for Cloud Volumes ONTAP
on-prem-ontap_user_password	Admin password for the storage cluster

Step 23. Click Add.

or_id			
	00		
at ID of the Cloud Manager Connector. Get it from https://cloud	dmanager.n _'		
iin_password			
		Û	
n			
in password for cloud volumes on the			
ontap_user_password			
		Ŵ	
assword for the storage cluster			

Step 24. Click Map.

Note: This completes the task of adding the required Terraform sensitive variables to workspace. Next, you will start a new Terraform plan in the configured workspace.

Procedure 13. Start a new Terraform Plan

- **Step 1.** Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from the Tools section.
- **Step 2.** Drag and drop "Terraform Cloud > Start New Terraform Plan" task from the Tools section on the Design area.



Step 3. Use connector and connect between tasks Add Terraform Sensitive Variables and Start New Terraform Plan tasks and click Save.



Step 4. Click Start New Terraform Plan. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task.



- Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.
- Step 6. Click Map in the input field Terraform Cloud Target.
- **Step 7.** Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Cloud Target. Select the Terraform Cloud for Business Account which was added as explained in section Configuring Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform of the document.
- Step 8. Click Map.
- Step 9. Click Map in the input field Workspace ID.
- **Step 10.** Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.
- **Step 11.** Click Task Name and click Add Terraform Workspace.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Start New Terraform Plan > Workspace ID 🗘 🗗 📢 😋 😨 Paniraja Koppa 🧕
<u>00o</u>		Edit Taak Japut (Warkanasa ID)
ø		
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Muscine Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping
	Profiles	
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		Workflow Input Task Output
		Task Name * Output Name *
Ľ		Add Terraform Sensitive Variables
ø	ADMIN ^	Add Terraform Variables
	Targets	Add Terraform Workspace
	Software Repository	Map volume to Datastore
		Add Storage Export Policy
		Create Volume in FlexPod

Step 12. Click Output Name and click Workspace ID.

≡	المانية، Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Start New Terraform Plan > Workspace ID 🗘 🕞 📢 🔍 💮 Paninaja Koppa 🚨
000		Edit Task Japat (Workspace ID)
Ŷ	OPERATE ~	
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	Static Value Devet Manolan Transformed Manoing Advanced Manoing
	Profiles	Centra Canada Canad
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		Workflow Input Task Output
		Task Name * Output Name *
Ľ		
P		
	Targets	
	Software Repository	

- Step 13. Click Map.
- **Step 14.** Click Map in the input field Reason for starting plan.
- **Step 15.** Click Direct Mapping and click Workflow Input.
- **Step 16.** Click Input Name and Create Workflow Input.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Start New Terraform Plan > Reason for starting plan 🗘 🗗 🕫 😨 Panir	
<u>00o</u>			
ø		 Edit Task Input (Reason for starting plan) 	
×	CONFIGURE	へ	
	Orchestration	Particular Manufacture Transformed Handan Advanced Handan	
	Profiles	Static Value Detect Mapping Hansionmed Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.	
		Workflow Input Task Output	
		land Marga t	
Ľ	OPTIMIZE	Create Workflow Input	
Þ		^ Cluster	
	Targets	Datacenter	
	Software Repository	Datastore	
		Storage Vendor Volume Options	
		Terraform Sensitive Variables	
		Terraform Variables	
		Type of Datastore	
		Volume Capacity	
		Workspace Description	
		Workspace Name	

Step 17. In the Add Input wizard:

- Provide a Display Name and Reference Name (Optional)
- Make sure for Type, String is selected
- Click Set Default Value and Override

- Input a default value for Reason for starting plan
- Click Add

Add Input		
Display Name *	Reference Name *	
Reason for starting plan ©	ReasonForStartingPlan	
Description		
Reason for starting the plan 0		
Value Bastelations		
value Restrictions		
Required O		
Collection/Multiple @		
Type		
String v ©		
Min Max		
<u>o Ĵo</u> <u>o</u> Ĵo	Regex	>
Secure O		
Object Selector O		
Set Default Value O		
🔽 Override 🛈		
Default Values *		
Reason for starting plan *		
Terraform plan for replication between on-prem v	olume and CVO G	
	Cancel	

- Step 18. Click Map.
- **Step 19.** Click Map in the input field Plan Operation.
- **Step 20.** Click Static Value and click Plan Operation. Click new plan.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Start New Terraform Plan > Plan Operation				
<u>00o</u>			- 41 \			
ø			ation)			
×	CONFIGURE					
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping Advanced Mapping				
	Profiles					
	Templates	 Provide custom values as the input. 				
		Plan Operation				
		new plan × v o				
⊵						
Ð	ADMIN					
	Targets					
	Software Repository					



Step 22. Click Save.



Note: This completes the task of adding a Terraform Plan in Terraform Cloud for Business account. Next, you will create a sleep task for few seconds.

Procedure 14. Sleep Task for Synchronization

Note: Terraform Apply requires RunID which is generated as part of the Terraform Plan task. Waiting a few seconds between the Terraform Plan and Terraform Apply actions will avoid timing issues.

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from the Tools section.

Step 2. Drag and drop "Core Tasks > Sleep Task" from the Tools section in the Design area.



Step 3. Use Connector and connect between tasks Start New Terraform Plan and Sleep Task and click Save.



Step 4. Click Sleep Task. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task. In this example, the name of the task is Synchronize.



Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.

Step 6. Click Map in the input field Sleep Time in Seconds.

Step 7. Click Static Value and input 15 in Sleep Time in Seconds.

≡	cisco Intersigh	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Sleep Task > Sleep Time in Seconds				Paniraja Koppa 🚨
<u>00o</u>		Edit Taak Jaavit (Class Time				
ø		Seconds)	e in			
×	CONFIGURE					
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping				
	Profiles					
	Templates	Provide custom values as the input.				
		Sleep Time in Seconds *				
		15 1 · 600				
⊵	OPTIMIZE					
đ						
	Targets					
	Software Repository					

Step 8. Click Map.

Step 9. Click Save.

Note: This completes the sleep task. Next, you will create the last task of this workflow, confirming and applying the Terraform Run.

Procedure 15. Confirm and apply Terraform Run

Step 1. Go to the Designer tab and click Tasks from the Tools section.

- General Design E Tools Start Q. Search Profiles ne in FlexPod Executors Templates ge Ex CoreTasks General Storage Add Te - Terraform Cloud Get Terraform Run ID t New Terraform P Virtualization Confirm and Apply Terraform R.

tion in the Design area.

Step 2. Drag and drop Terraform Cloud > Confirm and Apply Terraform Run task from the Tools sec-

Step 3. Use connector and connect between tasks Synchronize and Confirm and Apply Terraform Run tasks and click Save.





Step 4. Click Confirm and Apply Terraform Run. In the Task Properties area, click the General tab. Optionally, you can change the Name and Description for this task.

Step 5. In the Task Properties area, click Inputs.

Step 6. Click Map in the input field Terraform Cloud Target.



Step 7. Click Static Value and click Select Terraform Cloud Target. Select the Terraform Cloud for Business Account which was added as explained in section <u>Configure Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform</u>.

			Select Terraform Cloud Target ×
4 9 ×		Interce Mapping Advanced Mapping	1 items found 10 v per page () (1 of 1) () Q. Add Filter Name : Target Type : () TFCB TerraformCloud
LI B	Templates Policies Pools OPTIMIZE ADMIN ADMIN A Yargets Software Repository	Provide custom values as the input. Terratorm Cloud Target * Select Terratorm Cloud Target	Selected 1 of 1 Show Selected Unselect All

Step 8. Click Map.

Step 9. Click Map in the input field Run ID.

Step 10. Click Direct Mapping and click Task Output.

Step 11. Click Task Name and click Start New Terraform Plan.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Confirm and Apply Terraform Run > Run ID 🗘 🖸 🕫 🔍 💿	
ահ Թ		Edit Task Input (Run ID)	
×			
	Orchestration Profiles	Static Value Direct Magaing Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping	
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.	
	Policies	Workflow Input Task Output	
	Pools	Task Name * 🗸 Output Name * 🗸	
Ľ		Synchronize	
¢		Start New Terraform Plan	
	Targets	Add Terraform Sensitive Variables	
	Software Repository	Add Terraform Variables	
		Add Terraform Workspace	
		Map volume to Datastore	
		Add Storage Export Policy	
		Create Volume in FlexPod	

Step 12. Click Output Name and click Run ID.

≡	۱۱۱۰۰۱۱۰۰ Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit > Confirm and Apply Terraform Run > Run 10 🗘 🖸 📢 🔍 🌀 Paninaja Koppa 🔔
<u>00o</u>		Fills Tank Lawys (Daw 10)
Ŷ	OPERATE ~	
×	CONFIGURE ^	
	Orchestration	Static Value Direct Mapping Transformed Mapping Advanced Mapping
	Templates	Map the input to the workflow input or any of the previous task's outputs.
		O Workflow Input
		Task Name * Output Name * Start New Terraform Plan v Run ID v
Ľ		
Þ		
	Targets	
	Software Repository	

Step 13.Click Map.Step 14.Click Save.



Note: This completes the Confirm and Apply Terraform Run task. Use Connector and connect between the Confirm and Apply Terraform Run task and the Success and Failed tasks.

=	cisco Intersight		ry Workflow > Edit		
<u>00</u> 0		General Designer Mapping Code			Actions
ø	OPERATE V	든 Tools			
×	CONFIGURE ^	Tasks Workflows Operations			
	Orchestration		Start		
	Profiles	C, Search	Create Volume in FlexPod		
	Templates	• Executors ~	Storage		8
	remplates	• Compute ~	Add Storage Export Policy		
	Policies	• CoreTasks ~	storage		Q
		• General V	Map volume to Datastore		
2	OPTIMIZE V	• Hyperflex			
_		Storage	Add Terraform Workspace		
ليًا ا	ADMIN ^				
	Targets	Add Terraform Workspace	Add Terratorm Variables Terratorm Cloud		
	Software Repository	Confirm and Apply Terraform Run	Add Terraform Sensitive Variab		
		Get Terraform Current State Version	Terraform Cloud		
		Get Terratorm Run ID	Start New Terraform Plan		
		Get Terraform Run State	Terraform Cloud		
		Get Terratorm Workspace Details			
		Kemove Terratorm Workspace	CoreTasks		
		Victualization	Confirm	m and Apply Terraform R	
		• Virtualization		um Cloud	
			Success Failed		
			No validation errors found. Save the workflow to re-validate.	Last saved a few seconds ago	Save





Procedure 16. Import a Cisco built workflow

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator enables you to export workflows from a Cisco Intersight account to your system and then import them to another account. A JSON file was created by exporting the built workflow which can be imported to your account

JSON file for the workflow component is available in the GitHub repository: <u>https://github.com/ucs-compute-solutions/FlexPod_DR_Workflows</u>

Step 1. Click Orchestration from the left navigation pane.

Step 2. Click Import.

The Import wizard appears.

≡	-ااندان Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration	💭 🖬 49 🔺 5 🛛 🕣 2 🛛 🗣 🕄 🧠 🧔 💮 🛛 Paniraja Kopr	
<u>00o</u>		Workflows Tasks Data Types	Import Create Work!	low
Ŵ	OPERATE ~			
×	CONFIGURE ^	My Workflows Sample Workflows <u>* All Workflows ©</u> +	27 Barris found 10 y per abas 27 1 of 2 5	
	Orchestration			- -
	Profiles	Validation St. Last Execution X Top 5 Workflows b Top 5 Workflows b	tegories System Defin Top 5 Distribution by Targets orage 9 Yes 26 NetApp Active IQ Unified 13	
	Templates	⊘ Valid 26 N0 DATA AVAILABLE N0 DATA AVAILABLE 24	rraform Cloud 6 No 1 32 • Pure Storage FlashArray 8 • VMware Voeter 7 • VMware Voeter 7 • Hitachi Virtual Storage P., 4	
	Policies			
	Pools	Display Name Description System Defined Default V	ersion Executions Last Execution Status Validation Status Last Update	
Ł	OPTIMIZE ~	Update VMFS Datast Expand a datastore o Yes	4 0 - Oralid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM	
ø	ADMIN ~	Update Storage Host Update the storage h Yes	4 0 - Oct 10, 2021 2:25 AM	
		Update NAS Datastore Update NAS datastor Yes	1 0 - 🥑 Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM	
н м ш о о б о х а х а с а с а с а с а с а с а с а с а с а с		Remove VMFS Datast Remove VMFS datast Yes	6 0 · @ Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM · ·	
		Remove Storage Host Remove storage host Yes	2 0 · 🥑 Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM · ·	
I MON I MON I MON I OPE I OPE Prof Prof Prof I OPE Prof I OPE I OPE		Remove Storage Host Remove storage host Yes	4 0 · O Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM ···	
		Remove Storage Expo Remove the NFS volu Yes	1 0 · O Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM ···	
		Remove NAS Datastore Remove the NAS data_ Yes	1 0 - 🥑 Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM	
		New VMFS Datastore Create a storage volu Yes	5 0 - 🥥 Valid Dec 10, 2021 2:25 AM	
		New Virtual Machine Create a new virtual Yes	1 0 - Oct 10, 2021 2:25 AM	
Control Orchestrat Profiles Templates Policies Pools Pools Pool ADMIN			K (1 of 3)	

Step 3. In the Select File screen:

- From the Organization drop-down list, click the organization to which you want to import the workflow(s).
- Click Browse and select the JSON file that contains the Workflow(s).

Note: Ensure that the file size of the JSON file is not more than 1MB. If the file size is more than 1MB, export the workflow(s) in batches, and then try import.

• Click Next.

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator validates the JSON file and displays the workflow(s) in the Details screen.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration >	Import		🗘 🗖 49 🔺 5		₽ \$ 3		
<u>00o</u>		🚈 Progress			Step 1				
Ŷ	OPERATE V	Select File		for	Select File				
×	CONFIGURE ^			~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~					
	Orchestration	2 Details							
	Profiles	3 Import Result		import wizard	l are completed	ps of the			
	Templates			Organization *					
	Policies			default			<u>~ 0</u>		
	Pools								
⊵	OPTIMIZE ~				Selected File Export_Workflow,	_DisasterRe			
Ō	ADMIN ~								
									Next >

Step 4. In the Details screen:

• To associate an additional tag to the components listed in the table, enter the tag in the Set Tags field.

Note: Set Tags is an optional field. You must enter the tag in the key:value format.

• If one or more workflow components are already available in the system, click a rule to replace or skip the duplicate components.

Note: A warning displays. This happens because the System-defined objects cannot be imported and will be skipped.

• Click Import.

=	-ihidhi cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Import		🕥 🛛 Paniraja Koppa 🖉
<u>00o</u>	MONITOR	🚈 Progress	Step 2	
Ŷ	OPERATE ~	Select File	Check the import datails	
×	CONFIGURE ^	Ĭ		
	Orchestration		Details	
	Profiles	3 Import Result		
	Templates		default Set Tags	
	Policies		File Components	
	Pools		You have 55 system-defined objects as part of this import. System-defined objects cannot be imported and will be	
Ľ	OPTIMIZE 🗸		skipped.	
ē	ADMIN ~		1 items found 14 × per page K < 1 of 1 > 3	
			Name Display Label Type Version Tags	
			DisasterRecovery Disaster Recovery Workflow 2 -	
5				Import >

Step 5. In the Import Result screen:

- Verify the status of the imported workflow.
- To view the details of the import request:
 - Click the link displayed above the table.
 - Alternatively, click the Requests icon displayed in the menu bar.
 - Click Close.

Note: You can run the imported workflow from the Workflows tab.

Step 6. Click the newly imported workflow. Multiple errors are displayed.

These errors are shown because the original workflow had multiple workflow inputs which were mapped to static values. For example, in Disaster Recovery Workflow, task Create Volume in FlexPod has a task input Storage Device, Storage Vendor Aggregate having static values mapped. These static values will not be carried to the account where it is imported.



Step 7. Click the first task.

Step 8. In the Workflow Properties area, click Inputs.



Step 9. For the task input which shows Value Not Specified, click Map.



Step 10. Provide the new value on the current Intersight account and click Map.



- **Step 11.** Repeat steps 1 10 for all inputs.
- **Step 12.** For the task input that shows an error, click Edit Mapping.



Step 13. Provide the new value on the current Cisco Intersight account and click Map.



- **Step 14.** Repeat steps 1 13 for all inputs.
- **Step 15.** Repeat providing new values to the workflow input for all the tasks and click Save.
- **Step 16.** Make sure the workflow displays as Valid.

≡	،اانداله cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit	🗘 🖪 49 🛕 5 😑 2 📢 3 🔍	
<u>00o</u>		General Designer Mapping Code		⊘ Valid Actions ✓
Ŷ	OPERATE V	도 Tools 🗍		
×	CONFIGURE ^	Tasks Workflows Operations		
	Orchestration	Q. Search		
	Profiles	• Executors		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
	Templates	Invoke Ansible Playbook Invoke Ansible Playbook		8
	Policies	Invoke PowerShell Script		٩
		Invoke SSH Commands		
\mathbb{P}	OPTIMIZE V	Invoke Web API Request		
ø	ADMIN V	Compute		
		Add Server Policies to Profile		
		Clear Server Storage Controller Foreign Configuration Map volume to Datastore Virtualization		
		Copy Server Profile		
		Delete Server Virtual Drives		
		Deploy Server Profile		
		Dismount Server Virtual Media Device		
		Import Server Storage Controller Foreign Configuration Add Terraform Variables		
		Mount Server Virtual Media Device		
		New Server Precision Boot Device		
		TH New Server Profile		
		Close	Last saved 2 hours ago	Save

Step 17. Once Valid, you can execute the imported workflow from the Workflows tab.

Procedure 17. Export a Workflow

Complete this procedure if you have a requirement to export a workflow from one Cisco Intersight account to another.

- **Step 1.** Click Orchestration from the left navigation pane.
- Step 2. Click the Workflow tab.
- **Step 3.** From the tabular list of workflows, do one of the following:
 - Click a workflow then click the Ellipsis (...) icon in the same row and then click Export Workflow.

≡	uludu Intersigh	t		IGURE > Orchestration				Q 🔺 1	ନ ସ ବ		Paniraja	а Корра 🚨
<u>00o</u>			Workflo	ows Tasks Data Types							Create	Workflow
Ŵ	OPERATE											
×	CONFIGURE		My W	Vorkflows Sample Workflows X All	Workflows ⊕ +							
	Orchestration			Add Filter					47 items found 15	∽ perpage [K] 	< 1 of 4	<u>></u>
	Profiles		Vali	dation Sta Last Executio 7	Top 5 Workflows by Exe Add Te	rraform Variables 83	Top 5 Workflow Categories Storage 9	System Defin	Top 5 Distribution by Targe	rts		
	Templates		CONFIGURE > Orchestration Workflows Tasks Data Types My Workflows Sample Workflows X All Workflows Image: Configure on premises FlexPod storage Configure on premises FlexPod storage Creating multiple storage volumes Image: Creating multiple storage volumes Update Storage Host Update Storage Host Image: Creating Host Group Remove Storage Host Remove Storage Export Policy Remove NAS Datastore Remove NAS Datastore Remove NAS Datastore Image: Configure Contrage Host Remove Storage Host Remove Storage Export Policy Remove NAS Datastore	167 Replica Create PoC VM	tion Workflow 39 a CVO Cluster 27 A Migration 12	24 Virtualization Terraform Clou Compute 1	7 id 6 No 21	(32) • Pure Stora	ge FlashArray 8 Center 7	ishArray 8 r 7		
	Policies								Hitachi Vin	ual Storage P 4		
	Pools			Display Name		System Defined	Default Version	Description				
12	OPTIMIZE							Workflow which creates co	onfigures SnapMirror between F	lexPod and Cloud	Volumes ONTAP	
ے م	ADMIN								Clone			
æ								Configure on-premise Flex	Pod storage		xecute	
						Yes		Expand a datastore on hyp	pervisor manager by extending t	he backing sto	Paniraja k Create W Create W Create W Create W Create W Solution Cone Execute Execute Export Workflow History Manage Versions Delete s uence. w will also remove	
						Yes		Update the storage host d	etails. If the inputs for a task are	provided ther	listory	
						Yes		Update NAS datastore by	expanding capacity of the under	lying NFS volu	fanage Versions	
a 7							Yes 6 Re		Remove VMFS datastore and remove the backing volume from			
						Yes		Remove storage host grou	In If hosts are provided as input	the workflow will	remove the hos	
						Vac		2 Remove storage nost group. It nosts are provided as input, the worknow will remove t				
_						Nee	4	Remove storage nost. If ht	used as a second s	the sectors of	win also remove.	
	CONFIGURE A CONFIGURE C CONFIGURE C CONFIGURE C CONFIGURE C C CONFIGURE C C CONFIGURE C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C				Yes		Remove the NFS volume a	nd the export policy attached to	the volume.			
						Yes	s 1 Remove the NAS datastore and the underlying NFS storage					

• Select multiple workflows, click the Ellipsis (...) icon from the header or footer of the tabular list and then click Export Workflow.

Step 4. Click the workflow. Navigate to Actions > Export Workflow.



Note: You can also export workflows from the Actions menu in the Workflow Designer window.

Step 5. In the Export Workflow screen:

• In the JSON File Name field, use the default filename or enter a filename of your choice for the JSON file that stores the workflow components.



- Use the Export Tags toggle button to include or exclude the user-defined tags. ICO does not export the system-defined tags.
- Click Export.

Step 6. Save a local copy of the JSON file.

Procedure 18. Execute a Workflow

Step 1. To execute a workflow, select workflow from the tabular list of workflows and click Execute.



Step 2. Alternatively, you can click the workflow name and then click Execute in the Workflow Designer.



Note: You must have all the required privileges to execute all the domain tasks within a workflow. For example, you can successfully execute a workflow that includes storage and virtualization tasks only if you have both Storage and Virtualization Administrator privileges. In the absence of either one of these privileges, the Execute button will not be displayed and the user cannot execute the workflow.

Step 3. Select the organization where the workflow was created and select the Workflow Instance Name.

Enter Workflow Ir	nput	×
Organization *		v 0
Workflow Instance Nar	me	0

Note: When the organization is selected, it lists all the input variables along with the default values entered which can be changed. The screenshot show below is for all workflow input configured for Disaster Recovery Workflow.

Organization *	
default	
workflow Instance Name	
Storage Vendor Volume Options	
Platform Type 🛈	
Pure Hitachi NetApı FlashArray Virtual Active Storage Platform Manag	D None IQ Jer
Volume *	
Test_Vol1	
V NFS 0	
☑ NFS ⊙ Mount Path	
✓ NFS ◎ Mount Path /Test_Vol1	
✓ NFS ⊙ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity	
✓ NFS ○ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size *	
NFS © Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size * 100	
✓ NFS ○ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size * 100	
✓ NFS ○ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit *	
NFS ⊙ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB	
 ✓ NFS ○ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB 	0
Very NFS ⊙ Mount Path /Test_Vol1 Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB	0 × × 0

Step 4. After entering values for all input variables, click Execute to run the workflow.

You can observe the progress of each task, input each task took, output it produced and so on, while the execution is happening.



When all the tasks are complete, you can see the status as Success.



In the previous section, 2 workflows were created: Configure on-premises FlexPod storage and Disaster Recovery Workflow. Configure on-premises FlexPod storage workflow will be executed first since it creates and configures the Storage Virtual Machine which can be used by Disaster Recovery Workflow.

After the Configure on-premises FlexPod storage workflow execution is complete, you can verify it in the ONTAP System manager that a new Storage VM is created with NFS as configured protocol.

	AP Sys	stem Manager		Search actions, obje	cts, and pages Q		0 ↔ ± ‼
DASHBOARD		Storage VMs					
STORAGE	^	+ Add				Q Search 💆 Dow	vnload 🛛 🛛 Show / Hide 👻 😇 Filter
Overview		Name	State	Subtype	Configured Protocols	IPspace	Protection
Applications		bb09-Infra-SVM	running	default	NFS, iSCSI, FC	Default	•
LUNs		bb09-IOM-SVM	running	default	NFS, iSCSI, FC	Default	•
Shares		FPV-VXLAN-SVM	running	default	NFS	Default	•
Quotas		Intersight-Team-SVM	running	default	NFS, FC	Default	•
Storage VMs		SVM_CVO_Integration	running	default	NFS	Default	•
Tiers							
NETWORK	~						
EVENTS & JOBS	~						
PROTECTION	~						
HOSTS	~						
CLUSTER	~						

2 NFS interfaces are created, one logical interface mapped to each controller:

≡		AP Sys	stem	Manager				Searc	h actio	ns, obje	cts, and pages	۹					9	\diamond	÷
DASI	IBOARD		0	verview															4
STOP Overv Applie	RAGE riew cations	^		IPspaces				+		Bro	adcast Domain	IS							
Volun	nes			Cluster	Broadcast Dor Cluster	mains				Clu	ister	900	00 MTU IPspace: Clu: bb09-a300-1 bb09-a300-1	ter -01 e0a e0b -02 e0a e0b					
Share Qtree Quota	s 35			Default Storage VMs bb09-infra-SVM ,bb09-iOM-SVM ,FPV-VXLAN-SVM , intersight-Team-SVM ,SVM_CVO_Integration Broadcast Domains			Default			1500 MTU IPspace: Default bb09-a300-1-01 e0M e0c a0b-17 bb09-a300-1-02 e0M e0c a0b-17									
Stora Tiers	ge VMs																		
Over	NORK	^		Network Interface	S						+	nfs	-tif	×	Download \Xi	Filter 🛛 🛛	Show / H	lide 🗸	
Ether	net Ports			Name		Status 🗘	Storage VM		IPspace		Address		Current Node	Current P	Protocols	Туре	т	hroughp	ut
FC Po		J.		nfs-lif-01		0	Intersight-Team-SVM		Default		192.168.51.38		bb09-a300-1-01	a0b-3051	NFS	Data			0
PROT	TECTION	~ ~		nfs-lif-02		0	Intersight-Team-SVM		Default		192.168.51.39		bb09-a300-1-02	a0b-3051	NFS	Data			0
ноз	rs	~		nfs-lif-01		0	SVM_CVO_Integration		Default		192.168.55.18		bb09-a300-1-01	a0b-3055	NFS	Data			0
CLUS	TER	~		nfs-lif-IB-MGMT-01		0	SVM_CVO_Integration		Default Default		192.168.55.19		bb09-a300-1-02	a0b-3055	NFS	Data			0
				nfs-lif-1		0	bb09-IOM-SVM		Default		192.168.52.18		bb09-a300-1-01	a0b-3052	NFS	Data			0
				nfs-lif-1		0	bb09-Infra-SVM		Default		192.168.51.18		bb09-a300-1-01	a0b-3051	NFS	Data		0	.03
				nfs-lif-2		0	bb09-IOM-SVM		Default		192.168.52.19		bb09-a300-1-02	a0b-3052	NFS	Data			0

NFS is the configured access protocol for all the volumes created in this Storage Virtual Machine:

	P Sys	stem Manager	Search actions, objects, and pages Q	o 💠 🛓 🏭
DASHBOARD		Storage VMs		
STORAGE	^	+ Add E More		Q Search
Overview		Name	SVM_CVO_Integration_All Storage VMs	🖌 Edit 🚦 More
Applications		bb09-Infra-SVM		
LUNs		bb09-IOM-SVM	Overview Settings SnapMirror (Local or Remote)	
Shares		FPV-VXLAN-SVM		
Qtrees		Intersight-Team-SVM	NETWORK/IP/INTERFACES NFS 3 Protocols	
Storage VMs		SVM_CVO_Integration		
Tiers			192.108.100.31 113 3000/013 1363 170	
NETWORK	~		default	
EVENTS & JOBS	~		NIS DOMAIN Not configured	
PROTECTION	~		LDAP SERVERS 23.6	GB 105 GB
HOSTS	~		NOT CONTIGUED PHYSICAL LIDAP ACTIVE DIFFECTORY DOMAIN	USED AVAILABLE
CLUSTER	~		Not configured 0% 20% 20% 20% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80%	90% 100%
			LANGUAGE 23.7 GB logical used C.UTF_8	
			PROTECTION	
			Performance	*
			12 Hours NFSv3	
			Hour Day Week Month	Year
			Latency	0.06 ms

A storage export policy is created in Storage Virtual Machine name which can be added to volumes later:

	Syste	m Manager		Search a	ctions, objects, and page	s Q			⊘ <:	•	
DASHBOARD STORAGE	S	VM_CVO_Integration Export	Policies All Settings					Q. Search	⊖ Show/Hide ∨	₹ Filter	
Overview Applications		Policy Name default	SVM_Local_	Volumes_ONTAP-	Export-Policy AILE	xport Policies					
Volumes LUNs Shares		export-SVMpy_copy222	Rules	Assigned Objects							
Qtrees Quotas	-		+ Add				Providential Profession				
Storage VMs Tiers			1	192.168.55.0/24	NFS	Sys	Sys	Sys	65534		
NETWORK			2	192.168.166.0/24	NFS	Sys	Sys	Sys	65534		
PROTECTION V											
CLUSTER	8										

After the Disaster Recovery Workflow execution is complete, you can verify that a new volume is created in the FlexPod storage:



The created volume is mounted as datastore in the Vcenter:

vm vSphere Client Menu V	Q Search in all environments					, © ~		٢
(1) (2) (2)	Test_Vol1 ACT			dana Ohia				
 Bb09-vc.flexpod.cisco.com BB09-DC fpv_vslan_datastore infra_datastore infra_ds_01 int_infra_ds_02 	Summary Monitor Cor Type: NFS 3 URL: ds:///w	ngure Permissions Hie	rs Hosts VMS 1	More Obje	iets		Storage Pres: 75.41 Used: 19.59 GB Capacity: 95 Refre	GB GB esh
int_ots_01	Details			^	Related Objects		~	·
iom_datastore	Location	ds:///vmfs/volumes/e	71b3868-ba949397/		Contract the base			
Local_Volume_01	Туре	NFS 3		Custom Attributes		^	*	
ONTAP Select DS 01	Hosts	3	Attribute		Value			
ONTAP_Select_DS_02	110303	5						
Pani-test-nfs (inaccessible)	Virtual machines	0						
sniffer-esxi-datastore	VM templates	0						
Software	Server	192.168.55.18						
Test_SVM_01_iscsi_datastore_01					<		> v	,
Test_SVM_01_nfs_datastore_02	Folder	/Test_Vol1					No items to display	
Test_von					Edit			
QVOIS NES								
0	Tags			^				
	Assigned Tag	Category	Description					
				^				~

In the Terraform cloud a new workspace is created:

cisco-intersight-time / Workspaces Workspaces Matching 1 of 30 total Clear filters Workspaces Matching 1 of 30 total Clear filters All 50 Needs Attention 1 Errored 5 C Running 0 O On Hold 2 Success 17 Totag Status 14 Sort Cvo Q Workspace NAME RUN STATUS REPO LATEST CHANGE Cvo.snapmirror 13 minutes ago	V cisco-intersight-tme V Workspaces	tegistry Usage Settings HashiCo	rp Cloud Platform 🗷		0 📃
Workspaces Matching 1 of 30 total Image: Clear filters + New workspace All Image: All Image: Clear filters Image: Clear filters Image: Clear filters + New workspace All Image: All Image: Clear filters Image: Clear filters<	cisco-intersight-tme / Workspaces				
All and Attention 1 and Errored 5 c? Running and an Hold 2 and Success 17 Tag Tag Tag Tag Tag Status 14 Sort Cvo Q WORKSPACE NAME RUN STATUS REPO LATEST CHANGE Cvo_snagmirror VApplied pkoppa/cvo_snagmirror 13 minutes ago	Workspaces Matching 1 of 30 total Clear filter	1			+ New workspace
WORKSPACE NAME RUN STATUS REPO LATEST CHANGE cvo_snapmirror > Applied pkoppa/cvo_snapmirror 13 minutes ago	All 30 A Needs Attention 1 S Errored 5	C Running 0 On Hold 2	Success 17 $\overline{\mp}$ Tag $\overline{\mp}$ Stat	us 🐴 Sort 🛛 cvo	Q
cvo_snapmirror v Applied pkoppa/cvo_snapmirror 13 minutes ago	WORKSPACE NAME	RUN STATUS	REPO	LATEST CHANGE	
	cvo_snapmirror	✓ Applied	pkoppa/cvo_snapmirror	13 minutes ago	

The workspace has been configured with all non-sensitive and sensitive variables:

*	cisco-intersight-tme 🗸	Workspac	es Registry	Usage	Settings	HashiCorp Cloud Platform 🖄			0 📃			
cisco-intersig	ght-tme / Workspaces /	cvo_snapmirre	or / Variables									
cvo_snap	cvo_snapmirror Resources Terraform version Updated Workspace to create CVO and configure SnapMirror 5 1.1.0 14 minutes ago											
Overview	/ Runs States	Variables	Settings 🗸					습 Unlocked	Actions ~			
Varia	ables											
Terraforn configura	rm uses all Terraform 🕑	and <mark>Environm</mark> ouse the Terrafo	ent 🖸 variables fo rm Cloud Provide	r all plans a r or the varia	nd applies in ables API to	this workspace. Workspaces using Terraform add multiple variables at once.	0.10.0 or later can also load default value	es from any *.auto.tfv	ars files in the			
Sensitive	ve variables											
Sensitive	e 🕜 variables are never :	shown in the U	I or API, and can't	be edited.	They may ap	pear in Terraform logs if your configuration is d	esigned to output them. To change a sen	nsitive variable, delete and r	eplace it.			
Works	space variables	(17)										
Variables	es defined within a works	space always o	verwrite variables	from varial	ole sets that	have the same type and the same key. Learn m	ore about variable set precedence 2.					
Key							Value	Category				
nam Nam	ne_of_on-prem-ontap me of the On-premise ON	NTAP					bb09-a300-1	terraform				
regio AWS	ion 'S region where the work	ing environme	nt will be created				us-west-1	terraform				
on-p Adm	prem-ontap_user_name min user name for the st	orage cluster					admin	terraform				
on-p The	prem-ontap_cluster_ip e ip address of the storage	ge cluster man	agement interfac	2			192.168.166.20	terraform				
sour The	Irce_volume e name of the source vol	ume					Test_Vol1	terraform				
vpc_ The	_id • VPC ID where the work	ing environme	nt will be created				vpc-05096699a4a5a1bce	terraform				

The execution was triggered in the Terraform cloud and it completed successfully:

💙 cisco-intersight-tme 🗸 🛛 Workspaces Registry Usage Settings HashiCorp Cloud Platform 🛛			0 📃
cisco-intersight-tme / Workspaces / cvo_snapmirror / Runs / run-VQ8kiWo9qCug7L3R			
cvo_snapmirror Workspace to create CVO and configure SnapMirror	Resources 5	Terraform version 1.1.0	Updated 14 minutes ago
Overview <mark>Runs</mark> States Variables Settings ∽		් Unlocked	Actions ~
✓ Applied Terraform plan for replication between on-prem volume and CVO			CURRENT
panirajkoppa triggered a run from API 39 minutes ago			Run Details 🗸 🗸
Plan finished 39 minutes ago	Res	sources: 4 to add, 0 to chang	e, 0 to destroy 🗸 🗸
Cost estimation finished 39 minutes ago	Resou	rces: 0 of 4 estimated · \$0.0	0/mo·+\$0.00 ∨
Apply finished 16 minutes ago	R	esources: 4 added, 0 change	d, 0 destroyed A
Started 38 minutes ago > Finished 16 minutes ago			
E View raw log	↑ Тор	⊥ Bottom ‡ Expand	۲ Full screen
<pre>netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_ws.cvo-aws.Still creating [2Mm30s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_ws.cvo-aws.Still creating [2Im30s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_ws.cvo-aws.Still creating [2Im30s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_cvo_ws.cvo-aws.Still creating netapp-cloudmanager_volume.cvo-volume-nfs. Creating netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror.cl-snapmirror: Sreating netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror.cl-snapmirror: Still creating [10s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror.cl-snapmirror: Still creating [10s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror.cl-snapmirror: Still creating [20s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror.cl-snapmirror: Still creating [30s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_snapmirror.cl-snapmirror: Still creating [50s etapsed] netapp-cloudmanager_snapmir</pre>			

Terraform cloud lists all the resource created:

cvo_snapmirror Workspace to create CVO and configure	SnapMirror			Resources 5	Terraform version Updated 1.1.0 14 minu	utes ago	
Overview Runs States Vari	ables Settings V				🖒 Unlocked 🛛 🗛	ions 🗸	
Latest Run View all runs	n between on-prem ⊮our ago via ₫ API ⇔ 91£:	volume and CVO		✓ Applied	 pkoppa/cvo_snapmirror [2] Readme Execution mode: Remote Auto apply: Off Metrics (last 1 run) 		
Policy checks Estimated cost change Add None	e Plan & apply duration Less than a minute	Resources changed +4 ~0 -0		See details	Average plan duration Average apply duration	< 1 min 23 mins	
Resources 5 Outputs 0				Current as of the most recent state version.	Total failed runs Policy check failures	0	
Filter resources Q					Tags (0)		
NAME	PROVIDER	TYPE	MODULE	UPDATED \$	Add a tag	~	
cl-snapmirror	netapp/netapp- c	netapp-cloud	root	Dec 9 2021	Tags have not been added to this	workspace.	
CVO-aWS	netapp/netapp- c	netapp-cloud	root	Dec 9 2021	Run triggers	6	
cvo-onprem	netapp/netapp- c	netapp-cloud	root	Dec 9 2021	No source workspaces have been	n selected.	
cvo-volume-nfs	netapp/netapp- c	netapp-cloud	root	Dec 9 2021	Adding run triggers will allow runs to queue automatically in this workspace.		
on-prem-ontap	netapp/netapp- c	data.netapp	root	Dec 9 2021	Contributors (1)		
1 - 5 of 5 resources.					0		

In the NetApp Cloud Manager, you can see that the on-premise FlexPod storage was added into the working environment as well a newly created Cloud Volumes ONTAP cluster:

 Cloud Ma	nager						Account UCS_Solutio	Workspace	e 🎽 Connector 🎽 🛕 🐯 🕜 🛞
Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸	
O Canv	as								🖽 Go to Tabular View
G Add We	orking Environment								Working Environments
		dr.,dest.cvoon.aws Cloud Volumes ONTAP 102 Gill Capacity Replic	aws			Amazon S3 40 3 Buckets Regions	aws		Control Volumes ONTAP 102 GiB Provisioned Capacity 1 On-Premises ONTAP 33.28 TiB Provisioned Capacity 1 Amazon S3 0 Buckets
		bb09-a300-1 On-Premises ONTAP 33.28 TIB Capacity						- +	Q

In the Cloud Volumes ONTAP cluster, you can see the created volumes:

	Cloud Ma	nager				Account Vorkspace Connector Account Connector Of the Conn					9 ®		
	Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸				
(dr_dest	_cvo_on_a	ws							AWS	₿ AW	S Manage	d Encryption
Vo	olumes Cost	Replications								0 () C	Ŀ	-∿- ≡
Volu	mes									c	2	Add Volu	ime 👻
2 Volur	nes 101 GB Allocate	d 19.65 GB Total Use	d (19.65 GB in EBS, 0 KB in S3)										
	dr_dest_vo	olume_on_aws		ONLINE		test_cvo_v	volume		ONLINE				
	INFO		CAPACITY			INFO		CAPACITY					
	Disk Type Tiering Policy Backup	GP2 None OFF	100 GB Allocated	19.65 GB EBS Used		Disk Type Tiering Policy Backup	GP2 None OFF	1 G Alloca	6.54 MB EBS Used ted				

You can also verify that the SnapMirror relationship is established between the on-premises volume and the cloud volume:
		Cloud Mana	ıger						Account UCS_Solution	, ~ ∣	Workspace CVO-DR	~	Connector aws-connector	~	Φ	¢	0	8
		Canvas	Replication	Backup & Rest	ore K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Service	es (+8) 🗸							
	ì	dr_dest_	cvo_on_av	NS										AWS	₿ AV	VS Manage	ed Encry	ption
	Volur	nes Cost	Replications															Ξ
	ŧ	1 Volume Relation	nships	&	19.43 GB Replicated Capaci	у	₿→₿	0 Currently Trans	sferring		۲	1 Healthy		()	0 Fa	ailed		
s	Search		Q 1 relatio	nship									C Refres	ih	🚻 Ad	d / Remov	e columr	ns
		Source 👻	Target	t Lag	g Duration	Relationship Hea	lth Status		Mirror State		Last Success	ful Transfer	Policy		Sc	hedule		
		Test_Vol1 bb09-a300-1	dr_dest_vo dr_dest_cv	olume_on_aws 7 m o_on_aws	ninutes	✓ Healthy	idle		snapmirrore	d	Dec 9, 2021 0 5.93 GB	5:06:36 pm	Mirror		10	min		

More information on the replication task can be found in Replication tab:

	ager				Account UCS_Solution	s Workspace CVO-DR		Connector ~	¢	ţ <u></u>	0	8
Canvas	Replication Backup & Resto	re K8s Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸						
Replication	ation											
	Test_Vol1 (bb09-a300-1) Source Volume	dr_des	t_volume_on_a	aws (dr_dest_d	st_c Healthy Replication Health							
	Transfer Info											
	idle Status	N/A Type	19.66 GiB Total Size			s 12 seconds tion	N/A Priority					
	100 MiB/s Max Transfer Rate	16 minutes 41 seconds Total Transfer Time	snapmirrored Mirror State		19.43 GiB Used Size	B / O B e / Used on Cloud	1:1 Network	k Compression Ratio				
	Last Transfer Info											
	Dec 9, 2021, 5:06:36 PM Last Successful	5.93 GiB Size	5.93 GiB 4 minutes 12 Size Duration			updat Type	ie					
	Volume Info											
	Source Availability Zone	SVM_CVO_Integration Source SVM Name		us-west-1b Destination Avail	lability Zon	e Destir	dr_dest_cvo	_on_aws Name			(
	Canvas (a) Replic	Canvas Replication Backup & Restor Image: Canvas Im	Canvas Replication Backup & Restore KBs Data Sense Image: Sense of the sens	Carvas Replication Backup & Restore K8s Data Sense File Cache Image: Carvas Replication Image: Carvas Image: Carvas	Carvas Replication Backup & Restore KB Data Sense File Cache Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: Compute Compute Image: C	Carros Replication Backup & Restore Kits Data Sense File Cache Compute Sync Image: Compute Synce Synce Synce Image: Compute Synce Synce Image: Compute Synce Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Compute Synce Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Compute Synce Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Compute Synce Image: Comp	Canvas Replication Backup & Restore Vis Data Sense File Cache Compute Sync All Services (+8) ~ Image: Compute Section Image: Compute Sec	Canvas Replication Backup & Restore Vis Data Sense File Cache Compute Sync All Services (+8) ~ Image: Compute Service Volume Image: Compute Service Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Image: Volume Imag	Carnos Replication Backup & Restore Visit Data Series File Cache Compute Synt All Services (+1) v Image: compute comp	Carros Replication Backup & Restore Vis Data Series File Cache Compute Spric All Services (+8) ~ Image: Carros Replication Image: Carros <	Canas Replication Badoup & Restore VB Data Same Re Cache Compute Synt All Services (+B) ~ Image: Canastic region Restore Volume Image: Canastic region Compute Synt All Services (+B) ~ Image: Canastic region Image: Can	Canas Replication Backup & Restore Mo Data Sense File Cache Compute Sync All Service (48) × Image: Compute Image: Compute Image: Compute Sync All Service (48) × Image: Compute Image: Compute </th

Procedure 19.

Rollback execution

Rollback Execution helps in reverting the entities created or modified when executing a workflow. Rollback occurs at the task level and can be executed for selected tasks in a workflow. Rollback can be executed for workflows containing tasks for which rollback is defined. For example, if a workflow has two tasks and if the two tasks have defined what a rollback is, then the Rollback button is displayed.

If a workflow contains a series of tasks, the rollback occurs for each task in the workflow. When a rollback is triggered, all tasks in workflow are collected and the status is displayed. When executing rollback tasks in a series, you can toggle ON the Abort rollback, if rollback for a task fails, to stop rollback execution if the rollback for a task in the series fails.

Step 1. Do one of the following:

- Workflow Designer-Click Rollback in the bottom of the window.
- Requests page-Select a request and click Rollback in the Actions column.
- Detailed Request page—In the Requests page, click the specific request to navigate to the detailed request page and click Rollback.
- **Step 2.** Click Rollback. The Rollback Wizard appears displaying the list of all applicable tasks that can be rollback are displayed. This wizard displays the requests which in turn list the executed workflow details.



Step 3. Select the specific tasks or all tasks to initiate a rollback action. On successful completion, a separate workflow is initiated with prefix "RollbackWorkflow," task status is either Failed or Completed and the completed task can no longer selected.

≡	cisco Intersight	Requests > Disaster Recovery We	orkflow > Rollback				Q ▲ 1		¢‡			
<u>00o</u>	MONITOR				Pollback	Execution						
Ŷ	OPERATE			£0}	The Rollback	execution feature reverts						
×				~~ (³)								
	Orchestration		Selected Request									
	Profiles											
	Templates			Disaster Recovery Workf 61b29c91696f6e2d32fa	low Df66			 Succes Dec 9, 2021 	4:17 PM			
	Policies			DisasterRecoveryWorkfic	ow (Orche			Dec 9, 2021	4:20 PM			
				pkoppa@cisco.com								
Ŀ	OPTIMIZE		Select tasks to Rollback									
ē	ADMIN		Abort rollback, if any rollback	ack task fails								
	Targets		Search	_				Show	v Rollback S	upported		
	Software Repository		Collapse All Select A	Show Selecte	ed (20) Clea	r All						
			🖃 🛃 AddTerraformSensitiv	veVariables								
			- 🖃 🛃 AddTerraformSen	sitive Variable								
			Add Terrafor	m Sensitive Variable 💿					Not Star	ted		
			- 🗹 Add Terrafor	m Sensitive Variable 🛈					Not Star	ted		
			- 🛃 Add Terrafor	m Sensitive Variable 🛈					Not Star	rted		
			📃 🛃 Add Terrafori	m Sensitive Variable 💿					Not Star	ted		
			Add All Sensitive	Variables Batch 0					Not Suppor	rted		
			Add All Variables	Batch 0					Not Suppor	rted		
			Get Workspace D	Details					Not Suppor	rted		
		Cancel										Rollback

Procedure 20. Manage Versions

It is possible to create a new version of your workflow with new set of tasks added or deleted. You can manage different versions of workflow; each version consisting of different set of inputs, tasks and so on. You can create a new workflow version, delete an existing version, and change the default version.

- Step 1. Click the workflow.
- **Step 2.** Click Actions > Manage Versions.

≡ duala intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration > Disaster Recovery Workflow > Edit	🗘 🛕 1 🖸 📢 🔍 💮 🎯 Paniraja Koppa 🖉
	General Designer Mapping Code History	🔿 Valid 🛛 🗸 Actions 💝
OPERATE	⊂ Tools	Execute
X CONFIGURE		Export Workflow
Orchestration	Tasks Workflows Operations	Start Manage Versions
Profiles	Q, Search	Save As
Templates	• Executors	Delete
rempiarez	Invoke Ansible Playbook	e in FlexPod 물
Policies	Invoke SSH Commands	Q.
Pools	Invoke Web API Request	
	Compute Compute Compute	xport Policy
	Add Server Policies to Profile	
	Clear Server Storage Controller Foreign Configuration	
Targets	Copy Server Profile	Datastore
Software Repository	Delete Server Virtual Drives	

Step 3. Click Create a New Version.

≡	cisco Intersight	CONFIGURE > Orchestration			very Workflo	w > Manage Versions		Ç	u ∆ 1 🛛 🗹	¢1 0, 6						
<u>00o</u>	MONITOR						M		arciana							
Ŵ	OPERATE			You can create a new workflow version, delete an existing version, and channe the default version												
×	CONFIGURE		existing version, and change the default version													
	Orchestration															
	Profiles		Creat	e a New Versi	on											
	Templates		① ⑦ ♀ Add Filter ① ↓ per page K < 1 of 1 ▷ ▷													
	Policies					Validation Infor_ 0			Last Execution Status	Description 0	Last Update					
	Pools			1 (default)						Workflow which crea	Dec 9, 2021 4:11 PM					
⊵	OPTIMIZE															
ছ	ADMIN															
	Targets															
	Software Repository															

Step 4. Select the source version. Provide a new version number and click Set as Default Version if you want this version to be displayed by default. Click Create.

1	~ @)
Version *		
2	() a)
Description	0	>
Set as Default Version		

Step 5. Click the new version.

≡	راندان Intersigh داده			Disaster Recovery Workflo	ow > Manage Versions			Q 🔺 1 🛛 🗹	¢4 0, 6						
<u>00o</u>							Maaria								
Ŷ	OPERATE				ξÕ	You can creat	Manage versions You can create a new workflow version, delete an								
×	CONFIGURE				~ ~	existing version	on, and change the default								
	Orchestration														
	Profiles														
	Templates			Add Filt	er			d 10 √ perpage i∢							
	Policies				Validation Infor		Last Execution Status	Description 0	Last Update						
	Pools			2 (default)					2 minutes ago						
Ŀ	OPTIMIZE							Workflow which crea	2 minutes ago						
þ	ADMIN														
	Targets														
	Software Repository														

Note: You can make the necessary modification in Manager Versions. The changes will only be reflected in version 2. The version 1 will not have the changes.

Solution Validation - Test Methodology and Success Criteria

In this section, let's revisit the solution with a sample data replication workflow and take a few measures to verify the integrity of the data replication from the NetApp ONTAP instance running in FlexPod to NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP running in AWS.

You've used the Cisco Intersight workflow orchestrator in this solution and will continue to leverage this for our use-case.

It should be noted that only a limited set of Cisco Intersight workflows have been used in this solution, that does not by anyway represent the entire set of workflows that Cisco Intersight is equipped with. You can create custom workflows based on their specific requirements and have them triggered from Cisco Intersight; the options are endless.

To perform the validation of a successful DR scenario, you will move the data from a volume in ONTAP that is part of the FlexPod to CVO using SnapMirror and will try to access the data from an EC2 instance followed by a data integrity check.

The following are the high-level steps to verify the success criteria of this solution:

- Generate a SHA256 checksum on the sample dataset that is present in an ONTAP volume in FlexPod
- Setup a volume SnapMirror between ONTAP in FlexPod and CVO in AWS
- Replicate the sample dataset from FlexPod to CVO
- Break the SnapMirror relationship and promote the volume in CVO to production
- Map the CVO volume with the dataset to an EC2 instance in AWS
- Generate a SHA256 checksum on the sample dataset in CVO
- Compare the checksum on source and destination, it is expected that the checksums at both sides match.

Procedure 1. Validate the solution

Step 1. Create a workflow in Intersight to create and export a volume in FlexPod.



Step 2. Provide the required inputs and execute the workflow.

default void Workflow Instance Name volume Creation Workflow Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type © Pure FlashArray Platform Pure Platform Parte FlashArray Pittorn NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager None None None None None None None None None Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Olume Capacity Size * 100 Olume Capacity Size * 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	default < O Workflow Instance Name Volume Creation Workflow Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type (> Pure Hitachi FlashArray Hitachi Volume * flexpod_data Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Oil * Unit * GiB X v O	Organization *	
Workflow Instance Name Volume Creation Workflow Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type () Pure FlashArray Virtual Storage Platform Volume * flexpod_data Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB	Workflow Instance Name Volume Creation Workflow Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type © Pure PiashArray Hitachi Storage Plate FlashArray Hitachi Storage Pure FlashArray Hitachi Storage Pure FlashArray Hitachi Storage Pure PiashArray Hitachi Storage PiashArray Hitachi Storage NetApp Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Init * GiB X Y ©	default	~ 0
Volume Creation Workflow Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type Pure FlashArray Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform NetApp Active IQ Unitied Manager None NFS Volume * flexpod_data NFS volume Option NFS volume Option NFS volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB X V ©	Volume Creation Workflow Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type Pure FlashArray Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform Volume* flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS Volume Option NFS Volume Option Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB X V 0		
Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type ③ Pure FlashArray Virtual Virtual Platform Volume * flexpod_data flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS ⑤ Mount Path /flexpod_data ✓ ✓ Volume Capacity Size * 100 © Unit * GiB	Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type () Pure FlashArray Virtual Storage Platform Volume * flexpod_data flexpod_data NFS Volume Option Image: NFS Volume Option Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB Xet App None Net App None None None Net App None None None None None None Net App Manager None None None None None None None Net App Manager None Net App None Net App None Net App None Net App None Notation Notation <td>Workflow Instance Name</td> <td></td>	Workflow Instance Name	
Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type Pure FlashArray Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform NetApp Active IQ Unifted Manager NFS Volume Option NFS Volume Option NFS Volume Option NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × v ©	Storage Vendor Volume Options Platform Type Pure FlashArray Hitachi Storage Platform Active IQ Unified Manager Volume * flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS Volume Option NFS © Volume Capacity Size * 100		
Platform Type O Pure FlashArray Volume * Texpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS O Mount Path /Texpod_data O Volume Capacity Size * 100 O Unit * GiB X v 0	Platform Type © Pure FlashArray Hitachi Virtual Storage Platform NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager None NetApp Active IQ Unified Manager NetApp Active IQ Unified Active IQ Unifi	Storage Vendor Volume Options	
Pure FlashArray Virtual Storage Platform Active IQ Wirtual Manager Volume * fexpod_data Image: Texpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB NetApp Active IQ Mone Mathematical Active IQ Manager None </td <td>Pure FlashArray Virtual Storage Platform Active IQ Uniffed Manager Volume * flexpod_data ○ NFS Volume Option Image: NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data /flexpod_data ○ Volume Capacity Size * 100 ○ Unit * ○ () None () None</td> <td>Platform Type 🛇</td> <td></td>	Pure FlashArray Virtual Storage Platform Active IQ Uniffed Manager Volume * flexpod_data ○ NFS Volume Option Image: NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data /flexpod_data ○ Volume Capacity Size * 100 ○ Unit * ○ () None () None	Platform Type 🛇	
Volume * flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × × ©	Volume * flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × V ©	Pure Hitachi Ne FlashArray Hitachi Ac Storage Ur Platform Mi	etApp None :tive IQ iffied anager
flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × × ©	flexpod_data NFS Volume Option NFS © Mount Path /flexpod_data Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × × ©	Volume *	
NFS Volume Option Image: Size * 100 Unit * GiB	NFS Volume Option Image: NFS Image: Size * 100 Unit * GiB X v Image: Size *	flexpod_data	
/flexpod_data © Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × v ©	/flexpod_data © Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × v ©	Mount Path	
Volume Capacity Size * 100 O Unit * GiB × × ©	Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × × ©	/flexpod_data	
Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × ∨ ○	Volume Capacity Size * 100 Unit * GiB × × @		
Size * 100 O Unit * GiB × × O	Size * 100 0 Unit * GIB × × 0	Volume Capacity	
100 O Unit * GiB × ~ O	100 © Unit* GiB × × ©	Size *	
Unit* GiB × ∨ ©	Unit * GiB × ∨ ©	100	0
Unit* GiB × v ©	Unit * GIB × × ©		
GiB × ∨ ©	GIB × × 0	Unit *	
		GiB	× × 0

Step 3. Verify the newly created volume in the system manager. The volume status will be unprotected since a SnapMirror relationship is yet to be established.

DASHBOARD	Vo	lum	es										
STORAGE ^	+	Add	E More				flexpod	X & Download Show /	Hide 🗸 🐺 Filter				
Overview	0		Name	Stor	rage VM	Status	Capa	acity		IOPS	Latency (ms)	Throughput (MB/s)	Protection
Applications Volumes		^	flexpod_data	SVM	_CVD_integration	Online	204.0	1) used	100 GB M GB evailable	0	0	D ^o	
LUNS Shares Quotas Storago VMs Tiers NETWORK ~ EVENTS & JOBS ~		STM STM Fle StMc Thi	tus Conline £ xVol ce reservation in Provisioned		SVM Local Volu Quota. Off Ins.acctss 192.168.166.41:/fli 192.168.55.18:/flet View More	Export-Policy s expod_data cpod_data	TYPE Read/Wi (VM_Local_Volume	rite es_ONTEP-Export-Policy	stowag prividency Enabled Mount NATH /flexpod_data gos souch caoup -		smarshor comes (Local.) status Protected swarshor focior default	виаливлов (цосы) sratus ♥ Unprotected	or remote)
PROTECTION ~ HOSTS ~			1 110 MA 21 AUT		NFS CLIENTS (ACTIVE IN PAST 48 HOURS) -								
CLUSTER 🗸		STAT	rus Unprotected										

Step 4. Mount the same NFS volume to an on-premises virtual machine, then copy the sample dataset and perform the checksum.

🗬 root@flexpod-workload:~					
[root@flexpod-workload	~] # mount -	t nfs	192.1	68.55	.18:/flexpod data /root/flexpod workload/
[root@flexpod-workload	~]# df -h				
df: /flexpod workload:	Stale file	handle	Э		
Filesystem	Size	Used	Avail	Use%	Mounted on
devtmpfs	16G	0	16G	0%	/dev
tmpfs	16G	0	16G	08	/dev/shm
tmpfs	16G	9.4M	16G	1%	/run
tmpfs	16G	0	16G	0%	/sys/fs/cgroup
/dev/mapper/rhel-root	70G	7.1G	63G	11%	/
/dev/mapper/rhel-home	213G	1.7G	211G	18	/home
/dev/sda2	1014M	317M	698M	32%	/boot
/dev/sda1	599M	5.8M	594M	1%	/boot/efi
tmpfs	3.2G	4.6M	3.2G	18	/run/user/1000
/dev/sr0	9.5G	9.5G	0	100%	/run/media/pkoppa/RHEL-8-4-0-BaseOS-x86_64
tmpfs	3.2G	0	3.2G	0%	/run/user/0
192.168.55.18:/flexpod_	data 95G	256K	95G	18	/root/flexpod_workload
[root@flexpod-workload	~]#				

Proot@flexpod-workload:	~/fle	xpod_worklo	bad					
[root@flexpc	d-	work	Load :	flexpod work	cload	1]#	ls -la	L
total 243535	52			_				
drwxr-xr-x.	2	root	root	4096	Dec	7	23:50	5 C
dr-xr-x	9	root	root	4096	Dec	7	23:43	
-rw-rr	1	root	root	2483996461	Mar	9	2021	sample dataset 2GB.tgz
drwxrwxrwx.	2	root	root	4096	Dec	7	23:39	.snapshot
[root@flexpc	d-	work	Load :	flexpod work	cload	1]#	sha256	sum sample dataset 2GB.tgz
aa532384ad16	Sec	b69c	9b542	e9390d4c0117	/e051	288	300e236	b250e79f18fdfc15 sample dataset 2GB.tgz
[root@flexpo	od-	work	Load :	flexpod_wor}	cload	1]#		

Step 5. Create and execute another Cisco Intersight workflow to setup a SnapMirror relationship between this volume in FlexPod and CVO.

۵		
	Start	
	Add Terraform Workspace	
	Add Terratorm Variables	
	Add Terratorm Sensitive Variab	
	Start New Terratorm Plan	
	Synchronize Const Tests	
	Confirm and Apply Terratorm R	
	Last saved 11 minutes ago Saver Einstein	

Step 6. When the workflow is executed successfully, you can view the replication status in Cloud Manager.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸			
Replic	ation										
		Volume Rela	ationship	Ø	2.33 GiB Replicated Capacity		1 Currently Trans	sferring	1 Healthy	S O Failed	
		1 Volume Relationship									٩٥
		Health Status 💠	Source Volume		Target Volume ÷	Total Tra	ansfer Time 💠	Status 🔤	Mirror State	÷ Last Successful Transfer	Đ
		\odot	flexpod_data bb09-a300-1		flexpod_data_copy_aws FlexpodCVOHA	2 minute	es 40 seconds	transferring	snapmirrored	Dec 8, 2021, 11:15:46 AM 2.36 GiB	

- **Step 7.** Wait for the data transfer to complete.
- **Step 8.** When the data transfer is complete, simulate a disaster on the source side by stopping the SVM that hosts the flexpod_data volume.

■ ONTAP Sy	vstern Manager		Search act	ions, objects, and pages Q		0 o ± 111
DASHBOARD	Storage VMs					
STORAGE ^	+ Add					Q Search 👲 Download ⊚ Show / Hide 🗸 😤 Filter
Overview	Name Name	State	Subtype	Configured Protocols	IPspace	Protection
Applications Volumes	bb09-Infra-SVM	running	default	NFS, ISCSI, FC	Default	
LUNS	bbo9-IDM-SVM	running	default	NFS, ISCSI, FC	Default	
Shares	FPV-VXLAN-SVM	running	default	NFS	Default	
Qtrees Quotas	Intersight-Team-SVM	running	default	NFS, FC	Default	
Storage VMs	SVM_CVO_Integration	running	default	NFS	Default	
Tiers	Edit					
NETWORK Y	Delete					
EVENTS & JOBS	Stop					
PROTECTION V	Trace File Access					
HOSTS 🗸	Login Banner Message					
CLUSTER ~						

After the SVM has been stopped, the flexpod_data volume will not be visible in the Cloud Manager:

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸				
🕞 bb09-a3	6 bb09-a300-1											
Volumes Repli	cations										C ≁ Ξ	
Volumes									flexpod_data	×	Add New Volume	
0 of 22 Volumes 0 Byte Allo	cated 0 KB Total Use	d										

Step 9. Break the replication relationship and promote the CVO destination volume to production.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	KBs	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸			
Replic	ation										
		a 1		6	2.33 gib	₽,	0		1	⊗ 0	
		Volume Re	adonship		epiicateo Capacity		currently in	ansierring P	realthy	Falled	
		1 Volume Relationship		Br	eak Relationsh	ip					QC
		Health Status :	Source Volum	e Are	e you sure that you wa	ant to break the	relationship b	etween "flexpod_data" and		Last Successful Transfer	•
		Ø	flexpod_data bb09-a300-1	The	expod_data_copy_aws	-1			d	Dec 8, 2021, 11:32:11 AM 3.07 KiB	
							Break	Cancel			
							2024). -				

Step 10. Edit the volume and enable client access by associating it with an export policy.

	Cloud Ma	nager								Account v UCS_Solutions	Workspace ↓ CVO-DR	Connector ~ aws-connector	۵	¢	୭ (3
	Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restor	e K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+8) 🗸							
HA	FlexpodCVOHA (Single Availability Zone)															
Vol	umes HA S	itatus Cost	Replications									0) C	G	-h	Ξ
Protoc Access No a Cust 10 Advan	Edit volume 1 col: NFS control: access to the volu tom export policy 0.100.0.0/16 ced options	flexpod_data_c	©	Protection Snapshot Po none	licy: Uf	idate Ca	• ancel									

Step 11. Obtain the ready to use mount command for the volume.



Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense					
HA Flexpod	HA FlexpodCVOHA (Single Availability Zone)								
Volumes HA St	tatus Cost	Replications							
5 Mount Volum	e flexpod_data	_copy_aws							
Go to your Linux machine	and enter this mount	command							
mount 10.100.100.6	1:/flexpod_data_o	:opy_aws <d< th=""><th>Capy</th><th></th></d<>	Capy						

Step 12. Mount the volume to an EC2 instance, verify that the data is present in the destination volume and generate the SHA256 checksum of the sample_dataset_2GB file.



Step 13. Compare the checksum values at both source (FlexPod) and destination (CVO).

The checksums match as the source and destination.

🔍 🔍 👖 Nedgo Cloud Manager 🛛 x 🔒 Connect to Instance (EC2 Mair: X 🔒 1-67cd826ed79b19b4b (ews.) = X +	~
	0 x 🖌 🖈 🏝 i
ubuntu@ip-10-100-100-12:-/flexpod_data_aws\$ ls -la total 2435348 drwxr-xr-x 2 nobody 4294967294 4096 Dec 8 04:50 . drwxr-xr-x 5 ubuntu ubuntu 4096 Dec 8 06:13 . -rw-rr- 1 nobody 4294967294 2483996461 Mar 9 2021 sample_dataset_268.tgz ubuntu@ip-10-100-100-12:-/flexpod_data_aws\$ du -hs sample_dataset_266.tgz	
2.4G sample_dataset_26B.tgz ubuntu(ip-10-100-100-12:-/flexpod_data_aws\$ sha256sum sample_dataset_26B.tgz as52284ad16ccb59c95552e9590d4c017e05128800e236b250e79f18fdfc15_ssample_dataset_26B.tgz ubuntu(ip-10-100-100-12:-/flexpod_data_aws\$	CVO Checksum
prost@flexpod_workload flexpod_workload] # ls -la [root@flexpod-workload flexpod_workload] # ls -la total 2435352	
drwxr-xr-x. 2 root root 4096 Dec 7 23:50 . dr-xr-x 9 root root 4096 Dec 7 23:43 -rw-rr 1 root root 2483996461 Mar 9 2021 sample dataset_2GB.tgz drwxrwxrwx. 2 root root 4096 Dec 7 23:39 .snapshot	
<pre>[root@flexpod-workload flexpod workload]# sha256sum sample_dataset_2GB.tgz aa532384ad16ccb69c9b542e9390d4c0117e05128800e236b250e79f18fdfc15 sample_dataset_2GB.tgz [root@flexpod-workload flexpod_workload]#</pre>	FlexPod Checksum

You can infer that the data replication from the source to the destination has been completed successfully and the data integrity has been maintained. This data can now be safely consumed by the applications to continue to the serve the clients while the source site goes through a restoration.

Conclusion

In this solution, the NetApp Cloud Data service, Cloud Volumes ONTAP, and the FlexPod Datacenter infrastructure were implemented to build a disaster recovery solution with the public cloud powered by the Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator. The FlexPod datacenter solution has constantly evolved to equip its customers with the ability to continually modernize their applications and business delivery processes. With this solution, FlexPod you can build a BCDR plan with the public cloud as your go-to location for a transient or full-time DR plan while keeping the cost of the DR solution low.

The data replication between on-premises FlexPod and NetApp Cloud Volumes ONTAP was handled by the proven SnapMirror technology, but you can also select other NetApp data transfer/synchronization tools like Cloud Sync for their data mobility requirements. Security of the data inflight is ensured by leveraging the inbuilt encryption technologies based on TLS/ AES.

Whether a temporary DR plan for an application or a full-time DR plan for a business, the portfolio of products used in this solution can meet both requirements at scale. Powered by Cisco Intersight Workflow Orchestrator, the same can be automated with pre-built workflows that not just eliminate the need to rebuild processes but also accelerate the implementation of a BCDR plan.

The solution enables managing FlexPod Datacenter on-premises and data replication across hybrid cloud very easy and convenient with automation and orchestration capability using Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator.

Appendix

This solution emphasizes on the automated deployment of the CVO infrastructure and the configuration of the replication relationship between on-premises FlexPod and the public cloud. This section explains deploying CVO in all modes of operation; Single Node, HA in Single Availability Zone, and HA in Multiple Availability Zones using NetApp Cloud Manager. There are a few additional network settings that are required to deploy CVO across multiple Availability zones, which are explained in this section.

Before deploying CVO instance let's see how quickly we can add FlexPod storage to the working environment using NetApp Cloud Manager.

Procedure 1. Add FlexPod Storage to Cloud Manager

Step 1. From the Canvas page, click Add Working Environment then click On-Premises and type On-Premises ONTAP, then click Next.

Cloud Manager				Acc UCS	tount ✓ S_Solutions	Workspace 🗸	Connector 🗸	Д ©
Canvas Replie	ation Backup & Restore	K8s Data Sense	File Cache Compute	Sync A	All Services (+7) 🗸			
Add Working Envi	onment							
		Nicrosoft Azure	Amazon Web Services Googl Choose Type Choose Type On-Premises ONTAI	Cloud Platform	On Premises			
			Next					

Step 2. Enter the Cluster management IP address and credentials, then click Add.

Discover ONTAP Cluster	ONTAP Cluster Details
	Provide a few details about your ONTAP cluster so Cloud Manager can discover it.
	Cluster Management IP Address
	User Name admin
	Password
	Add

The On-Premises ONTAP cluster is discovered successfully.

Cloud Mar	nager							Account V UCS_Solutions	Workspace CVO-DR
Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸	
Canva	as								
C⊕ Add Wo	orking Environment								
									_
		00-Premises ONTAP			Amazon S3	,			
		Capacity			Buckets	Regions aws			
			O The O	n-Premises ONTAP	was discovered su	accessfully. Workin	ng Environ	ment name: bb09-a300-1	×
								-	+

Now the replication service on the On-Premises ONTAP cluster should be disabled; it will be enabled after the Cloud Volume ONTAP is deployed and a replication relationship is setup with SnapMirror.

bb09-a300-1 • On	(i) (i) (X)
DETAILS	
On-Premises ONTAP	
SERVICES	
Replication Off	Enable

Procedure 2. Deploy CVO Single Node

Note: Cloud Manager automatically allocates the required number of private IP addresses to Cloud Volumes ONTAP. You need to ensure that your networking has enough private IP addresses available.



Cloud Man	lager				Account ~
Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache
🙆 Canva	ĴS				
C⊕ Add Wo	rking Environment				
bb On 33. Cap	09-a300-1 I-Premises ONTAP .19 TiB pacity			Amazon S3 37 3 Buckets Regi	ons aws

Step 2. Click Amazon Web Services, click Cloud Volume ONTAP Single Node, then click Next.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) ~
Add Worki	ng Environme	nt						
				V E	•			
		Microsoft Azure	Amazon W	eb Services	Google Cloud Platform	On-	Premises	
				Choose 1	Гуре			
	0		6					xtx
	0		0		(Sale)			(98)
	Cloud Volumes	ONTAP Clou	d Volumes Ol	NTAP HA	Amazon FSx for O	NTAP	Kuber	netes Cluster
	Single Noc	Se	High Availabi	iity	High Availability			Aanaged
l	~							~
				Next	t			

Step 3. Enter the Cluster name and credentials, add tags if needed then click Continue.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	e K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸
Create a New	Working Enviro	nment		s and Crede	entials			
↑ Previous Step		Instance Profile Credential Name	8256 [.] Ассоц	17413560 unt ID	cisco.com-cle Marketplace	Edit Credentials		
		Details Working Environmen	t Name (Cluster	Name)		Credentials User Name		
		CVOSingle				admin		
		+ Add Tags	Optional Field	Up to four tags		Password		
						Confirm Password	d	
					Continue			

- **Step 4.** Keep the services enabled or disable the individual services that you don't want to use with Cloud Volumes ONTAP.
- **Step 5.** Enter the network information that you recorded in the Network information sheet for Connector and CVO and select the SSH Authentication Method of your choice.
- Note: If you need to use your own, refer to Security group rules.

Step 6. Click AWS Managed Encryption then click Continue.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸
Create a Nev	w Working Enviror	nment		Da	ta Encryptio	on		
↑ Previous S	Step	£	AWS M	anaged Encryptio	n			
		AW is h	5 is respon andled by	isible for data encry AWS key manageme	otion and decryption nt services.	on operations. Key	/ management	
		Def	ault Maste	er Key: aws/ebs			🖋 Change Key	<i>,</i>
					Continue			

Step 7. On the Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods and NSS Account, specify which charging option you would like to use with this system, and then specify a NetApp Support Site account, then click Continue.

Create a New Work	cloud Volumes ON	ITAP Charging Methods & NSS Account
↑ Previous Step	Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Learn more about our charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods	NetApp Support Site Account <i>(Optional)</i> Learn more about NetApp Support Site (NSS) accounts To register this Cloud Volumes ONTAP to support.you should add NetApp Support Site Account. Don't have a NetApp Support Site account?Select go to finish deploying this system.After its created.use the Support Registration option to create an NSS account.
	• Freemium (Up to 500GB)	Add Netapp Support Site Account
		Continue

Note: The subnet should have internet connectivity through NAT device or proxy server.

Step 8. On the Preconfigured Packages page, select one of the packages to quickly launch Cloud Volumes ONTAP or click Change Configuration to select your own configuration.



Step 9. On the Create Volume page, click Skip. You will create a volume at a later stage.

Step 10. Review the configuration and accept both options, then click Go.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Syno	c All Services (+7) 🗸		
Create a Nev	v Working Environm	ient		Review	& App	prove			
↑ Previous S	itep	CVOSingle NVS us-west-1 I understand that in order I understand that cloud M Overview Ne Storage System: License Type: Capacity Limit: Software Version: Cloud Volumes ONTAP runs on: Instance Tenancy:	to activate support. I m anager will allocate the tworking ! Cloud Volumes ONTA Cloud Volumes ONTA SoogB ONTAP-9.10.1RC1 mS.xlarge Shared	uust first register Cli appropriate AWS r Storage AP P Freemium	oud Volumes ONT	I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I	NetApp. More information > ny above requirements. More Encryption: Customer Master Key: Write Speed: Node Role: Account ID:	nformation > AW5 Managed aws/ebs Normal Cloud Manager to create 823617413560	Show API request
						Go			

The single node CVO deployment is initiated.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸		
Canva	as									🗄 Go to Tabular View
💮 Add Wo	rking Environment								Working	Environments
									0	1 Cloud Volumes ONTAP 0 II Provisioned Capacity
		1	bb09-a300-1 On-Premises O	NTAP					8	1 On-Fremises ONTAP 33.19 TIB Provisioned Capacity
			33.19 TiB Capacity						1	1 Amazon S3 O Buckets
							Amazon 53 37 Buckees	3 Regions aws		
			SNOLE CVOSIngle Cloud Volumes Initiatizing	RONTAP						

The CVO instance deployment progress can be tracked in the timeline from the All Services dropdown list.

Note: The single node CVO deployment could take about 25 minutes.

Procedure 3. Deploy CVO HA Pair Single AZ

Note: Cloud Manager automatically allocates the required number of private IP addresses to Cloud Volumes ONTAP. You need to ensure that your networking has enough private IP addresses available.

Cloud Manager Account VUCS_Solutions									
Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache				
 Canva 	3S								
C⊕ Add Wo	rking Environment								
bbi On 33. Cap	09-a300-1 I-Premises ONTAP .19 TiB pacity			Amazon S3 37 3 Buckets Regions	aws				

Step 1. On the Canvas page, click Add Working Environment.

Step 2. Click Amazon Web Services, click Cloud Volume ONTAP Single Node, then click Next.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸		
Add Workir	ig Environmen	t								
				Microsoft Azu	re Ama	aws zon Web Services	Google	Cloud Platform	On-Premises	
						Choo	se Type			
			0		(9		(FSXe)		*
			Cloud Volum	es ONTAP	Cloud Volun	nes ONTAP HA	Am	azon FSx for ONTAP	Kuber	netes Cluster
			Single N	lode	High A	vailability		High Availability	-	
				Q If you	want to discov	er an existing Cl o	oud Volum	es ONTAP HA in AWS,	, Click Here	
						N	lext			

Step 3. Enter the Cluster name and credentials, add tags if needed, then click Continue.

Create a New Working Environment		Details	and Credent	ials	
↑ Previous Step	Instance Profile Credential Name	825617413560 Account ID	cisco.com-cloud- Marketplace Subs	volumes-on scription	Edit Credentials
	Details		Cre	odentials	
	Working Environment	Name (Cluster Name)	Use	er Name	
	CVO_HA		a	dmin	
			Pas	sword	
	+ Add Tags	Optional Field Up to four tags			
	•	option and reading op to room toop		Firm Decovord	
			Continue		

Step 4. Keep the services enabled or disable the individual services that you don't want to use with Cloud Volumes ONTAP.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸				
Create a New	Working Environ	nment		Services								
↑ Previous SI	tep											
			(@	Data Sense & Compliance								
			G	Backup to Clou	bu				•			
			lılı) Monitoring					-			
						Co	ntinue					

Step 5. On the HA Deployment page click Single Availability Zone.



- **Step 6.** Enter the network information that you recorded in the Network information sheet for Connector and CVO.
- **Step 7.** Select the SSH Authentication Method of your choice for CVO HA and Mediator.
- Note: If you need to use your own, refer to Security group rules.
- Step 8. Click AWS Managed Encryption and click Continue.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) ~
Create a New	Working Environn	nent		Da	ta Encrypti	on		
↑ Previous S	tep	£	AWS M	anaged Encryptio	n			
		AV is l	/S is respon nandled by	isible for data encry AWS key manageme	tion and decryption to the services.	on operations. Key	management	
		De	fault Maste	r Key: aws/ebs			🖋 Change Key	
					Continue			

Step 9. On the Charging Methods and NSS Account, specify which charging option you would like to use with this system, specify a NetApp Support Site account, and then click Continue.

Create a New Worl	king Environment Cloud Volumes ON	AP Charging Methods & NSS Account
↑ Previous Step	Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Learn more about our charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes (Pay-As-You-Go by the hour) Image: Cloud Volume (Pay-As-You-Go by the hour)	NetApp Support Site Account <i>(Optional)</i> Learn more about NetApp Support Site (NSS) accounts To register this Cloud Volumes ONTAP to support,you should add NetApp Support Site Account. Don't have a NetApp Support Site account?Select go to finish deploying this system.After its created,use the Support Registration option to create an NSS account. Add Netapp Support Site Account
		Continue

Note: The subnet should have internet connectivity through NAT device or proxy server.

Step 10. On the Preconfigured Packages, select one of the packages to quickly launch Cloud Volumes ONTAP or click Change Configuration to select your own configuration.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) ~				
Create a Ne	w Working Environ	ment		Precor	figured Pac	kages						
↑ Previous :	Previous Step Select a preconfigured Cloud Volumes ONTAP system that best matches your needs, or create your own configuration. Preconfigured settings can be modified at a later time. Change Configuration											
F	OC and small workld	oads ge	Database and productio Up to 5000	application data n workloads 38 of storage		Cost effecti Up to 500GB o	ve DR f storage	Highest perfo w Up to 50	rmance production prkloads OGB of storage			
					Continue					0		

Step 11. On the Create Volume page, click Skip. You will create a volume at a later stage.

Step 12. Review the configuration and accept both options, then click Go.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸		
Create a Nev	v Working Environ	ment				Review	& Appr	ove		
↑ Previous S	itep	CVOSingle	n order to a Joud Mana	ictivate support, I m ger will allocate the	nust first register Ci appropriate AWS r	oud Volumes ON1 resources to comp	TAP with Ne	tApp. More information > above requirements. More	information >	Show API request
		Overview	Netwo	orking	Storage					
		Storage System:		Cloud Volumes ONTA	ιP		En	cryption:	AWS Managed	
		License Type:		Cloud Volumes ONTAP Freemium			Cu	stomer Master Key:	aws/ebs	
		Capacity Limit:		500GB			Wr	ite Speed:	Normal	
		Software Version:		ONTAP-9.10.1RC1			No	de Role:	Cloud Manager to create	
		Cloud Volumes ONTAP r	uns on:	m5.xlarge			Ac	count ID:	825617413560	
		Instance Tenancy:	:	Shared						
							Go			

The single node CVO deployment is initiated.

Canvas Replica	tion Backup & Restore	KBs Data Sense	File Cache	Compute Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸	
Canvas						🖽 Go to Tabular View
Add Working Envir	nment					Working Environments
		b69-a30-1 n-Prentiss CNTAP 3.19 Tra aparty		Amazon 37	3 2 Dettors and	Could Yournes ONTAP D a Provisioned Capacity Constrained Capacity Constrained Capacity Annazon S3 D Buckets
		SINGLE VOSINJE Notidu Volumes ONTAP Mutswoing	,			

The CVO instance deployment progress can be tracked in the timeline from the All Services dropdown list.

Note: The CVO deployment should take about 30 minutes.

Procedure 4. Deploy CVO HA Pair Multi-AZ

Note: Cloud Manager automatically allocates the required number of private IP addresses to Cloud Volumes ONTAP. You need to ensure that your networking has enough private IP addresses available.

Step 1. On the Canvas page, click Add Working Environment.

Cloud Man	Cloud Manager Account VCS_Solutions											
Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache							
 Canvas 												
C⊕ Add Working Environment												
bb(On 33. Cap	09-a300-1 Premises ONTAP .19 TiB bacity			Amazon 53 37 3 Buckets Regions	aws							

Step 2. Click Amazon Web Services, then click Cloud Volume ONTAP Single Node, and click Next.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸				
Add Worki	ng Environmen	t										
				Microsoft Azu	are Ama	aws zon Web Services	Google	Cloud Platform	On-Premises			
	Choose Type											
			(9								
			Cloud Volu	mes ONTAP	Cloud Volun High A	Cloud Volumes ONTAP HA High Availability		azon FSx for ONTAP High Availability	Kubernetes Cluster Managed			
						~						
				Q If you	u want to discov	er an existing C	loud Volum	es ONTAP HA in AWS,	Click Here			
							Next					

Step 3. Enter the Cluster name and credentials, add tags if needed, then click Continue.

Create a New Working Environment		Details and Credentials									
↑ Previous Step	Instance Profile Credential Name	825617413560 Account ID	cisco.com-cloud-volumes-on Marketplace Subscription	Edit Credentials							
	Details		Credentials								
	Working Environme CVO_HA_MAZ	nt Name (Cluster Name)	User Name admin								
			Password								
	+ Add Tags	Optional Field Up to four tags									
			Confirm Password								
			Continue								

Step 4. Keep the services enabled or disable the individual services that you don't want to use with Cloud Volumes ONTAP.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸			
Create a New	Working Environ	ment	Services								
↑ Previous St	ep			Data Sense & C Backup to Clou Monitoring	iompliance d						
						Cor	ntinue				

Step 5. On the HA Deployment page, click Multiple Availability Zone.

Create a New Working Environment	HA Deployment Models						
↑ Previous Step	Multiple Availability Zones	Single Availability Zone					
	 Provides maximum protection against AZ failures. Enables selection of 3 availability zones. 	 Protects against failures within a single AZ. Single availability zone. HA nodes are in a placement group, spread across distinct underlying hardware. 					
	An HA node serves data if its partner goes offline.	An HA node serves data if its partner goes offline.					
	Extended Info	Extended Info					

- **Step 6.** Enter the network information that you recorded in the Network information sheet for Multi AZ CVO HA Pair.
- **Step 7.** Select the SSH Authentication Method of your choice for CVO HA and Mediator.

Note: If you need to use your own, refer to Security group rules.

Step 8. Specify the floating IP addresses.

Create a New Working Environment	Floating IPs								
T Previous Step	Floating IP addresses are required for cluster and SVM access and for NFS and CIFS data access. These floating IPs can migrate between HA nodes if failures occur. To access the data from outside the VPC, you can set up an AWS transit gateway.								
	You must specify IP addresses that are outside of the CIDR blocks for all VPCs in the selected AWS region.								
	Floating IP address for cluster management								
	172.32.0.1								
	Floating IP address 1 for NFS and CIFS data								
	172.32.0.3								
	Floating IP address 2 for NFS and CIFS data								
	172.32.0.4								
	Floating IP address for SVM management (Optional)								
	172.32.0.2								
	Continue								

Note: You must specify the IP addresses that are outside of the CIDR blocks for all VPCs in the selected region and it should not overlap with on-prem subnets defined in Site-to-Site VPN static route.

Step 9. Select the route tables that should include routes to the floating IP addresses.Step 10. Click AWS Managed Encryption and then click Continue.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) 🗸			
Create a Nev	v Working Enviro	nment		Da	ta Encryptio	on					
↑ Previous S	štep	£	AWS M	anaged Encryptic	n						
		AW is h	AWS is responsible for data encryption and decryption operations. Key management is handled by AWS key management services.								
		Def	Default Master Key: aws/ebs Change Key								
					Continue						

Step 11. On the Charging Methods and NSS Account, specify which charging option you would like to use with this system, and specify a NetApp Support Site account, then click Continue.

Create a New Work	ing Environment Cloud Volumes ONTA	P Charging Methods & NSS Account
↑ Previous Step	Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Learn more about our charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods Image: Cloud Volumes ONTAP Charging Methods	NetApp Support Site Account <i>(Optional)</i> Learn more about NetApp Support Site (NSS) accounts To register this Cloud Volumes ONTAP to support,you should add NetApp Support Site Account. Don't have a NetApp Support Site account?Select go to finish deploying this system.After its created,use the Support Registration option to create an NSS account.
	• Freemium (Up to 500GB)	Add Netapp Support Site Account
		Continue

Note: The subnet should have internet connectivity through NAT device or proxy server.

Step 12. On the Preconfigured Packages, select one of the packages to quickly launch Cloud Volumes ONTAP or click Change Configuration to select your own configuration.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Sync	All Services (+7) ~				
Create a Nev	w Working Environ	ment		Precor	ifigured Pac	kages			×			
↑ Previous S	Previous Step Select a preconfigured Cloud Volumes ONTAP system that best matches your needs, or create your own configuration. Preconfigured settings can be modified at a later time. Change Configuration											
Ρ	OC and small workle Up to 500GB of stora	pads I ge	Database and productio Up to 500	d application data on workloads JGB of storage		Cost effecti Up to 500GB o	ve DR f storage	Highest performance production workloads Up to 500GB of storage				
					Continue				Q			

Step 13. On the Create Volume page, click Skip. You will create a volume at a later stage.Step 14. Review the configuration and check both options, then click Go.

Canvas	Replication	Backup & Restore	K8s	Data Sense	File Cache	Compute	Syr	nc	All Services (+7) 🗸		
Create a New	/ Working Environ	ment Review & Approve									
↑ Previous Step		CVOSingle Ave: us-west-1 I understand that in order to activate support. I must first register Cloud Volumes ONTAP with NetApp. More information > I understand that Cloud Manager will allocate the appropriate AWS resources to comply with my above requirements. More information >									Show API request
		Overview Storage System:	Netwo	Cloud Volumes ONTA	5torage			Encryp	tion:	AW5 Managed	
		License Type:	0	Cloud Volumes ONTA			Customer Master Key: aws/eb		aws/ebs		
		Capacity Limit:	5	500GB			Write S	Speed:	Normal		
		Software Version:	(ONTAP-9.10.1RC1			Node F	Role:	Cloud Manager to create		
		Cloud Volumes ONTAP run	s on: r	m5.xlarge				Accourt	nt ID:	825617413560	
		Instance Tenancy:	-	Shared							
							Go				

The multi-AZ HA pair CVO deployment is initiated.

CVO instance deployment progress can be tracked in the timeline from the All Services drop-down list.

Note: CVO deployment should take about 30 minutes.

Procedure 5. Additional network configuration for CVO HA Multi-AZ in AWS

Note: The floating IPs are not accessible from outside of the VPC and to make them accessible a <u>transit gateway</u> is required.

- Step 1. Login to AWS management console and go to VPC.
- **Step 2.** Under Transit Gateways, click Transit gateway and then create transit gateway.
- **Note:** Enter the name and description (optional), then provide the ASN number for the AWS side.
- **Step 3.** Leave the default checkbox selected and click Create transit gateway.
- **Step 4.** Click Transit Gateway Attachments, enter the name, select the transit gateway created in previous step and select the attachment type, which is VPC in this scenario.
- **Step 5.** Under VPC attachment, leave the checkbox selected and click the VPC which the CVO is deployed.
- Step 6. Click Create transit gateway attachment.
- **Step 7.** Create routes in the transit gateway's route table by specifying the HA pairs floating IP. Under Transit gateway route tables, go to Routes and click Create static route.
- **Step 8.** Enter all 4 floating IPs individually and select the transit gateway attachment.

References

This section provides links to additional information for each partner's solution component of this document.

Demo

Short demo of the solution is available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=45xKMkz5YJk

GitHub

All Terraform Configurations used are available at: <u>https://github.com/ucs-compute-</u> solutions/cvo_snapmirror

JSON files for importing workflows: <u>https://github.com/ucs-compute-</u> solutions/FlexPod_DR_Workflows

Cisco Intersight

Cisco Intersight Help Center: <u>https://intersight.com/help/saas/home</u>

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator Documentation: <u>https://intersight.com/help/saas/features/orchestration/configure#intersight_cloud_orchestrator</u>

Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform Documentation: <u>https://intersight.com/help/saas/features/terraform_cloud/admin</u>

Cisco Intersight Data Sheet: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/cloud-systems-management/intersight/intersight-ds.html</u>

Cisco Intersight Cloud Orchestrator Data Sheet: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/cloud-systems-management/intersight/nb-06-</u> <u>intersight-cloud-orch-aag-cte-en.html</u>

Cisco Intersight Service for HashiCorp Terraform Data Sheet: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/products/collateral/cloud-systems-management/intersight/nb-06-</u> <u>intersight-terraf-ser-aag-cte-en.html</u>

FlexPod

FlexPod Home Page: https://www.flexpod.com

Cisco Validated Design and deployment guides for FlexPod: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/solutions/design-zone/data-center-design-guides/flexpod-design-guides.html</u> Cisco Validated Design for FlexPod:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified computing/ucs/UCS CVDs/flexpod m6 esxi7u2 de sign.html

FlexPod Datacenter with Cisco UCS X-Series:

https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/UCS_CVDs/flexpod_xseries_esxi7u2_ _____design.html

FlexPod deployment with Infrastructure as code using Ansible: <u>https://www.cisco.com/c/en/us/td/docs/unified_computing/ucs/UCS_CVDs/flexpod_m6_esxi7u2.ht</u> <u>ml#AnsibleAutomationWorkflowandSolutionDeployment</u>

Interoperability

NetApp Interoperability Matrix Tool: <u>http://support.netapp.com/matrix/</u>

Cisco UCS Hardware and Software Interoperability Tool: <u>http://www.cisco.com/web/techdoc/ucs/interoperability/matrix/matrix.html</u>

VMware Compatibility Guide: http://www.vmware.com/resources/compatibility/search.php

NetApp Cloud Volume ONTAP Reference Documents

NetApp Cloud Manager: https://docs.netapp.com/us-en/occm/concept_overview.html

Cloud Volumes ONTAP: https://docs.netapp.com/us-en/occm/task_getting_started_aws.html

Cloud Volumes ONTAP TCO Calculator: https://cloud.netapp.com/aws-calculator

Cloud Volumes ONTAP Sizer: https://cloud.netapp.com/cvo-sizer

Cloud Assessment Tool: <u>https://cloud.netapp.com/assessments</u>

NetApp Hybrid Cloud: https://cloud.netapp.com/hybrid-cloud

Cloud Manager API documentation: <u>https://docs.netapp.com/us-</u> en/occm/reference infrastructure as code.html

Troubleshooting Issues: _ <u>https://kb.netapp.com/Advice and Troubleshooting/Cloud Services/Cloud Volumes ONTAP (CVO)</u>

Terraform

Terraform Cloud: https://www.terraform.io/cloud

Terraform Documentation: <u>https://www.terraform.io/docs/</u>
NetApp Cloud Manager Registry: <u>https://registry.terraform.io/providers/NetApp/netapp-cloudmanager/lates</u>

AWS

AWS Market Place: https://aws.amazon.com/marketplace

AWS Site-to-Site VPN Documentation: https://docs.aws.amazon.com/vpn/

AWS Direct connect Documentation: <u>https://docs.aws.amazon.com/directconnect/latest/UserGuide/direct-connect-gateways-intro.html</u>

AWS transit gateways Documentation: <u>https://docs.aws.amazon.com/vpc/latest/tgw/working-with-transit-gateways.html</u>

About the Authors

Paniraja Koppa, Technical Marketing Engineer, Cisco Systems, Inc.

Paniraja Koppa works in Cisco's Cloud and Compute Group with a primary focus on data center and cloud technologies. In his current role, he works on design and development, best practices, optimization, automation and technical content creation of compute and hybrid cloud solutions. Previously, he led QA efforts for four new virtual adapter cards for Cisco UCS. He also worked as a technical consulting engineer in the Data Center Virtualization space. Paniraja holds a master's degree in Computer Science. He has presented several papers at international conferences and as a speaker at events like Cisco Live US and Europe, Open Infrastructure Summit, and other partner events.

Arvind Ramakrishnan, Sr. Solutions Architect, Hybrid Cloud Infrastructures, NetApp Inc.

Arvind focusses on development, validation and implementation of Hybrid Cloud Infrastructure solutions that include NetApp products. He has more than 10 years of experience in the IT industry specializing in Data Management, Security, Cloud and Data Center technologies. Arvind holds a bachelor's degree in Electronics and Communication and a master's degree in Compute Systems and Infrastructure. He is a speaker at multiple international conferences and is recognized as a Distinguished Speaker at Cisco Live.

Abhinav Singh, Technical Marketing Engineer, Hybrid Cloud Infrastructures, NetApp Inc.

Abhinav has more than 11 years of experience in Data Center infrastructure solutions which includes On-prem and Hybrid cloud Infrastructure. He focuses on the designing, validating, developing, and implementing cloud infrastructure solutions that include NetApp products. Abhinav holds multiple certifications like CCNP Enterprise, Cisco Specialist - Data Center Core, VCP (DCV, NSX-T), NSX-V Implementation Expert. Abhinav holds a bachelor's degree in Electrical and Electronics.

Acknowledgements

For their support and contribution to the design, validation, and creation of this Cisco Validated Design, we would like to acknowledge the significant contribution and expertise that resulted in developing this document:

- Chris O'Brien, Director, UCS Solutions, Cloud and Compute Group, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- John George, Technical Marketing Engineer, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Haseeb Niazi, Principal Technical Marketing Engineer, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Dileep Banavasae, Software Engineer, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Subbu Chandrasekaran, Principal Engineer, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Shruthi Ravindranath, Technical Leader, Cisco Systems, Inc.
- Laurent Nicolas, Principal Engineer, NetApp, Inc.
- Bobby Oommen, Senior Manager, FlexPod Solutions, NetApp Inc.

- Eran Darzi, Director Software Engineer, CVO, NetApp, Inc
- Arun Garg, Director Product Management, FlexPod
- Carol Chan, FlexPod Product Management, NetApp

Feedback

For comments and suggestions about this guide and related guides, join the discussion on <u>Cisco</u><u>Community</u> at <u>https://cs.co/en-cvds</u>.

Americas Headquarters Cisco Systems, Inc. San Jose, CA Asia Pacific Headquarters Cisco Systems (USA) Pte. Ltd. Singapore Europe Headquarters Cisco Systems International BV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Cisco has more than 200 offices worldwide. Addresses, phone numbers, and fax numbers are listed on the Cisco Website at https://www.cisco.com/go/offices.

Cisco and the Cisco logo are trademarks or registered trademarks of Cisco and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and other countries. To view a list of Cisco trademarks, go to this URL: https://www.cisco.com/go/trademarks. Third-party trademarks mentioned are the property of their respective owners. The use of the word partner does not imply a partnership relationship between Cisco and any other company. (1110R)